

Notice of June 11, 2020 Annual Meeting and 2020 Proxy Statement



100 Benefitfocus Way Charleston, South Carolina 29492

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD JUNE 11, 2020

To the Stockholders of Benefitfocus, Inc.:

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Benefitfocus, Inc. will be held on June 11, 2020, at our principal executive offices located at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492, at 9:00 AM EDT. The meeting is called for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect the two Class I directors named in the Proxy Statement for a three-year term expiring in 2023 or until their successors have been elected and qualified;
- 2. To approve an amendment to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan to reserve an additional 1,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance thereunder;
- 3. To hold an advisory (nonbinding) vote on named executive officer compensation;
- 4. To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2020; and
- 5. To consider and take action upon such other matters as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

These matters are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

If you were a stockholder of record of Benefitfocus common stock as of the close of business on April 13, 2020, you are entitled to receive this Notice and vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders and any adjournments or postponements thereof, provided that the board of directors may fix a new record date for an adjourned meeting. Our stock transfer books will not be closed. A list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting may be examined at our principal executive offices in Charleston, South Carolina during ordinary business hours for the 10-day period preceding the meeting for any purposes related to the meeting.

We are furnishing these proxy materials (including an electronic Proxy Card for the meeting) and our 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders (including our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K) to stockholders via the Internet. On or about April 29, 2020, we mailed to our stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access our Proxy Statement and 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders and how to vote.

You are cordially invited to attend the meeting. Whether or not you expect to attend, the board of directors respectfully requests that you vote your stock in the manner described in the Proxy Statement. You may revoke your proxy in the manner described in the Proxy Statement at any time before it has been voted at the meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors of Benefitfocus, Inc.,

/s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Mason R. Holland, Jr. Executive Chairman of the Board

Charleston, South Carolina Dated: April 29, 2020

BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders To Be Held June 11, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Information Concerning Solicitation and Voting	i
Questions and Answers About the 2020 Annual Meeting	1
Proposal One - Election of Directors	4
Corporate Governance Matters	7
Proposal Two - Approval of an Amendment to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012	
Stock Plan	13
Proposal Three - Advisory (Nonbinding) Vote on Named Executive Officer Compensation	22
Proposal Four - Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	23
Audit Committee Report	24
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	26
Executive Compensation	28
CEO Pay Ratio	62
Director Compensation	63
Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions	64
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	69
Stockholder Proposals	70
Householding Matters	70
Annual Report on Form 10-K	70
Other MattersOther Matters	71
Directions to the Annual Meeting	72
Annex A: Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended	A-1
Annex B: Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Measures	B-1

BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD JUNE 11, 2020

Information Concerning Solicitation and Voting

This Proxy Statement is furnished to the holders of our common stock in connection with the solicitation of proxies on behalf of the board of directors for use at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 11, 2020, 2020 at 9:00 AM EDT at our principal executive offices located at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492, or for use at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purposes set forth herein and in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 13, 2020 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting.

In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, instead of mailing a printed copy of our proxy materials to each stockholder of record, we are furnishing proxy materials, including the Notice, this Proxy Statement, our 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders, including financial statements, and a Proxy Card for the meeting, by providing access to them on the Internet to save printing costs and benefit the environment. These materials were first available on the Internet on April 29, 2020. We mailed a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials on or about April 29, 2020 to our stockholders of record and beneficial owners as of April 13, 2020, the record date for the meeting. This Proxy Statement and the Notice of Internet Availability contain instructions for accessing and reviewing our proxy materials on the Internet and for voting by proxy over the Internet. You will need to obtain your own Internet access if you choose to access the proxy materials and/or vote over the Internet. If you prefer to receive printed copies of our proxy materials, the Notice of Internet Availability contains instructions on how to request the materials by mail. You will not receive printed copies of the proxy materials unless you request them. If you elect to receive the materials by mail, you may also vote by proxy on the Proxy Card or Voter Instruction Card that you will receive in response to your request.

Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote for each share held as of the record date with respect to all matters that may be considered at the meeting. Stockholder votes will be tabulated by persons appointed by the board of directors to act as inspectors of election for the meeting.

We bear the expense of soliciting proxies. Our directors, officers, or employees may also solicit proxies personally or by telephone, telegram, facsimile, or other means of communication. We do not intend to pay additional compensation for doing so. In addition, we might reimburse banks, brokerage firms, and other custodians, nominees, and fiduciaries representing beneficial owners of our common stock, for their expenses in forwarding soliciting materials to those beneficial owners.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE 2020 ANNUAL MEETING

Q: Who may vote at the meeting?

A: The board of directors set April 13, 2020 as the record date for the meeting. If you owned shares of our common stock at the close of business on April 13, 2020, you may attend and vote at the meeting. Each stockholder is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters to be voted on. As of April 13, 2020, there were 32,023,026 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting.

Q: What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

A: If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc., you are considered, with respect to those shares, a stockholder of record. As a stockholder of record, you have the right to vote in person at the meeting. You will need to present a form of personal photo identification in order to be admitted to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by another nominee or trustee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name. In that case, the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy materials have been forwarded to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record who is considered, with respect to those shares, the stockholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank or other holder of record on how to vote your shares by using the voting instructions included in the Notice of Internet Availability or proxy materials.

Q: What is the quorum requirement for the meeting?

- **A:** A majority of our outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote, represented in person or by proxy, as of the record date must be present at the meeting in order for us to hold the meeting and conduct business. This is called a quorum. Your shares will be counted as present at the meeting if you:
 - Are present and entitled to vote in person at the meeting;
 - Properly submitted a Proxy Card or Voter Instruction Card; or
 - Do not provide your broker with instructions on how to vote, but the broker submits the proxy nonetheless (a broker non-vote).

Broker non-votes are counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists. Broker non-votes occur when a person holding shares in street name, such as through a brokerage firm, does not provide instructions as to how to vote those shares, but the broker submits that person's proxy nonetheless. If you are present in person or by proxy at the meeting but withhold your vote or abstain from voting on any or all proposals, your shares are still counted as present and entitled to vote.

The proposals listed in this Proxy Statement identify the votes needed to approve the proposed actions.

Q: What proposals will be voted on at the meeting?

- **A:** The meeting is called to vote on the following proposals:
 - 1. To elect the two Class I directors named in the Proxy Statement for a three-year term expiring in 2023 or until their successors have been elected and qualified;
 - 2. To approve an amendment to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan to reserve an additional 1,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance thereunder;
 - 3. To hold an advisory (nonbinding) vote on named executive officer compensation;

4. To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company for the year ending December 31, 2020.

We will also consider any other business that properly comes before the meeting. As of the record date, we are not aware of any other matters to be submitted for consideration at the meeting. If any other matters are properly brought before the meeting, the proxy named in the Proxy Card or Voter Instruction Card will vote the shares it represents using its best judgment.

Q: Can I access these proxy materials on the Internet?

A: Yes. The Notice of Annual Meeting, Proxy Statement, and 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders (including the 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K), are available for viewing, printing, and downloading at www.proxyvote.com. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 is also available under the Company—Investors—Finances—Annual Meeting Materials section of our website at www.benefitfocus.com and through the SEC's EDGAR system at https://www.sec.gov. All materials will remain posted on www.proxyvote.com at least until the conclusion of the meeting.

Q: How may I vote my shares in person at the meeting?

A: If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc., you are considered, with respect to those shares, the stockholder of record. As the stockholder of record, you have the right to vote in person at the meeting. You will need to present a form of personal photo identification in order to be admitted to the meeting. If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by another nominee or trustee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name. As the beneficial owner, you are also invited to attend the meeting. Because a beneficial owner is not the stockholder of record, you may not vote these shares in person at the meeting unless you obtain a "legal proxy" from the broker, nominee, or trustee that holds your shares, giving you the right to vote the shares at the meeting.

Q: How can I vote my shares without attending the meeting?

- **A:** If your common stock is held by a broker, bank, or other nominee, they should send you instructions that you must follow in order to have your shares voted. If you hold shares in your own name, you may vote by proxy in any one of the following ways:
 - Via the Internet by accessing the proxy materials on the secured website www.proxyvote.com and following the voting instructions on that website;
 - Via telephone by calling toll free 1-800-690-6903 and following the recorded instructions; or
 - By requesting that printed copies of the proxy materials be mailed to you pursuant to the instructions provided in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials and completing, dating, signing and returning the Proxy Card that you receive in response to your request.

The Internet and telephone voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders' identities by use of a control number to allow stockholders to vote their shares and to confirm that stockholders' instructions have been properly recorded. Voting via the Internet or telephone must be completed by 11:59 PM EDT on June 10, 2020. Of course, you can always come to the meeting and vote your shares in person. If you submit or return a Proxy Card without giving specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as recommended by the board of directors, as permitted by law.

Q: How can I change my vote after submitting it?

- **A:** If you are a stockholder of record, you can revoke your proxy before your shares are voted at the meeting by:
 - Filing a written notice of revocation bearing a later date than the proxy with our Corporate Secretary at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492 at or before the taking of the vote at the meeting;
 - Duly executing a later-dated proxy relating to the same shares and delivering it to our Corporate Secretary at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492 at or before the taking of the vote at the meeting;
 - Attending the meeting and voting in person (although attendance at the meeting will not in and of itself constitute a revocation of a proxy); or
 - If you voted by telephone or via the Internet, voting again by the same means prior to 11:59 PM EDT on June 10, 2020 (your latest telephone or Internet vote, as applicable, will be counted and all earlier votes will be disregarded).

If you are a beneficial owner of shares, you may submit new voting instructions by contacting your bank, broker, or other holder of record. You may also vote in person at the meeting if you obtain a legal proxy from them as described in the answer to a previous question.

Q: Where can I find the voting results of the meeting?

A: We plan to announce the preliminary voting results at the meeting. We will publish the results in a Form 8-K filed with the SEC within four business days of the meeting.

Q: For how long can I access the proxy materials on the Internet?

A: The Notice of Annual Meeting, Proxy Statement, 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders, and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 are also available, free of charge, in PDF and HTML format under the *Company—Investors—Finances—Annual Meeting Materials* section of our website at *www.benefitfocus.com* and will remain posted on this website at least until the conclusion of the meeting.

PROPOSAL ONE

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Nominees

The board of directors currently consists of six members and is divided into three classes, the members of which each serve for a staggered three-year term or until a successor has been elected and qualified. The term of office of one class of directors expires each year in rotation so that one class is elected at each annual meeting for a full three-year term. Our Class I directors, Raymond A. August and A. Lanham Napier, have been nominated to fill a three-year term expiring in 2023. The two other classes of directors, who were elected or appointed for terms expiring at the annual meetings in 2021 and 2022, respectively, will remain in office.

If you are a stockholder of record, unless you mark your proxy card to withhold authority to vote, the proxy holder will vote the proxies received by it for the two Class I nominees named below, each of whom is currently a director and each of whom has consented to be named in this Proxy Statement and to serve if elected. In the event that any nominee is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the meeting, your proxy will be voted for any nominee designated by the board of directors to fill the vacancy. We do not expect that either of the two nominees will be unable or will decline to serve as a director. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and you do not provide your broker with voting instructions, your broker may <u>not</u> vote your shares on the election of directors. Therefore, it is important that you vote.

The name of and certain information regarding each Class I nominee as of April 13, 2020 is set forth below, together with information regarding our directors remaining in office. This information is based on data furnished to us by the nominees and directors. There is no family relationship between any director, executive officer or person nominated to become a director or executive officer. The business address for each nominee for matters regarding our Company is 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492.

Class I Director Nominees with Terms Expiring in 2020

Name	Age	Position(s) with Benefitfocus	Director Since
Raymond A. August A. Lanham Napier	58 49	President, Chief Executive Officer, Director Director	April 2018 September 2014
1	Class II Dir	rector with Terms Expiring in 2021	1
Name	Age	Position(s) with Benefitfocus	Director Since
Mason R. Holland, Jr.	55	Executive Chairman, Director	June 2000
	Class III Dir	rectors with Terms Expiring in 2022	
Name	Age	Position(s) with Benefitfocus	Director Since
Douglas A. Dennerline	61	Director	August 2014
Francis J. Pelzer V	49	Director	May 2013
Ana M. White	47	Director	January 2019

Class I Director Nominees

Raymond A. August—President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Ray August has been our President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2018 and a director since April 2018. Prior to that, Mr. August served as our Chief Operating Officer since August 2014 and was promoted to the title of President and Chief Operating Officer in March 2015. Prior to joining Benefitfocus, Mr. August served as the General Manager of the Financial Services Group of Computer Sciences Corp. (now DXC

Technology Co. (NYSE: DXC)), or CSC, since October 2012. From March 2008 to September 2012, he served as President of CSC Financial Services Group. Since July 2013, he has served as a member of the Executive Advisory council for Arthur Ventures Private Equity Fund. Mr. August earned a B.S. in Accounting and Management Science from the University of South Carolina.

We believe Mr. August's extensive experience in prior leadership positions with our Company and other technology companies, and as our Chief Executive Officer, bring to the board of directors critical skills that qualify him to serve as one of our directors.

A. Lanham Napier—Director

Lanham Napier has served as a member of the board of directors since September 2014. He serves on the audit and nominating and governance committees and is the chair of the nominating and governance committee. Mr. Napier is a Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer of BuildGroup Management LLC. BuildGroup Management LLC is a privately held company based in Austin, Texas, that operates and invests in emerging software companies in select technology categories. Mr. Napier was formerly the Chief Executive Officer of Rackspace Hosting, Inc. (NYSE: RAX), which was acquired by Apollo Global Management LLC. At various times during his 14 years at Rackspace, he also served in other capacities at the company, including as its President, Chief Financial Officer, and member of its board of directors. Prior to that, Mr. Napier was an analyst of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. Mr. Napier serves on the board of directors of Transtelco Inc. and CSDC Systems Inc. Mr. Napier holds an M.B.A. from Harvard University and a B.A. in Economics from Rice University.

We believe Mr. Napier's experience as chief executive officer of a public company, familiarity with the software industry and his experience as a director of a software company brings to the board of directors critical skills related to strategic planning and corporate governance and qualifies him to serve on the board.

Other Directors Not Up for Re-election at this Meeting

Mason R. Holland, Jr.—Executive Chairman, Director

Mason Holland, one of our founders, has been our Executive Chairman and a member of the board of directors since our founding in June 2000. Mr. Holland is responsible for the coordination of strategic partnerships with industry leaders and client relations. Mr. Holland founded American Pensions, Inc. in 1988, serving as its Chairman and President from 1988 to 2003. Mr. Holland also has established and operated a number of other business entities throughout his 30 plus year career, including a real estate development firm established in 1989 and still operational and a jet aircraft manufacturer for which he served as lead investor, chief executive officer and board chairman from 2009 to 2014. Mr. Holland serves as a director of AmplifiedAG, Inc., Lowcountry South Carolina Chapter of the American Red Cross, South Carolina Aquarium and the Charleston Galliard Center. Mr. Holland attended Old Dominion University in Norfolk, Virginia.

We believe Mr. Holland brings to the board of directors valuable perspective and experience as our Executive Chairman, one of our founders and as a large stockholder, as well as knowledge of the benefits industry and experience managing and directing companies through various stages of development, all of which qualify him to serve as one of our directors.

Douglas A. Dennerline—Director

Doug Dennerline has served as a member of the board of directors since August 2014. He serves on the compensation and nominating and governance committees. He is currently Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of BetterWorks Systems, Inc. From January 2013 to March 2018, he was Chief Executive Officer and on the board of directors of Alfresco Software, Inc. and was previously President and a director of SuccessFactors, Inc. Prior to joining SuccessFactors, Mr. Dennerline was Executive Vice President of Sales, Americas and EMEA for Salesforce.com, Inc. (NYSE: CRM). He is currently serving on the board of VBrick Systems, Inc. and previously served on the board of SugarCRM Inc. Mr. Dennerline holds a B.S. in Business Administration from Arizona State University.

We believe Mr. Dennerline's experience as chief executive officer of a software company and familiarity with the software industry brings to the board of directors important skills. In addition, his experience as a director of a software and technology company brings to the board critical skills related to financial oversight of complex organizations, strategic planning and corporate governance. All of this qualifies him to serve as one of our directors.

Francis J. Pelzer V—Director

Frank Pelzer has served as a member of the board of directors since May 2013. He serves on the audit and compensation committees and is the chair of the audit committee. He is currently Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of F5 Networks (NASDAQ: FFIV). Until May 2018, Mr. Pelzer served as President and Chief Operating Officer of the SAP SE's Cloud Business Group, and he was the Chief Financial Officer prior to that, starting in January 2015. From May 2010 to January 2015, Mr. Pelzer served as the Chief Financial Officer of Concur Technologies, Inc. (acquired by SAP SE), a provider of web-based and mobile, integrated travel and expense management solutions. From 2004 to May 2010, Mr. Pelzer served as a Director and Vice President in the Software Investment Banking group at Deutsche Bank AG (NYSE: DB). Prior to that, Mr. Pelzer was a Vice President with Credit Suisse First Boston and a management consultant with Kurt Salmon Associates, now a part of Accenture plc (NYSE: ACN). Mr. Pelzer serves on the board of directors of Modumetal, Inc. and Duck Creek Software. Mr. Pelzer graduated with an M.B.A. as an Edward Tuck Scholar with Distinction from the Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth and holds a B.A. from Dartmouth College.

We believe Mr. Pelzer's experience as a chief financial officer of a public company, familiarity with the software industry, accounting standards and public company disclosure requirements, and his ability to serve as our audit committee financial expert, bring to the board of directors important skills and qualify him to serve on the board.

Ana M. White—Director

Ana White has served on our board of directors since January 2019. She serves on the compensation and nominating and governance committees. Since January 2018, Ms. White has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer at global technology firm, F5 Networks (NASDAQ: FFIV). F5 delivers multi-cloud application services and enterprise-grade application security solutions for the world's largest organizations. Prior to that, Ms. White had a nearly 20-year career at Microsoft Corporation (NASDAQ: MSFT), where she most recently acted as General Manager, Human Resources for Microsoft's business development, finance, human resources and legal organizations with responsibility for their teams' HR strategy, talent management, diversity and inclusion, and organizational capabilities. Prior to Microsoft, Ms. White was a Compensation & Benefits Consultant at Willis Towers Watson. Ms. White serves on the taskforce for the Seattle University Center for Science and Innovation and the board of Childhaven. She holds a B.S. in mathematics from Seattle University.

We believe Ms. White's experience in the benefits and compensation management arena, with expertise spanning corporate and consulting environments, brings to the board of directors critical skills related to human resources and strategic business transformation and qualifies her to serve on the board.

Required Vote

Provided there is a quorum for the meeting, the director nominees receiving the highest number of affirmative votes of our common stock present or represented and entitled to be voted for them will be elected as directors. Votes withheld will have no legal effect on the election of directors. Under applicable NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, brokers are not permitted to vote shares held for a customer on "non-routine" matters without specific instructions from the customer. As such, broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of this Proposal One.

The board of directors unanimously recommends that stockholders vote FOR the two Class I director nominees listed above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

Information about the Board

The board of directors currently comprises six members, divided into three classes as follows: Class I, consisting of Messrs. August and Napier; Class II, consisting of Mr. Holland; and Class III, consisting of Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer and Ms. White. Upon the expiration of the term of office for each class of directors, each director in such class will be elected for a term of three years and will serve until a successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors or a vacancy may be filled by the directors then in office or the stockholders (as provided in our bylaws). Because only one-third of our directors will be elected at each annual meeting, two consecutive annual meetings of stockholders could be required for the stockholders to change a majority of the board.

As Executive Chairman, Mr. Holland has authority to, among other things, call and preside over meetings of the board of directors, set meeting agendas, and determine materials to be distributed to the board. Accordingly, Mr. Holland has substantial ability to shape the work of the board. Mr. Holland, as a co-founder of our Company, possesses detailed and in-depth knowledge of the issues, opportunities, and challenges facing our Company and our business, and is well positioned to develop agendas that ensure the board's time and attention are focused on critical matters.

We have historically separated the position of Executive Chairman and that of Chief Executive Officer, currently Mr. August. While the board of directors believes the separation of these positions has served our Company well, and intends to maintain this separation where appropriate and practicable, the board does not believe that it is appropriate to prohibit one person from serving as both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. We believe our leadership structure is appropriate given the size of our Company in terms of the number of employees and the historical experience and understanding of our Company and industry of each of Messrs. Holland and August.

Director Independence

The board of directors has established an audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and governance committee. Our audit committee consists of independent directors Messrs. Pelzer (Chair), Dennerline and Napier. Our compensation committee consists of independent directors Ms. White (Chair) and Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer. Our nominating and governance committee consists of independent directors Messrs. Napier (Chair) and Dennerline and Ms. White.

The board of directors has undertaken a review of the independence of our directors and has determined that Messrs. Dennerline, Napier and Pelzer and Ms. White are independent within the meaning of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. In addition, the board has determined that Messrs. Dennerline, Napier and Pelzer meet the additional test for independence for audit committee members and Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer and Ms. White meet the additional test for independence for compensation committee members imposed by SEC regulation and the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules.

Family Relationships

There is no family relationship between any director, executive officer or person nominated to become a director or executive officer of our Company.

Executive Sessions of Non-Employee Directors

In order to promote open discussion among non-employee directors, the board of directors has a policy of regularly conducting executive sessions of non-employee directors at scheduled meetings and at such other times requested by a non-employee director.

Selection of Nominees for the Board of Directors

The nominating and governance committee of the board of directors is responsible for establishing the criteria for recommending which directors should stand for re-election to the board and the selection of new directors to serve on the board. In addition, the committee is responsible for establishing the procedures for our stockholders to nominate candidates to the board. The committee has not formulated any specific minimum qualifications for director candidates, but has determined certain desirable characteristics, including strength of character, mature judgment, career specialization, relevant technical skills and independence. The Nominating and Governance Committee Charter calls for the committee to consider diversity to be an additional desirable characteristic in potential nominees.

Our bylaws permit any stockholder of record to nominate directors. Stockholders wishing to nominate a director must deliver written notice of the nomination either by personal delivery or by U.S. certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Corporate Secretary (i) with respect to an election to be held at an annual meeting of stockholders, not more than 90 and not less than 60 days before the meeting at which directors are to be elected, and (ii) with respect to an election to be held at a special meeting of stockholders called for the purpose of the election of directors, not later than the close of business on the tenth business day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders.

Any such notice must set forth the following: (A) the name and address, as they appear on our Company's books, of (i) the stockholder who intends to make the nomination and the name and residence address of the person or persons to be nominated, and (ii) any Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below); (B) (i) any material interest in the director nomination of such stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person, individually or in the aggregate, (ii) as to the stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person, their holdings of our stock and whether the stockholder has entered into transactions to manage risk with respect to such stock, (iii) as to the stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person, the name and address of such stockholder and Stockholder Associated Person, as they appear on our Company's stock ledger, and current name and address, if different, and (iv) to the extent known by the stockholder, the name and address of any other stockholder supporting the nominee for election as a director; (C) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of our Company entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons specified in the notice; (D) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person and each nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the stockholder; (E) such other information regarding each nominee proposed by such stockholder as would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors, or as would otherwise be required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, including any information that would be required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant to Regulation 14A had the nominee been nominated by the board of directors; and (F) the written consent of each nominee to be named in a proxy statement and to serve as director of our Company if so elected. Our bylaws define "Stockholder Associated Person" as (A) any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or acting in concert with, such stockholder, (B) any beneficial owner of our shares of stock owned of record or beneficially by such stockholder and (C) any person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Stockholder Associated Person.

Our nominating and governance committee will evaluate a nominee recommended by a stockholder in the same manner in which the committee evaluates nominees recommended by other persons as well as its own nominee recommendations.

Information Regarding Meetings of the Board and Committees

During 2019, the board of directors held eight meetings. During 2019, the board's three permanent committees, the audit committee, compensation committee and nominating and governance committee, collectively held 15 meetings.

All of our current directors attended at least 75% of the aggregate of all meetings of the board of directors and the committees on which he or she served during 2019. We do not have a formal written policy with respect to directors' attendance at our annual meetings of stockholders. Directors Holland and August attended the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Board Committees

Committees of the Board of Directors

In May 2013, our board of directors adopted written charters for each of its permanent committees, all of which are available under *Overview* in the *Company—Investors—Corporate Governance* section of our website at *www.benefitfocus.com*. The following table provides membership information of our directors on each committee of our board as of April 13, 2020.

	Audit Committee	Compensation Committee	Governance Committee
Douglas A. Dennerline ⁽¹⁾			Ė
A. Lanham Napier ⁽²⁾	ė		Ġ
Francis J. Pelzer V	Ġ	i	
Ana M. White ⁽³⁾		Ġ	i
G= Committee Chair = Member			

- (1) Mr. Dennerline was a member of our audit committee until March 2019 when Mr. Napier joined the audit committee. Mr. Dennerline then rejoined our audit committee in July 2019 when Mr. Swad resigned as a director to be our Chief Financial Officer.
- (2) Mr. Napier stepped down from our compensation committee in January 2019 when Ms. White joined. Mr. Napier joined our audit committee in March 2019 when Mr. Dennerline stepped down.
- (3) Ms. White joined our compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance committee in January 2019 when she joined our board of directors. She became chair of our compensation committee in July 2019 when Mr. Swad resigned as a director to be our Chief Financial Officer.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Messrs. Pelzer (Chair), Dennerline and Napier. Mr. Swad served on our audit committee until he resigned as a director in July 2019 to be our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Dennerline served on our audit committee until Mr. Napier joined the audit committee in March 2019 and then rejoined our audit committee again in July 2019 when Mr. Swad resigned as a director to be our Chief Financial Officer. Each of Messrs. Pelzer, Napier and Dennerline, as well as Mr. Swad during his service on the audit committee, satisfy the independence requirements of Rules 5605(a)(2) and 5605(c)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules and Section 10A(m)(13) of the Exchange Act. Our audit committee met eight times during our 2019 fiscal year. Our audit committee is responsible for, among other things:

- appointing, terminating, compensating, and overseeing the work of any accounting firm engaged to prepare or issue an audit report or other audit, review or attest services;
- reviewing and approving, in advance, all audit and non-audit services to be performed by the
 independent auditor, taking into consideration whether the independent auditor's provision of
 non-audit services to us is compatible with maintaining the independent auditor's independence;
- reviewing and discussing the adequacy and effectiveness of our accounting and financial reporting processes and controls and the audits of our financial statements;

- discussing policies and procedures concerning earnings press releases and review the type and
 presentation of information to be included in earnings press releases, as well as financial information
 and earnings guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies;
- establishing and overseeing procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received
 by us regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, including procedures for
 the confidential, anonymous submission by our employees regarding questionable accounting or
 auditing matters;
- investigating any matter brought to its attention within the scope of its duties and engaging independent counsel and other advisors as the audit committee deems necessary;
- determining compensation of the independent auditors and of advisors hired by the audit committee and ordinary administrative expenses;
- reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditor the annual and quarterly financial statements prior to their release;
- producing the audit committee report to be included in the Company's proxy statement;
- reviewing and recommending to the board the information in the annual and quarterly Management
 Discussion and Analysis section of the Company's Form 10-K or Form 10-Q, as applicable, prior to
 their release:
- monitoring and evaluating the independent auditor's qualifications, performance, and independence on an ongoing basis;
- reviewing reports to management prepared by the internal audit function, as well as management's response;
- reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the formal written charter on an annual basis;
- reviewing and approving related-party transactions for potential conflict of interest situations on an ongoing basis; and
- handling such other matters that are specifically delegated to our audit committee by the board from time to time.

The board of directors has affirmatively determined that Mr. Pelzer is designated as the "audit committee financial expert" and that he meets the definition of an "independent director" for purposes of serving on an audit committee under the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. The designation does not impose on Mr. Pelzer any duties, obligations or liabilities that are greater than those generally imposed on members of our audit committee and our board of directors.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Ms. White (Chair) and Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer. Mr. Swad served on our compensation committee until he resigned as a director in July 2019 to be our Chief Financial Officer. Each of Ms. White and Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer, as well as Mr. Swad during his service on the compensation committee, satisfy the independence requirements of Rules 5605(a)(2) and 5605(d)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. Our compensation committee met six times during our 2019 fiscal year. Our compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

- reviewing and approving the compensation, employment agreements and severance arrangements, and other benefits of all of our executive officers and key employees;
- reviewing and approving, on an annual basis, the corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of the executive officers, and evaluating their performance in light thereof;
- reviewing and making recommendations, on an annual basis, to the board with respect to director compensation;

- reviewing any analysis or report on executive compensation required to be included in the annual
 proxy statement and periodic reports pursuant to applicable federal securities rules and regulations,
 and recommending the inclusion of such analysis or report in our proxy statement and period reports;
- · reviewing and assessing, periodically, the adequacy of the formal written charter; and
- such other matters that are specifically delegated to our compensation committee by the board from time to time.

Pursuant to its written charter, our compensation committee has the authority to engage the services of outside advisors as it deems appropriate to assist it in the evaluation of the compensation of our directors, principal executive officer or other executive and non-executive officers, and in the fulfillment of its other duties. Additionally, our compensation committee has the authority to review and approve the compensation of our other officers and employees and may delegate its authority to review and approve the compensation of other non-executive officer employees to specified executive officers. Our compensation committee engaged Compensia, Inc., a national compensation consulting firm ("Compensia"), as its compensation consultant in 2019, as more fully described in "Executive Compensation—Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation-Setting Process—Role of Compensation Consultant".

Nominating and Governance Committee

Our nominating and governance committee consists of Messrs. Napier (Chair) and Dennerline and Ms. White. Mr. Swad served on our nominating and governance committee until he resigned as a director in July 2019 to be our Chief Financial Officer. Each of Messrs. Napier and Dennerline and Ms. White, as well as Mr. Swad during his service on the nominating and governance committee, satisfy the independence requirements of Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. Our nominating and governance committee met once during our 2019 fiscal year. It is responsible for, among other things:

- identifying and screening candidates for the board, and recommending nominees for election as directors;
- establishing procedures to exercise oversight of the evaluation of the board and management, including an annual self-assessment by all directors of the board and its standing committees;
- developing and recommending to the board a set of corporate governance guidelines, as well as reviewing these guidelines and recommending any changes to the board;
- reviewing the structure of the board's committees and recommending to the board for its approval directors to serve as members of each committee, and where appropriate, making recommendations regarding the removal of any member of any committee;
- developing and reviewing our code of conduct, evaluating management's communication of the importance of our code of conduct, and monitoring compliance with our code of conduct;
- · reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the formal written charter on an annual basis; and
- generally advising the board on corporate governance and related matters.

Risk Oversight

While our Company's senior management has responsibility for the management of risk, the board of directors plays an important role in overseeing this function. The board regularly reviews our market and business risks during its meetings and, since its formation, each of its committees began overseeing risks associated with its respective area of responsibility. In particular, our audit committee oversees risk related to our accounting, tax, financial and public disclosure processes. It also assesses risks associated with our financial assets. Our compensation committee oversees risks related to our compensation and benefit plans and policies to ensure sound pay practices that do not cause risks to arise that are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our Company. Our nominating and governance committee seeks to minimize risks related to our

governance structure by implementing sound corporate governance principles and practices. Each of our committees reports to the full board as appropriate on its efforts at risk oversight and on any matter that rises to the level of a material or enterprise level of risk.

Code of Conduct

We have adopted a code of ethics relating to the conduct of our business by all of our employees, officers, and directors, as well as a code of conduct specifically for our principal executive officer and senior financial officers. We have also adopted a corporate communications policy for our employees and directors establishing guidelines for the disclosure of information related to our Company to the investing public, market analysts, brokers, dealers, investment advisors, the media, and any persons who are not our employees or directors. Additionally, we have adopted an insider trading policy to establish guidelines for our employees, officers, directors, and consultants regarding transactions in our securities and the disclosure of material nonpublic information related to our Company. Each of these policies is posted under *Overview* in the *Company—Investors—Corporate Governance* section of our website at www.benefitfocus.com.

Communications with the Board of Directors

Stockholders who wish to communicate with members of the board of directors, including the independent directors individually or as a group, may send correspondence to them in care of our Corporate Secretary at our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492. Such communication will be forwarded to the intended recipient(s). We currently do not intend to have our Corporate Secretary screen this correspondence, but we may change this policy if directed by the board due to the nature or volume of the correspondence.

PROPOSAL TWO

APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE BENEFITFOCUS, INC. SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED 2012 STOCK PLAN

The Company is asking its stockholders to approve an amendment to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan (the "Second Restated Plan") to reserve an additional 1,500,000 shares of its common stock for issuance thereunder. As of April 13, 2020, of the 11,229,525 shares of the Company's common stock reserved for issuance under the Second Restated Plan, only 3,691,122 shares remained. The requested increase of 1,500,000 shares represents approximately 4.7% of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock as of April 13, 2020.

The decrease in our Company's stock price in the past year, including in the overall market decline in recent months caused by the economic impact and uncertainty from the coronavirus pandemic, has resulted in a higher than average burn rate of the increase of 1,985,000 shares reserved under the Second Restated Plan approved by our stockholders in May 2019. If the amendment to the Second Restated Plan is not approved, the board believes that the remaining shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the Second Restated Plan will be insufficient to accomplish its purposes.

The board of directors believes that long-term equity incentives made under the Company's equity plans are necessary for the Company to continue to attract and retain the highest caliber of employees, link incentive awards to Company performance, encourage employee ownership in the Company, and align the interests of employees and directors with those of the Company's stockholders. Increasing the share reserve in the Second Restated Plan will allow the Company to continue to provide a variety of equity awards as part of the Company's compensation program, an important tool for motivating, attracting and retaining talented employees and for creating stockholder value. It supports the Company's balanced approach to employee compensation, wherein the Company uses a mix of components, including equity awards, to facilitate management decisions that favor longer-term stability.

The following table sets forth certain information as of April 13, 2020 with respect to the Second Restated Plan:

Number of available shares in the Second Restated Plan	3	3,691,122 shares
Number of outstanding options under the Second Restated Plan		149,185 options
Number of outstanding RSUs and PRSUs under the Second Restated Plan		1,156,054 units
Number of outstanding SARs under the Second Restated Plan		None
Weighted average exercise price of only outstanding options in the Second Restated Plan	\$	11.58
Weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights in the Second		
Restated Plan	\$	1.32
Weighted average remaining term of outstanding options in the Second Restated Plan		2.7 years

In this Proposal Two, we are asking our stockholders to approve an amendment to the Second Restated Plan to reserve an additional 1,500,000 shares of our common stock for issuance thereunder. The full text of the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended, which the board of directors approved on April 13, 2020, is attached as <u>Annex A</u> to this Proxy Statement.

As of April 13, 2020, approximately 1,520 employees and four non-employee directors were eligible to participate in the Second Restated Plan. The closing price of the Company's common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on April 13, 2020 was \$10.33.

Required Vote

Provided there is a quorum for the meeting, approval of the amendment to the Second Restated Plan requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares represented at the meeting which are entitled to vote on

the proposal. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against this Proposal Two. Under applicable NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, brokers are not permitted to vote shares held for a customer on "non-routine" matters without specific instructions from the customer. As such, broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of this Proposal Two.

The board of directors unanimously recommends that stockholders vote FOR the amendment to the Second Restated Plan.

Summary of the Second Restated Plan, as amended

The following summary of the Second Restated Plan, as amended, describes some, but not all, of the essential provisions of the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Our board of directors adopted the Benefitfocus, Inc. 2012 Stock Plan on January 31, 2012 (the "2012 Plan") and our stockholders approved it on November 8, 2012. Our board and stockholders approved an amendment to the 2012 Plan on August 26 and September 13, 2013, respectively, and a second amendment thereto on April 7 and June 7, 2014, respectively. The Benefitfocus, Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan was approved by our board on March 23, 2017 and our stockholders approved it on June 2, 2017. The Second Restated Plan was approved by our board on April 12, 2019 and our stockholders approved it on May 31, 2019. Our board approved an amendment to the Second Restated Plan on April 13, 2020.

The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides for the grant of various stock rights to employees, consultants, and non-employee directors of our Company. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees of our Company, or our parent company (if any) and any of our subsidiaries, or related corporations. All other stock rights under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, may be granted to employees (including officers and employee directors), consultants and non-employee directors.

Share Reserve and Limitations. Provided that this Proposal Two is approved, the aggregate number of shares of our common stock that may be issued pursuant to the Second Restated Plan, as amended, is 12,729,525, less any shares issued or subject to outstanding options under the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plan") subject to adjustment as provided in the Second Restated Plan, as amended. The aggregate fair market value of common stock (determined as of the date of the option grant) for which incentive stock options may for the first time become exercisable by any individual in any calendar year may not exceed \$100,000. To the extent we are subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, no employee will be eligible to be granted stock rights under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, covering more than 1,000,000 shares of our common stock during any calendar year.

If any award granted under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, expires or terminates for any reason prior to its full exercise, or if we reacquire any shares issued pursuant to awards, then the shares subject to such award or any shares so reacquired by us will again be available for grants of awards under the Second Restated Plan, as amended. Shares of our common stock which are withheld to pay the exercise price of an award or any related withholding obligations will not be available for issuance under the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Administration. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides for administration by our board of directors or a committee of the board. The board may increase the size of the committee and appoint additional members, remove members of the committee and appoint new members, fill vacancies on the committee, or remove all members of the committee and directly administer the Second Restated Plan, as amended. Our compensation committee will administer the Second Restated Plan, as amended. Subject to the restrictions of the Second Restated Plan, as amended, the compensation committee will determine to whom we grant incentive awards under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, the terms of the award, including the exercise or purchase price, the number of shares subject to the award and the exercisability of the award. All questions of interpretation will be determined by the committee, and its decisions will be final and binding upon all participants, unless otherwise determined by the board.

Stock Bonuses and Purchase Rights. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides for shares of common stock to be awarded or sold under terms determined by the compensation committee to participants as an incentive for the performance of past or future services to us. Stock bonuses include PRSUs, which only vest upon attainment of performance goals established by the compensation committee for a specified performance period, restricted stock and RSUs, which generally vest equally over a period determined by the compensation committee, subject to the grantee's continued employment or service with us. We expect that all our RSUs will be settled in shares of our common stock.

Stock Options. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides for the grant of incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, solely to employees, and for the grant of non-statutory stock options to employees, consultants and non-employee directors.

The compensation committee determines the exercise price of options granted under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, on the date of grant, and the exercise price must be at least 100% of the fair market value per share at the time of grant; provided that the exercise price of any incentive stock option granted to an employee who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock must equal at least 110% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. To the extent that the aggregate fair market value of common stock (determined as of the date of the option grant) for which incentive stock options are for the first time exercisable by any individual in any calendar year exceeds \$100,000, such options will be treated as non-statutory options.

Options granted to employees, directors, and consultants under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, generally become exercisable in increments, based on the optionee's continued employment or service with us. The term of a stock option granted pursuant to the Second Restated Plan, as amended, may not exceed 10 years, except that incentive stock options granted to an employee who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock will not be exercisable for longer than five years after the date of grant.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides for the grant of SARs pursuant to an SAR agreement adopted by the compensation committee. An SAR may be granted in connection with a stock option or alone, without reference to any related stock option. The committee will determine the exercise price of an SAR on the date of grant, and the exercise price may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of grant.

The holder of an SAR will have the right to receive, in cash or common stock, all or a portion of the difference between the fair market value of a share of our common stock at the time of exercise of the SAR and the exercise price of the SAR established by the compensation committee, subject to such terms and conditions set forth in the SAR agreement.

Means of Exercising Stock Options. The exercise price of stock options is payable in cash or by check, or at the discretion of the compensation committee, as follows: (a) by delivery of the grantee's personal recourse note bearing interest payable not less than annually at a market rate that is no less than 100% of the lowest applicable Federal rate, as defined in Section 1274(d) of the Code, (b) through the surrender of shares of our common stock then issuable upon exercise of the award having a fair market value on the date of exercise equal to the aggregate exercise price of the award and/or any related withholding tax obligations, (c) through the delivery of already-owned shares of our common stock having a fair market value on the date of exercise equal to the aggregate exercise price of the award and/or any related withholding tax obligations, (d) delivery of a notice that the grantee has placed a market sell order with a broker with respect to shares of our common stock then issuable upon exercise of the award and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of the net proceeds of the sale to us in satisfaction of the award exercise price, provided that payment of such proceeds is then made to us upon settlement of the sale, or (e) by any combination of the foregoing, or such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of shares to the extent permitted by applicable law or the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Minimum Vesting Period. All equity awards will vest at least twelve months from the applicable date of grant such that no portion of any such equity award will vest or become exercisable prior the first anniversary of the date of grant of the equity award. Notwithstanding this minimum vesting requirement, the board and/or compensation committee retain discretionary authority to accelerate the vesting of equity awards under the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Dividends. No dividend or dividend equivalent will be paid on any unvested equity award, although the board or compensation committee may provide in an award agreement that dividends with respect to unvested portions of equity awards may accrue and be paid when and if the awards vest and shares are actually issued to the grantee.

Termination of Employment or Affiliation. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides that if a grantee's Continuous Service (as defined in the Second Restated Plan, as amended) ends for any other reason than by reason of death or disability, the grantee may (subject to the instrument granting such stock right) exercise any stock right held by him or her to the extent such stock right could have been exercised on the date of termination until the stock right's specified expiration date. In the event the grantee exercises any incentive stock option after the date that is three months following the date of termination, such incentive stock option will be converted into a non-statutory stock option.

Death or Disability. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides that if a grantee's Continuous Service ends by reason of death, or if a grantee dies within three months of the date his or her Continuous Service ends, then the grantee's estate, personal representative or beneficiary who acquired the stock right by will or by the laws of descent and distribution may exercise that stock right for shares of our common stock, to the extent the stock right could have been exercised on the date of the grantee's death. Unless otherwise specified in the instrument granting the stock right, the acquirer of the stock right may exercise the stock right within one year of the date of the grantee's termination or before the stock right's specified expiration date, whichever is earlier. In the event the acquirer of the stock right exercises any incentive stock option after the date that is one year following the date of termination, such incentive stock option will be converted into a non-statutory stock option.

The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides that if a grantee's Continuous Service ends by reason of disability, he or she will have the right to exercise any stock right held by him or her on the date of termination to the extent the stock right could have been exercised on the date of the grantee's termination. Unless otherwise provided by the instrument granting the stock right, the grantee may exercise such stock right within one year of the date of termination or before the stock right's specified expiration date, whichever is earlier.

Transferability. Except for transfers made by will or the laws of descent and distribution in the event of the holder's death, no stock right may be transferred, pledged or assigned by the holder of the stock right. During a grantee's lifetime, an incentive stock option may be exercised only by such grantee. Non-statutory stock options, SARs, or other awards may be transferred, pledged or assigned by the holder thereof to "family members" (as defined in the Second Restated Plan, as amended), or by will or the laws of descent and distribution in the event of the holder's death. We are not required to recognize any attempted assignment of such rights by any participant that is not in compliance with the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Changes in Capitalization. In the event of a change in the number of shares of our common stock through a combination or subdivision, or if we issue shares of common stock as a stock dividend, then the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, will be appropriately adjusted, the number of shares deliverable upon the exercise of outstanding stock rights will be increased or decreased proportionately, and appropriate adjustments will be made in the purchase price per share to reflect such subdivision, combination, or stock dividend.

Corporate Transactions. The Second Restated Plan, as amended, provides that in the event of our consolidation or merger with or into another corporation or a sale of all or substantially all of our assets, which we refer to as an "acquisition", whereby the acquiring entity or our successor does not agree to assume the

incentive awards or replace them with substantially equivalent incentive awards, all outstanding options, stock bonuses, SARs, or other stock rights will vest and will become immediately exercisable in full and, if not exercised on the date of the acquisition, will terminate on such date regardless of whether the participant to whom such stock rights have been granted remains in our employ or service or in the employ or service of any acquiring or successor entity. In the event of an acquisition in which the acquiring entity agrees to assume the incentive awards, and, 60 days prior to the acquisition or 180 days after the acquisition, the holder of an award is terminated as an employee or consultant other than for cause or the holder terminates his or her employment for good reason, then upon such termination any incentive award held by the holder will vest and will become immediately exercisable in full.

In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of our Company, each stock right will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of the proposed action, or at such other time and subject to such other conditions as determined by the compensation committee.

Termination or Amendment. Our board of directors may terminate, amend or modify the Second Restated Plan, as amended, at any time before its expiration, which is April 12, 2029. However, stockholder approval is required to increase the total number of shares that may be issued under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, change the provisions regarding the persons eligible to receive incentive stock options under the plan, change the provisions regarding the exercise price at which shares may be offered pursuant to incentive stock options under the Second Restated Plan, as amended, amend any outstanding award to reduce its exercise price per share or cancel and regrant an award with a lower exercise price per share than the original price per share of the cancelled award, and to extend the expiration date of the Second Restated Plan, as amended.

Appendix A. Appendix A of the Second Restated Plan, as amended, establishes procedures for our Company to grant restricted stock and RSUs. It requires the compensation committee to grant and administer awards of restricted stock and RSUs; except that awards granted pursuant to written binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017 and intended to qualify as "performance-based" compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act) will be administered by the restricted stock interests committee. The restricted stock interests committee is currently the compensation committee, which currently consists entirely of outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act). In any event, the restricted stock interests committee shall consist of at least two outside directors of the Company who are also members of the compensation committee.

Performance-based restricted stock and RSUs, in addition to meeting the regular requirements of the Second Restated Plan, as amended, for the grant of stock bonuses, including a maximum grant per employee of 1,000,000 shares of common stock per Performance Period (a period measured by the fiscal year or years), will be structured so that they will vest only upon attainment of performance goals established by the compensation committee for a specified Performance Period. The compensation committee will establish the performance goals within 90 days of the beginning of the applicable Performance Period. The performance goals will be based upon one or more objectively determinable business measures, which may be applied with respect to our Company, any business unit, or, if applicable, any covered employee, and may be measured on absolute terms or relative to a peer-group or other market measure basis.

The business measures that may be used to establish the performance goals are limited to one or more of the following:

- corporate operating profit;
- business unit operating profit;
- revenue;
- net revenue;
- · new business authorizations;

- backlog;
- customer cancellation rate;
- total shareholder return;
- stock price increase;
- · return on equity;
- · return on capital;
- · earnings per share;
- gross profit;
- adjusted gross profit (profit before depreciation and amortization expense, as well as stock-based compensation expense);
- EBIT, or earnings before interest and taxes;
- EBITDA, or earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization;
- adjusted EBITDA, or earnings before net interest and other expenses, taxes, and depreciation and amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation expense and expense related to the impairment of goodwill;
- ongoing earnings;
- cash flow (including operating cash flow, free cash flow, discounted cash flow return on investment, and cash flow in excess of costs of capital);
- EVA, or economic value added;
- economic profit, or net operating profit after tax, less a cost of capital charge;
- SVA, or shareholder value added;
- net income:
- net loss (maximum);
- · operating income;
- pre-tax profit margin;
- performance against business plan;
- customer service;
- corporate governance quotient or rating;
- market share;
- employee satisfaction;
- safety;
- · employee engagement;
- · supplier diversity;
- workforce diversity;
- · operating margins;
- credit rating;
- dividend payments;
- expenses;
- retained earnings;

- completion of acquisitions, divestitures and corporate restructurings;
- construction projects;
- · new technology, service or product development;
- environmental efforts; and
- individual goals based on objective business criteria underlying the goals listed above and which
 pertain to individual effort as to achievement of those goals or to one or more business criteria in the
 areas of litigation, human resources, information services, production, support services, facility
 development, government relations, market share or management.

Following the applicable Performance Period and after receiving the financial and other necessary data for the applicable Performance Period, the compensation committee will determine whether and to what extent the performance goals for the performance-based restricted stock or PRSU award have been met. If the performance goals are entirely or partially met, the compensation committee will determine, based entirely upon the objectively determined achievement of the performance goals, the number of performance-based shares of restricted stock or RSUs of the award that are vested. The compensation committee, in its sole discretion, may decrease, but may not increase, the number of shares of restricted stock and RSUs that are vested. In the case of RSUs, our Company will then issue the participant shares of our common stock equal to the number of vested PRSUs at the determination date. However, a condition for payment is that the participant be in the Continuous Service of our Company at the payment date, although that condition may be waived by the restricted stock interests committee in its discretion.

Summary of Federal Income Tax Consequences Relating to the Second Restated Plan, as amended

The following summary is intended only as a general guide to certain U.S. federal income tax consequences under current law of participation in the Second Restated Plan, as amended, and does not attempt to describe all possible federal, state, local, foreign or other tax consequences of such participation or tax consequences based on a participant's particular circumstances. Furthermore, the tax consequences are complex and subject to change, and a taxpayer's particular situation may be such that some variation of the described rules is applicable. Participants should, therefore, consult their own tax advisors with respect to such matters.

Stock Awards. A grantee of restricted stock generally will recognize ordinary income equal to the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the "determination date" and their purchase price, if any. If the participant is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. The determination date is the date on which the participant acquires the shares unless they are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture and are not transferable, in which case the determination date is the earlier of (i) the date on which the shares become transferable, or (ii) the date on which the shares are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. If the determination date will be after the date on which the participant acquires the shares, the grantee may elect, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Code, to have the date of acquisition be the determination date by filing an election with the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, no later than 30 days after the date the shares are acquired. Upon the taxable disposition of shares acquired pursuant to a restricted stock award, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the determination date, will generally be taxed as capital gain or loss; however, for any shares returned to the Company pursuant to a forfeiture provision, a grantee's loss may be computed based only on the purchase price (if any) of the shares and may not take into account any income recognized by reason of a Code Section 83(b) election. We generally will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, other limitations in the Code for deducting compensation, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to a corresponding income tax deduction in the year in which the ordinary income from restricted stock is recognized by the grantee.

Restricted Stock Units and Performance Restricted Stock Units. No taxable income is recognized upon receipt of RSUs or PRSUs. In general, the grantee will recognize ordinary income in the year in which the RSUs or PRSUs vest and the RSUs or PRSUs are settled in an amount equal to the fair market value of any shares of

our common stock received. If the grantee is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. We generally will be entitled (subject to the requirement of reasonableness, other limitations in the Code for deducting compensation, and the satisfaction of a tax reporting obligation) to a corresponding income tax deduction in the year in which the ordinary income from restricted stock is recognized by the grantee.

Incentive Stock Options. A grantee recognizes no taxable income for regular income tax purposes as a result of the grant or exercise of an incentive stock option qualifying under Section 422 of the Code. If a grantee holds stock acquired through exercise of an incentive stock option for more than two years from the date on which the option was granted and more than one year after the date the option was exercised for those shares, any gain or loss on a disposition of those shares (a "qualifying disposition") will be a long-term capital gain or loss. Upon such a qualifying disposition, we will not be entitled to any income tax deduction.

If a grantee disposes of shares within two years after the date of grant or within one year after the date of exercise (a "disqualifying disposition"), the difference between the fair market value of the shares on the option exercise date and the exercise price (not to exceed the gain realized on the sale if the disposition is a transaction with respect to which a loss, if sustained, would be recognized) will be taxed as ordinary income at the time of disposition. Any gain in excess of that amount will be a capital gain. If a loss is recognized, there will be no ordinary income, and such loss will be a capital loss. To the extent the grantee recognizes ordinary income by reason of a disqualifying disposition, generally we will be entitled to a corresponding income tax deduction in the tax year in which the disqualifying disposition occurs, except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code.

The difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date of an incentive stock option is treated as an adjustment in computing the grantee's alternative minimum taxable income for the year of exercise and may be subject to an alternative minimum tax which is paid if such tax exceeds the regular tax for the year. Special rules may apply with respect to certain subsequent sales of the shares in a disqualifying disposition, certain basis adjustments for purposes of computing the alternative minimum taxable income on a subsequent sale of the shares and certain tax credits which may arise with respect to participants subject to the alternative minimum tax.

Nonstatutory Stock Options. Options not designated or qualifying as incentive stock options will be nonstatutory stock options having no special tax status. A grantee generally recognizes no taxable income as the result of the grant of such an option unless the option (and not the underlying stock) has a readily ascertainable fair market value at such time or is issued with an exercise price less than the fair market value at the time of the grant. Upon exercise of a nonstatutory stock option, the grantee normally recognizes ordinary income in the amount of the difference between the option exercise price and the fair market value of the shares purchased. If the grantee is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. Generally, we will be entitled to an income tax deduction in the tax year in which such ordinary income is recognized by the participant, except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code.

Upon the disposition of stock acquired by the exercise of a nonstatutory stock option, any gain or loss, based on the difference between the sale price and the fair market value on the exercise date, will be taxed as capital gain or loss.

Stock Appreciation Rights. A grantee recognizes no taxable income upon the receipt of an SAR. Upon the exercise of an SAR, the grantee will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the exercise date over the exercise price. If the grantee is an employee, such ordinary income generally is subject to withholding of income and employment taxes. We generally will be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income recognized by the grantee in connection with the exercise of the SAR, except to the extent such deduction is limited by applicable provisions of the Code.

Potential Limitation on Deductions. Section 162(m) of the Code limits our ability to deduct certain compensation in excess of \$1 million paid to certain executive officers, referred to as "covered employees". Prior to the effectiveness of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the limitation on deductibility pursuant to Section 162(m) did not apply to compensation that qualified under applicable regulations as "performance-based compensation". Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m) was repealed, effective for tax years beginning on or after December 31, 2017. Accordingly, commencing with our fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, compensation to our covered employees in excess of \$1 million will generally not be deductible.

Notwithstanding this change in the law, awards granted to covered employees pursuant to written binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017 and which qualify as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act), are intended to continue to qualify for the performance-based compensation exemption under Section 162(m) so long as the awards are not materially modified on or after that date, thereby permitting us to claim the full federal tax deduction otherwise allowed for such compensation. Because of the technical nature of the application and interpretation of Section 162(m) and the regulations and guidance issued thereunder, there is no assurance that any compensation granted in the past that was intended to satisfy the requirements for deductibility under Section 162(m) will ultimately be deductible.

The foregoing is only a summary, based on the current Code and Treasury Regulations thereunder, of the U.S. federal income tax consequences to participants and our Company with respect to the grant and exercise of options and the grant or receipt of other awards under the Second Restated Plan, as amended. The summary does not purport to be complete, and it does not address the tax consequences of the participant's death, any tax laws of any municipality, state or foreign country in which a participant might reside, or any other laws other than U.S. federal income tax laws.

Equity Incentive Plans

The following table sets forth the indicated information as of December 31, 2019 and April 13, 2020 with respect to our equity compensation plans:

Our equity compensation plans consist of the Benefitfocus, Inc. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Second Restated Plan, and 2000 Plan, which were each approved by our stockholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans or arrangements that have not been approved by our stockholders.

	As of December 31, 2019			As of April 13, 2020		
Plan Category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Weighted- average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Weighted- average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans
Equity compensation plans						
approved by security holders						
2016 Employee Stock						
Purchase Plan	_		111,705	_		105,723
Second Amended and						
Restated 2012 Stock						
Plan	2,133,240	\$0.87	3,189,756	1,305,239	1.32	3,691,122
Amended and Restated 2000	2,133,210	φο.σ7	3,107,730	1,505,257	1.32	3,071,122
	12.762	Φ 5 20		20.170	<i>5</i> 20	
Stock Option Plan	43,762	<u>\$5.38</u>		30,178	5.38	
Total	2,177,002	\$0.96	3,301,461	1,335,417	1.42	3,796,845

PROPOSAL THREE

ADVISORY (NONBINDING) VOTE ON NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMPENSATION

Our board of directors recognizes the interest our stockholders have expressed in how we compensate our named executive officers. At the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, in accordance with our board's recommendation, our stockholders endorsed holding an annual, non-binding stockholder advisory ("Say-on-Pay") vote on the compensation of our named executive officers. As part of its commitment to our stockholders, our board is submitting a Say-on-Pay proposal for stockholder consideration again this year. The Say-on-Pay proposal is designed to give our stockholders the opportunity to endorse or not endorse our Company's executive compensation program through the following resolution:

"Resolved, that the stockholders approve, on an advisory (nonbinding) basis, the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the SEC (which disclosure includes the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Summary Compensation Table for fiscal year 2019, and other related tables and disclosures)".

When you cast your vote, we urge you to consider the description of our executive compensation program contained in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the accompanying tables and narrative disclosures.

Required Vote

Provided there is a quorum for the meeting, approval of the advisory (nonbinding) resolution on the compensation of our named executive officers requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares represented at the meeting which are entitled to vote on the proposal. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against this Proposal Three. Under applicable NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, brokers are not permitted to vote shares held for a customer on "non-routine" matters without specific instructions from the customer. As such, broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of this Proposal Three.

Because your vote is advisory, it will not be binding upon our board of directors, overrule any decision by our board, or create or imply any additional fiduciary duties on our board or any member of our board. However, our board and our compensation committee will take into account the outcome of the vote when considering future executive compensation arrangements.

The board of directors unanimously recommends that stockholders vote FOR Proposal Three on our named executive officer compensation as described in this Proxy Statement.

PROPOSAL FOUR

RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Our audit committee, pursuant to its charter, has appointed Ernst & Young LLP, or EY, as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm and as auditors of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2020.

While our audit committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation, retention, termination and oversight of the independent registered public accounting firm, our audit committee and our board of directors are requesting that our stockholders ratify the appointment of EY as our independent registered public accounting firm. Our audit committee is not required to take any action as a result of the outcome of the vote on this proposal. If the appointment of EY is not ratified by a majority of the votes represented at the meeting, our audit committee will consider the appointment of other independent registered public accounting firms for subsequent fiscal years. Even if the appointment is ratified, the audit committee may change the appointment at any time if it determines that the change would be in the best interests of the Company or our stockholders.

EY has audited our financial statements annually since 2008. A representative of EY is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and to respond to appropriate questions. EY has advised us that it does not have, and has not had, any direct or indirect financial interest in our Company or its subsidiaries that impairs its independence under SEC rules.

Required Vote

Provided there is a quorum for the meeting, ratification of the appointment of EY as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares represented at the meeting which are entitled to vote on the proposal. Abstentions will have the same effect as a vote against this Proposal Four. Since the ratification of the appointment of EY is considered a "routine" matter on which brokers may vote without specific instructions from the customer, no broker non-votes are expected in connection with this Proposal Four.

The board of directors unanimously recommends that stockholders vote FOR ratifying the appointment of EY as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Our audit committee has (1) reviewed and discussed with management the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, (2) discussed with EY, our independent registered public accounting firm, the matters required to be discussed by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") and the SEC, and (3) received the written disclosures and the letter from EY concerning applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding EY's communications with the audit committee concerning independence, and has discussed with EY its independence. Based upon these discussions and reviews, our audit committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, which is filed with the SEC.

Our audit committee is currently composed of the following three directors: Messrs. Pelzer (Chair), Dennerline and Napier. Mr. Swad served on our audit committee until July 2019 when he resigned as a director to be our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Dennerline served on our audit committee until Mr. Napier joined the audit committee in March 2019 and then rejoined our audit committee again in July 2019 when Mr. Swad resigned as a director to be our Chief Financial Officer. Each of Messrs. Pelzer, Dennerline and Napier, as well as Mr. Swad during his service on the audit committee, are independent directors as defined in Rules 5605(a)(2) and 5605(c)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules and Section 10A-3 of the Exchange Act. The board of directors has determined that Mr. Pelzer is an "audit committee financial expert" as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC. Our audit committee operates under a written charter adopted by the board, a copy of which is available under *Overview* in the *Company—Investors—Corporate Governance* section of our website at www.benefitfocus.com.

EY has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 2008 and audited our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2006 through December 31, 2019.

Summary of Fees

Our audit committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit and permitted non-audit services that may be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. Under this policy, each year, at the time it engages an independent registered public accounting firm, our audit committee pre-approves the engagement terms and fees and may also pre-approve detailed types of audit-related and permitted tax services, subject to certain dollar limits, to be performed during the year. All other permitted non-audit services are required to be pre-approved by our audit committee on an engagement-by-engagement basis.

The following table summarizes the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered to us by EY in 2018 and 2019. A description of these various fees and services follows the table.

	2018	2019
Audit Fees	\$3,323,426	\$2,020,145
Audit-Related Fees	_	_
Tax Fees	_	_
All Other Fees	95,306	_

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed to us by EY in connection with the annual audit of our financial statements, for the review of our financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Annual Report on Form 10-K and for other services normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings, were \$3,323,426 and \$2,020,145 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively. The decrease in audit fees in 2019 relates primarily to work performed in connection with the adoption of new revenue and lease standards in 2018 that did not recur in 2019.

Audit-Related Fees

No audit-related fees were billed to us by EY for the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2019.

Tax Fees

No tax fees were billed to us by EY for the years ended December 31, 2018 or 2019.

All Other Fees

The other fees billed to us by EY were for advisory services in connection with our convertible debt offering during the year ended December 31, 2018. No other fees were billed to us by EY for the year ended December 31, 2019.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Francis J. Pelzer V (Chair)
Douglas A. Dennerline (member of the audit committee until March 2019 and after July 2019 when he rejoined)
A. Lanham Napier
Stephen M. Swad (member of the audit committee until July 2019)

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 13, 2020 unless otherwise noted below for the following:

- each person or entity known to own beneficially more than 5% of our outstanding common stock as of the date indicated in the corresponding footnote;
- each of the named executive officers named in the Summary Compensation table;
- · each director; and
- all current directors and executive officers as a group.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 32,023,026 shares of our common stock outstanding as of April 13, 2020, unless otherwise noted below. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, based on factors including voting and investment power with respect to shares. Common stock subject to options currently exercisable, or exercisable within 60 days after April 13, 2020, and RSUs vesting within 60 days after April 13, 2020, are deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the person holding those securities, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each listed stockholder is c/o Benefitfocus, Inc., 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Shares Beneficially Owned	Percentage Beneficially Owned
Mason R. Holland, Jr. ⁽¹⁾	2,699,654	8.43%
Raymond A. August	350,339	1.09%
Francis J. Pelzer V ⁽²⁾	72,337	*
James P. Restivo	52,697	*
Stephen M. Swad ⁽³⁾	42,729	*
A. Lanham Napier ⁽⁴⁾	37,447	*
Douglas A. Dennerline ⁽⁴⁾	25,677	*
Jonathon E. Dussault	18,209	*
Lou Anne Gilmore	7,596	*
Ana M. White	3,177	*
All current directors and executive officers as a group (9 individuals)	3,330,139	10.37%
5% or Greater Stockholders:		
Blackrock, Inc. ⁽⁵⁾	4,348,600	13.58%
The Vanguard Group, Inc. (6)	2,481,087	7.75%
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. ⁽⁷⁾	2,448,210	7.65%
ArrowMark Colorado Holdings LLC ⁽⁸⁾	2,083,664	6.51%

^{*} Less than 1%.

- (1) Includes 2,649,099 shares held by the Holland Family Trust and five shares held by Mr. Holland as custodian for his minor son. Mr. Holland and his wife share voting and investment control over the shares held by the Holland Family Trust.
- (2) Includes 50,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable on or before 60 days after April 13, 2020 and 6,692 shares held upon the vesting of RSUs within 60 days after April 13, 2020.
- (3) Includes 33,340 shares held by the Stephen M. Swad Revocable Living Trust.
- (4) Includes 6,692 shares held upon the vesting of RSUs within 60 days after April 13, 2020.
- (5) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 4, 2020 by BlackRock, Inc. Includes 4,348,600 shares of common stock held by BlackRock, Inc. as a parent holding company. The address of BlackRock, Inc. is 55 East 52nd Street, New York, New York 10055.
- (6) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 12, 2020 by The Vanguard Group, Inc. Includes 2,481,087 shares of common stock held directly by The Vanguard Group, Inc. Vanguard Fiduciary

Trust Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the beneficial owner of 58,365 shares of our Company as a result of its serving as investment manager of collective trust accounts. Vanguard Investments Australia, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Vanguard Group, Inc., is the beneficial owner of 4,213 shares of our Company as a result of its serving as investment manager of Australian investment offerings. The address of The Vanguard Group, Inc. is 100 Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, Pennsylvania 19355.

- (7) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2020 by Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. ("Brown Brothers"). The address of Brown Brothers is 140 Broadway, New York, New York 10005.
- (8) Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2020 by ArrowMark Colorado Holdings, LLC ("ArrowMark"). The address of ArrowMark is 100 Fillmore Street, Suite 325, Denver, Colorado 80206.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following discussion and analysis of compensation arrangements of our named executive officers for 2019 should be read together with the compensation tables and related disclosures on our current plans, considerations, expectations and determinations regarding future compensation programs. Actual compensation programs that we may adopt in the future might differ materially from currently planned programs summarized in this discussion.

Compensation Committee Report

The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis contained in this Proxy Statement with management and, based on that review and discussion, the compensation committee recommended to the board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this Proxy Statement.

THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS Ana M. White, Chair Douglas A. Dennerline Francis J. Pelzer Stephen M. Swad (member of the compensation committee until July 2019)

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis describes the material elements of our executive compensation program during 2019. It also provides an overview of our executive compensation philosophy, including our principal compensation policies and practices. Finally, it analyzes how and why the compensation committee of our board of directors arrived at the specific compensation decisions for our named executive officers in 2019, and discusses the key factors that the compensation committee considered in determining named executive officer compensation.

"Named executive officers" is defined to include our principal executive officer, each individual who served as our principal financial officer at any time during 2019 and our two other most highly compensated executive officers. Our named executive officers for 2019 were:

- our principal executive officer, Raymond A. August, who serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer (our "CEO") and a member of the board of directors;
- our principal financial officer, Stephen M. Swad, who began service as our Chief Financial Officer (our "CFO") in July 2019;
- Mason R. Holland, Jr., who serves as Executive Chairman of our board of directors;
- James P. Restivo, our Chief Technology Officer (our "CTO");
- our former principal financial officer, Jonathon E. Dussault, who served as our Chief Financial Officer until May 2019 (our "former CFO"); and
- our former interim principal financial officer, Lou Anne Gilmore, who served as our interim Chief Financial Officer from June 2019 until July 2019 (our "former interim CFO").

Management Transitions During 2019

On April 25, 2019, Mr. Dussault announced his decision to resign as our Chief Financial Officer effective May 31, 2019. On April 29, 2019, Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of our interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019.

On July 10, 2019, Mr. Swad was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer beginning on July 22, 2019. Our interim Chief Financial Officer, Ms. Gilmore, continued as our principal financial and accounting officer for SEC filing purposes through mid-August, and worked with Mr. Swad on the transition of her responsibilities to him thereafter.

Executive Summary

Who We Are

We provide a leading cloud-based benefits management platform for buyers (consumers, employees and employers) and sellers (insurance brokers, carriers and suppliers). The Benefitfocus Platform simplifies how organizations and individuals transact benefits. Our employer, carrier, broker and supplier customers rely on our platform to manage, scale and exchange benefits data seamlessly. Our solutions drive value for all participants in our benefits ecosystem.

The Benefitfocus Platform has a multi-tenant architecture and has a user-friendly interface designed for consumers to access all of their benefits in one place. Our comprehensive solutions support medical benefit plans and non-medical benefits, such as, dental, life, disability insurance, income protection, digital health and financial wellness. Our platform includes artificial intelligence functionality designed to help consumers identify and evaluate benefit options available to them. As the number of employer benefits plans has increased, with each plan subject to many different business rules and requirements, demand for the Benefitfocus Platform is growing.

Brokers use our platform to manage employer portfolios. This includes delivering strategic insights that improve their employer clients' benefit experience and demonstrating greater value through access to a larger set of relevant products for employers, which should bring higher broker commissions and profits.

Employers use our solutions to streamline benefits processes and control costs, keep up with challenging and ever-changing regulatory requirements, and offer a greater variety of benefit options to attract, retain and motivate employees. The Benefitfocus Platform enables our employer customers to simplify the management of complex benefits processes, from sales and enrollment to implementation and ongoing administration. It provides their employees with an engaging, highly intuitive and personalized user interface for selecting and managing all of their benefits via mobile or desktop device.

Insurance carriers and suppliers use our solutions to more effectively market offerings to consumers, simplify billing, and improve the enrollment process. We also provide a network of approximately 2,200 benefit provider data exchange connections, which facilitates the otherwise highly fragmented interaction among employees, employers, brokers and carriers.

Since our initial public offering, we have described our target market as comprising two separate but related market segments – employers and insurance carriers. Within the employer market segment, we sell our technology solutions on an annually recurring or multi-year subscription basis to large employers, which we define as those with more than 1,000 employees. Similarly, in our other market segment, we sell our solutions on a subscription basis to insurance carriers, enabling us to expand our overall footprint in the benefits marketplace by aggregating many key constituents, including consumers, employers, and brokers. We believe our presence in both the employer and insurance carrier market segments gives us a strong position at the center of the benefits ecosystem.

In 2018, we expanded our economic model to include a transaction-oriented buyer solution, known as BenefitsPlace, designed to align brokers, carriers and suppliers around the needs of employers, employees and consumers. In this model, our seller partners offer their voluntary and specialty benefit products through a holistic, multidimensional marketplace. This marketplace is designed to increase the economic value of the consumer lives on our platform by aligning the product catalog to consumer needs. In exchange for Benefitfocus

delivering consumer access, data-driven analysis and operational efficiencies, seller partners pay us a percentage of the purchases completed on our platform. Carrier agreements have terms of two to four years and are typically cancellable upon breach of contract or insolvency. Supplier contracts have terms of one year or less and are generally cancellable upon breach of contract, failure to cure, bankruptcy and termination for convenience.

Our hybrid software-as-a-service, or SaaS, and repeatable transaction-based model provides us significant visibility into our future operating results, which enhances our ability to manage our business.

2019 Business Results

The year ended December 31, 2019 was successful for us, reflecting both improved execution and progress as we continued to grow our Company. We achieved several significant financial results, including:

Revenue

- total revenue was \$295.7 million, an increase of 14% compared to the full year 2018;
- software services revenue was \$228.7 million, an increase of 13% compared to the full year 2018. Software services is comprised of subscription and platform revenue;
 - subscription revenue was \$195.0 million, an increase of 9% compared to the full year 2018;
 - platform revenue was \$33.7 million, an increase of 47% compared to the full year 2018;
- professional services revenue was \$67.0 million, an increase of 19% compared to the full year 2018;

Net Loss

• GAAP net loss was (\$45.5) million, compared to (\$52.6) million in the full year 2018. GAAP net loss per share was (\$1.40), based on 32.5 million basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding, compared to (\$1.66) for the full year 2018, based on 31.8 million basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding;

Non-GAAP Net Loss and Adjusted EBITDA

- non-GAAP net loss was (\$22.3) million, compared to (\$18.3) in the full year 2018. Non-GAAP net loss per share was (\$0.69), based on 32.5 million basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding, compared to (\$0.57) for the full year 2018, based on 31.8 million basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding;
- adjusted EBITDA was \$19.0 million, compared to \$10.3 million in the full year 2018.

A reconciliation of the GAAP and non-GAAP information referenced above, including an explanation of how we calculate the non-GAAP financial measures and a reconciliation of them to the applicable GAAP financial measures, is set forth in Annex B to this Proxy Statement.

Executive Compensation Results

Based on our overall operating environment and financial results, the compensation committee took the following key actions with respect to the compensation of our named executive officers for 2019:

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements

During April 2019, in consideration of Mr. August's continued employment as our President and CEO, we entered into a second amendment to his existing employment agreement, which was originally dated November 20, 2017 and subsequently amended on January 1, 2018 (the "August Employment Agreement"). In connection with Mr. Swad's appointment as our CFO, we also entered into an employment agreement effective July 22, 2019 with Mr. Swad (the "Swad Employment Agreement").

The August Employment Agreement and Swad Employment Agreement were negotiated on our behalf by Mr. Holland, with input from the compensation committee, our external compensation consultant, Compensia, and our primary outside legal counsel, Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP. In establishing Messrs. August and Swad's compensation arrangements, we took into consideration the requisite experience and skills that a qualified candidate would need to manage a growing business in a dynamic and continually changing environment and the competitive market for similar positions at other comparable companies based on a review of relevant compensation data, balancing both competitive and internal equity considerations. For a summary of the material terms and conditions of the August Employment Agreement and Swad Employment Agreement, see "Employment Agreements" below.

Base Salaries

Approved annual base salaries for our named executive officers (other than Mr. August) in amounts ranging from \$325,779 to \$375,000, and approved an annual base salary for Mr. August in the amount of \$525,000.

Management Incentive Bonus Payments

Approved management incentive bonus payments of 32.7% of their target annual incentive bonus opportunities for each our named executive officers, including a management incentive bonus payment for Mr. August in the amount of \$172,540, of which \$93,015 was paid in cash and \$79,525 was paid in shares of our common stock.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

Granted long-term incentive compensation opportunities in the form of PRSUs that may be settled for shares of our common stock and time-based RSUs that may be settled for shares of our common stock to our named executive officers (other than Mr. August), in amounts ranging from an aggregate value of approximately \$328,832 to approximately \$757,142 at target (under FASB ASC Topic 718), as well as a PRSU award and a time-based RSU award for Mr. August with an aggregate value of approximately \$3,533,376 at target (under FASB ASC Topic 718). Such bonus payments were made under our performance-based Management Incentive Bonus Program.

Pay-for-Performance

We believe our executive compensation program is reasonable, competitive, and appropriately balances the goals of attracting, motivating, rewarding, and retaining our executive officers with the goal of aligning their interests with those of our stockholders. To ensure this alignment and motivate and reward individual initiative and effort, a substantial portion of our executive officers' target annual total direct compensation opportunity is both performance-based and "at-risk".

We emphasize performance-based compensation that appropriately rewards our named executive officers through two separate compensation elements:

- First, we provide the opportunity to participate in our Management Incentive Bonus Program which provides for payments in both cash and equity if they produce short-term financial, operational, and strategic results that meet or exceed the objectives set forth in our annual operating plan.
- Second, we grant PRSUs, which comprise at least two-thirds of each named executive officer's long-term incentive compensation award, with the shares of our common stock subject to such awards to be earned over a one-year performance period based on our actual results as measured against a pre-established target level for annual recurring revenue ("ARR") bookings growth for such period, and the earned shares, if any, vesting over a subsequent multi-year period. ARR is an indicator of long-term enterprise value creation from revenue that continues for multiple years.

These variable pay elements ensure that a substantial portion of our named executive officers' target total direct compensation is contingent (rather than fixed) in nature, with the amounts ultimately payable subject to variability above or below target levels commensurate with our actual performance.

We believe that this pay mix provides balanced incentives for our named executive officers to drive financial performance and long-term growth. To ensure that we remain faithful to our compensation philosophy, the compensation committee regularly evaluates the relationship between the reported values of the equity awards granted to our named executive officers, the amount of compensation realizable (and, ultimately, realized) from such awards in subsequent years, and our total stockholder return over this period.

Executive Compensation Policies and Practices

We endeavor to maintain sound governance standards consistent with our executive compensation policies and practices. The compensation committee regularly evaluates our executive compensation program to ensure that it is consistent with our short-term and long-term goals given the dynamic nature of our business and the market in which we compete for executive talent. The following summarizes our executive compensation and related policies and practices:

What We Do

- *Maintain an Independent Compensation Committee*. The compensation committee consists solely of independent directors who establish our compensation policies and practices.
- Retain an Independent Compensation Advisor. The compensation committee engaged its own compensation consultant in 2019 to provide information, analysis, and other advice on executive compensation independent of management. This consultant performed no other consulting or other services for us in 2019.
- Annual Executive Compensation Review. The compensation committee conducts an annual review
 and approval of our compensation strategy, including a review and determination of our compensation
 peer group used for comparative purposes and a review of our compensation-related risk profile to
 ensure that our compensation programs do not encourage excessive or inappropriate risk-taking and
 that the level of risk that they do encourage is not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect
 on us.
- Compensation At-Risk. Our executive compensation program is designed so that a significant portion of our named executive officers' compensation is "at risk" based on corporate performance, as well as equity-based, to help align the interests of our named executive officers and stockholders.
- Use a Pay-for-Performance Philosophy. The majority of our named executive officers' compensation is directly linked to corporate performance. We also structure their target total direct compensation opportunities with a significant long-term equity component, thereby making a substantial portion of each named executive officer's target total direct compensation dependent upon our stock price performance.
- "Double-Trigger" Change-in-Control Arrangements. All of our executive officers' postemployment compensation arrangements in the event of a change in control of the Company are "double-trigger" arrangements that require both a change in control of the Company plus a qualifying termination of employment before payments and benefits are paid. All such payments and benefits are also subject to the execution and delivery of an effective release of claims in favor of the Company.
- Stock Ownership Policy. We maintain a stock ownership policy for our CEO, CFO, and other
 executive officers who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the non-employee members
 of our board of directors.

What We Do Not Do

- No Guaranteed Bonuses. We do not provide guaranteed bonuses to our named executive officers.
- No Executive Retirement Plans. We do not currently offer, nor do we have plans to offer, defined benefit pension plans or any non-qualified deferred compensation plans or arrangements to our named executive officers other than the plans and arrangements that are available to all employees. Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in our Section 401(k) retirement savings plan on the same basis as our other employees.
- *No Tax Payments on Perquisites*. We do not provide any tax reimbursement payments (including "gross-ups") on any perquisites or other personal benefits.
- No Excise Tax Payments on Future Post-Employment Compensation Arrangements. We do not provide any excise tax reimbursement payments (including "gross-ups") on payments or benefits contingent upon a change in control of the Company.
- No Special Welfare or Health Benefits. We do not provide our named executive officers with any welfare or health benefit programs, other than participation in our broad-based employee programs.
- *No Stock Option Re-pricing*. We do not permit options to purchase shares of our common stock to be re-priced to a lower exercise price without the approval of our stockholders.

Stockholder Advisory Votes on Named Executive Officer Compensation

At our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we conducted our first "Say-on-Pay" vote. Approximately 98% of the shares represented and entitled to vote on the matter voted to approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers. Our board of directors and the compensation committee consider the result of the Say-on-Pay vote in determining the compensation of our executive officers, including our named executive officers. Based on the strong level of support for our executive compensation philosophy, program and practices demonstrated by the result of last year's Say-on-Pay vote, among other factors, our board and the compensation committee determined not to implement significant changes to our executive compensation program for 2019.

We value the opinions of our stockholders. Stockholder feedback, including through direct discussion and prior stockholder votes, is reported to our board of directors throughout the year. Our goal is to be responsive to our stockholders and ensure we understand and address their concerns and observations. Our board and the compensation committee will consider the outcome of this year's Say-on-Pay vote (see Proposal Three in this Proxy Statement), as well as feedback received throughout the year, when making compensation decisions for our named executive officers.

In addition, consistent with the recommendation of our board of directors and the preference of our stockholders as reflected in the non-binding stockholder advisory vote on the frequency of future Say-on-Pay votes held at our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we intend to hold future Say-on-Pay votes on an annual basis. Accordingly, following the Annual Meeting to which this Proxy Statement relates our next Say-on-Pay vote will be conducted at our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

Our executive compensation program is guided by our overarching philosophy of paying for demonstrable performance. Consistent with this philosophy, we have designed our executive compensation program to achieve the following primary objectives:

- provide market competitive compensation and benefit levels that will attract, motivate, reward, and retain a highly talented team of executives within the context of responsible cost management;
- establish a direct link between our financial, operational, and strategic objectives and results, as well as our values, and the compensation of our executives;

- align the interests and objectives of our executives with those of our stockholders by linking the longterm incentive compensation opportunities to stockholder value creation and their cash incentives to our annual performance;
- target performance metrics and milestones at the top quartile of the competitive market to help drive the creation of stockholder value; and
- offer total compensation opportunities to our executives that are competitive and fair.

Program Design

We structure the annual compensation of our named executive officers using three principal elements: base salary, annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-term incentive compensation opportunities in the form of equity awards. While the pay mix may vary from year to year, the ultimate goal is to achieve our compensation objectives as described above.

The key component of our executive compensation program has been long-term incentive compensation in the form of equity awards for shares of our common stock. We believe that these awards offer our named executive officers a valuable long-term incentive that aligns their interests with the long-term interests of our stockholders.

We also offer cash compensation in the form of base salaries that we believe, overall, are competitive within the market range for companies of similar size, stage of development, and growth potential. In addition, in designing annual incentive bonus opportunities, the compensation committee focuses on the achievement of the financial and strategic objectives that will further our longer-term growth goals in making its determinations.

The design of our executive compensation program is influenced by a variety of factors, with the primary goals being to align the interests of our named executive officers and stockholders and to link pay with performance. We evaluate performance over short-term (annual) and long-term periods based on our financial and operational performance, including results for certain key performance measures.

We have not adopted policies or employed guidelines for allocating compensation between current and long-term compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation, or among different forms of non-cash compensation.

Compensation-Setting Process

Role of Compensation Committee

The compensation committee discharges the responsibilities of our board of directors relating to the compensation of our executive officers, key employees, and the non-employee members of our board of directors. The compensation committee has overall responsibility for overseeing our compensation and benefits policies generally, and overseeing and evaluating the compensation plans, policies, and practices applicable our executive officers. In addition, the compensation committee makes all final decisions regarding the compensation of our CEO and other executive officers.

In carrying out its responsibilities, the compensation committee evaluates our compensation policies and practices with a focus on the degree to which these policies and practices reflect our executive compensation philosophy, develops strategies and makes decisions that it believes further our philosophy or align with developments in best compensation practices, and reviews the performance of our executive officers when making decisions with respect to their compensation.

The compensation committee's authority, duties, and responsibilities are further described in its charter, which is reviewed annually and revised and updated as warranted. The charter is available in the *Company—Investors—Corporate Governance* section of our website at *www.benefitfocus.com*.

The compensation committee retains a compensation consultant to provide support in its review and assessment of our executive compensation program.

Setting Target Total Direct Compensation

The compensation committee generally reviews the base salary levels, annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-term incentive compensation opportunities of our named executive officers and all related performance criteria at the beginning of the fall of each year, or more frequently as warranted. Formal compensation decisions are made after the beginning of the fiscal year, with adjustments generally effective at the beginning of the year.

The compensation committee does not establish a specific target for formulating the target total direct compensation opportunities of our named executive officers. In making decisions about the compensation of our named executive officers, the compensation committee relies primarily on their general experience of its members and subjective considerations of various factors, including the following:

- our executive compensation program objectives;
- our performance against the financial, operational, and strategic objectives established by the compensation committee and our board of directors;
- each individual named executive officer's knowledge, skills, experience, qualifications, and tenure relative to other similarly-situated executives at the companies in our compensation peer group;
- the scope of each named executive officer's role and responsibilities compared to other similarlysituated executives at the companies in our compensation peer group;
- the prior performance of each individual named executive officer, based on a subjective assessment of his or her contributions to our overall performance, ability to lead his or her business unit or function, and work as part of a team, all of which reflect our core values;
- the potential of each individual named executive officer to contribute to our long-term financial, operational, and strategic objectives;
- our CEO's compensation relative to that of our named executive officers, and compensation parity among our named executive officers;
- our financial performance relative to our compensation and performance peers;
- the compensation practices of our compensation peer group and the positioning of each named
 executive officer's compensation in a ranking of peer company compensation levels based on an
 analysis of competitive market data; and
- the recommendations of our CEO with respect to the compensation of our other named executive officers.

These factors provide the framework for compensation decision-making and final decisions regarding the compensation opportunity for each named executive officer. No single factor is determinative in setting compensation levels, nor is the impact of any individual factor on the determination of pay levels quantifiable.

The compensation committee does not engage in formal benchmarking against other companies' compensation programs or practices to establish our compensation levels or make specific compensation determinations with respect to our named executive officers. Instead, in making its determinations, the compensation committee reviews information summarizing the compensation paid at a representative group of peer companies, to the extent that the executive positions at these companies are considered comparable to our positions and informative of the competitive environment and more broad-based compensation surveys to gain a general understanding of market compensation levels. In addition, the compensation committee does not weight the foregoing factors in any predetermined manner, nor does it apply any formulas in making its compensation determinations. The members of the compensation committee consider all of this information in light of their

individual experience, knowledge of the Company, knowledge of the competitive market, knowledge of each named executive officer, and business judgment in making their determinations.

The compensation committee also considers the potential risks in our business when designing and administering our executive compensation program, and we believe our balanced approach to performance measurement and pay delivery works to avoid misaligned incentives for individuals to undertake excessive or inappropriate risk.

Role of Management

In discharging its responsibilities, the compensation committee works with members of our management, including our CEO. Our management assists the compensation committee by providing information on corporate and individual performance, competitive market data, and management's perspective and recommendations on compensation matters.

Typically, our CEO will make recommendations to the compensation committee regarding compensation matters, including adjustments to annual cash compensation, long-term incentive compensation opportunities, and program structures, for our named executive officers, except with respect to his own compensation. As the year draws to a close, our CEO reviews the performance of our other named executive officers based on such individual's level of success in accomplishing the business objectives established for him or her for the year and his or her overall performance during that year, and then shares these evaluations with, and makes recommendations to, the compensation committee for each element of compensation as described above. The annual business objectives for each named executive officer are developed through mutual discussion and agreement between our CEO and the named executive officers and are reviewed with our board of directors. The compensation committee reviews and discusses these recommendations and proposals with our CEO and uses them as one factor in determining and approving the compensation for our named executive officers.

Our CEO also attends meetings of our board of directors and the compensation committee at which executive compensation matters are addressed, except with respect to discussions involving his own compensation.

Role of Compensation Consultant

The compensation committee engages an external compensation consultant to assist it by providing information, analysis, and other advice relating to our executive compensation program and the decisions resulting from its annual executive compensation review. The compensation consultant reports directly to the compensation committee and its chair, and serves at the discretion of the compensation committee, which reviews the engagement annually.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the compensation committee retained Compensia to serve as its compensation advisor to advise on executive compensation matters, including competitive market pay practices for our named executive officers, and with the selection and data analysis of the compensation peer group.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Compensia attended the meetings of the compensation committee (both with and without management present) as requested and provided the following services:

- consulted with the compensation committee chair and other members between compensation committee meetings;
- provided competitive market data based on the compensation peer group for our executive officer
 positions and evaluated how the compensation we pay our executive officers compares both to our
 performance and to how the companies in our compensation peer group compensate their executives;
- reviewed and analyzed the base salary levels, annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-term incentive compensation opportunities of our executive officers;

- reviewed and assessed the compensation for our CEO;
- reviewed and analyzed the compensation proposals for other senior executive positions; and
- supported on other *ad hoc* matters throughout the year.

Compensia did not provide any services to us other than the consulting services to the compensation committee. The compensation committee regularly reviews the objectivity and independence of the advice provided by its compensation consultant on executive compensation matters. The compensation committee has evaluated Compensia's engagement, and based on the six factors for assessing independence and identifying potential conflicts of interest that are set forth in Exchange Act Rule 10C-1(b)(4), Rule 5605(d)(3)(D) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, and such other factors as were deemed relevant under the circumstances, has determined that its relationship with Compensia and the work of Compensia on behalf of the compensation committee did not raise any conflict of interest, and that Compensia is independent under the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules.

Competitive Positioning

For purposes of assessing our executive compensation against the competitive market, the compensation committee reviews and considers the compensation levels and practices of a select group of peer companies. This compensation peer group consists of technology companies that are similar to us in terms of revenue, market capitalization, geographical location, and industry sector.

The companies in the compensation peer group for 2019 were approved in August 2018 on the basis of their similarity to us in size at that time, as determined using the following criteria:

- revenue—approximately 0.5x to approximately 2.5x our last four fiscal quarter revenue of approximately \$252 million (approximately \$100 million to \$630 million);
- market capitalization—approximately 0.3x to approximately 3.0x our 30-day average market capitalization of approximately \$1.1 billion (approximately \$330 million to \$3.4 billion);
- industry sector—business to business software—SaaS/Internet services and HR and benefits product focus where possible; and
- location—headquartered in the United States.

In selecting the 2019 compensation peer group, the objective was to choose companies that resulted in us being near the median of the group in terms of both revenue and market capitalization. Our compensation peer group for 2019 was as follows:

AppFolio, Inc.

Carbonite, Inc.

Castlight Health, Inc.

Instructure, Inc.

LivePerson, Inc.

MINDBODY, Inc.

ChannelAdvisor Corporation NIC Inc.

Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc. Paylocity Holding Corporation

Evolent Health, Inc.

Five9, Inc.

HealthEquity, Inc.

HealthStream, Inc.

Inovalon Holdings, Inc.

Q2 Holdings, Inc.

SPS Commerce, Inc.

Upland Software, Inc.

WageWorks, Inc.

Workiva, Inc.

The compensation practices of the compensation peer group were the primary guide used by the compensation committee in 2019 to compare the competitiveness of each compensation element and overall compensation levels (base salary, target annual incentive bonus opportunities, and long-term incentive compensation).

To analyze the compensation practices of the companies in our compensation peer group, Compensia gathered data from public filings (primarily proxy statements) of the peer group companies, as well as from the Radford Global Technology Survey database. This market data was then used as a reference point for the compensation committee to assess our current compensation levels in the course of its deliberations on compensation forms and amounts.

The compensation committee reviews our compensation peer group each year (unless there have been significant changes to either our business model or market capitalization) and makes adjustments to its composition as warranted, taking into account changes in both our business and the businesses of the companies in the peer group.

Compensation Elements

In 2019, the principal elements of our executive compensation program, and the purposes for each element, were as follows:

Element	Type of Element	Compensation Element(s)	Objective
Base Salary	Fixed	• Cash	Designed to attract and retain highly talented executives by providing fixed compensation amounts that are competitive in the market and reward performance
Annual Incentive Bonuses	Variable	 Cash PRSU awards that may be earned and settled for shares of our common stock RSU awards that may vest and be settled for shares of our common stock 	Designed to motivate our executives to achieve annual business objectives contained in our annual operating plan and provide financial incentives when we meet or exceed these annual objectives
Long-Term Incentive Compensation	Variable	 PRSU awards that may be earned and settled for shares of our common stock RSU awards that may vest and be settled for shares of our common stock 	Designed to align the interests of our executives and our stockholders by motivating them to create sustainable long-term stockholder value

Base Salary

Base salary represents the fixed portion of our named executive officers' compensation, and is an important element of compensation intended to attract and retain highly talented individuals. Generally, we use base salary to provide each executive officer with a specified level of cash compensation during the year with the expectation that he or she will perform his or her responsibilities to the best of his or her ability and in our best interests.

Generally, we establish the initial base salaries of our named executive officers through arm's-length negotiation at the time we hire the individual, taking into account his or her position, qualifications, experience,

prior salary level, and the base salaries of our other executive officers. Thereafter, the compensation committee reviews the base salaries of our named executive officers each year as part of its annual compensation review, with input from our CEO (except with respect to his own base salary) and makes adjustments as it determines to be reasonable and necessary to reflect the scope of the named executive officer's performance, individual contributions and responsibilities, position in the case of a promotion, and market conditions.

At the end of 2018, the compensation committee reviewed the base salaries of our incumbent named executive officers, taking into consideration a competitive market analysis and the recommendations of our CEO, as well as the other factors described in "Compensation-Setting Process—Setting Target Total Direct Compensation" above. Following this review, in March 2019, the compensation committee approved base salary increases for our incumbent named executive officers, effective March 24, 2019, to bring base salaries to levels that were comparable to those of similarly-situated executives in the competitive market.

The base salaries of our incumbent named executive officers as approved in March 2019 were as follows:

Name	2018 Base Salary	2019 Base Salary	Percentage Adjustment
Raymond A. August	\$500,000	\$525,000	5.0%
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽¹⁾	\$350,000	\$360,500	3.0%
Mason R. Holland, Jr	\$310,266	\$325,799	5.0%
James P. Restivo	\$360,500	\$375,000	4.0%

⁽¹⁾ Mr. Dussault served as our Chief Financial Officer until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019, and his actual annual base salary for 2019 was prorated for this period of service. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019.

Ms. Gilmore did not receive an adjustment to her base salary when she assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019, a position which she held until July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as our Vice President of Corporate Development. In connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer in July 2019, Mr. Swad's annual base salary was set at \$425,000.

The base salaries paid to our named executive officers during 2019 are set forth in the "2019 Summary Compensation Table" below.

Annual Incentive Bonuses

We use an annual bonus plan to motivate the members of our management team, including our named executive officers, to achieve our key annual business objectives. In 2014, our stockholders approved the Benefitfocus, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Program (the "Management Incentive Bonus Program"), which is designed to provide a long-term framework for performance-based bonus plans going forward, continue to reward the members of our management team based on their responsibilities and for their contributions to the successful achievement of certain corporate goals and objectives, and to share the success and risks of our Company based upon the achievement of business goals.

For 2019, bonuses were to be earned pursuant to the Management Incentive Bonus Program (the "2019 Bonus Program") based on our revenue and adjusted EBITDA for the year as established under our 2019 annual operating plan. The 2019 Bonus Program is designed such that participants are to receive half of their target bonus payment in the form of a PRSU award and half, plus any amount earned in excess of target for overachievement, in cash. Any overachievement opportunity that is payable in cash is earned by meeting predefined metrics set forth in the 2019 Bonus Program.

Target Annual Incentive Bonus Opportunities

For purposes of the 2019 Bonus Program, bonus payments were based upon an eligible percentage of each participant's base salary. At the end of 2018, the compensation committee reviewed the target annual incentive bonus opportunities of our incumbent named executive officers, taking into consideration the recommendations of our CEO (except with respect to his own target annual incentive bonus opportunity) as well as the other factors described in "Compensation-Setting Process—Setting Target Total Direct Compensation" above. Following this review, in March 2019, the compensation committee decided to increase the target annual incentive bonus opportunity of Mr. Restivo to 75% of his annual base salary and to maintain the target annual incentive bonus opportunities of our other incumbent named executive officers at their 2018 levels.

The target annual incentive bonus opportunities for our incumbent named executive officers as approved in March 2019 were as follows:

Name	2019 Target Annual Incentive Bonus Opportunity (as a percentage of base salary)	2019 Target Annual Incentive Bonus Opportunity (cash portion)	2019 Target Annual Incentive Bonus Opportunity (PRSU portion)
Raymond A. August	100%	\$262,500	\$262,500
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽¹⁾	75%	\$135,188	\$135,188
Mason R. Holland, Jr	100%	\$162,890	\$162,890
James P. Restivo	75%	\$140,625	\$140,625

⁽¹⁾ Mr. Dussault served as our Chief Financial Officer until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019. Because he was not employed for the full year, he did not receive any cash payment under the 2019 Bonus Program and, as described below, forfeited his unvested PRSU award granted to him under the program.

Ms. Gilmore did not receive an adjustment to her target annual incentive bonus opportunity when she assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019, a position which she held until July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as our Vice President of Corporate Development.

In connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer in July 2019, Mr. Swad's target annual incentive bonus opportunity was set at 75% of his annual base salary.

Potential bonus payments for our named executive officers under the 2019 Bonus Program could range from zero to 150% of their target annual incentive bonus opportunity. Any amounts earned in excess of the target annual incentive bonus opportunity is payable in cash.

In April 2019, the compensation committee granted PRSU awards to our incumbent named executive officers for the portion of their target annual incentive bonus opportunities payable in the form of PRSUs, with the number of units subject to each award determined by dividing 50% of each named executive officer's target annual incentive bonus opportunity by the average closing price of our common stock for the 20 trading days preceding the date of grant. Using this formula, the maximum number of units subject to each PRSU award granted to our incumbent named executive officers was as follows:

Name	PRSU Award (#) ⁽¹⁾
Raymond A. August	5,605
Jonathan E. Dussault ⁽²⁾	2,886
Mason R. Holland, Jr	3,478
James P. Restivo	3,002

- (1) Each PRSU award represents a contingent right to receive one share of our common stock.
- (2) Mr. Dussault served as our Chief Financial Officer until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019. His unvested equity awards continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited, which included his April 2019 PRSU award.

Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development. Ms. Gilmore did not receive a PRSU Award for her service as interim CFO.

In connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer in July 2019, Mr. Swad's target annual incentive bonus opportunity was payable entirely in cash. Mr. Swad did not receive a PRSU award for his service as our Chief Financial Officer in 2019.

Corporate Performance Measures

For purposes of the 2019 Bonus Program, the compensation committee selected revenue (weighted 70%), and adjusted EBITDA (weighted 30%) as the corporate performance measures for the year. The compensation committee selected these performance measures based on its belief that they were the best indicators of our successful execution of our annual operating plan, and our ability to continue to grow while moving towards profitability. For purposes of the 2019 Bonus Program:

- revenue was to be calculated as reflected in our audited financial statements for 2019; and
- adjusted EBITDA was to be calculated as net income (or loss) before net interest, taxes, and
 depreciation and amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation expense,
 expense related to the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, transaction and acquisitionrelated costs expensed and costs not core to our business.

In March 2019, the compensation committee set the target and performance payout levels for each of the corporate performance measures for purposes of the 2019 Bonus Program. For 2019, the target performance level for revenue was \$313,400,000 and the target performance level for adjusted EBITDA was \$17,500,000. The threshold, target, and maximum performance and the payment levels for each corporate performance measure were as follows:

Revenue (Weighted 70%)	Achievement Percentage ⁽¹⁾	
\$329,070,000 (Maximum)	105%	150%
\$313,400,000 (Target)	100%	100%
\$297,730,000 (Threshold)	95%	50%
<\$297,730,000	<95%	0%

(1) In the event of actual performance between the threshold and target, and target and maximum, performance levels, the payout percentage was to be calculated between each designated segment on a linear basis.

Adjusted EBITDA (Weighted 30%)	Achievement Percentage ⁽¹⁾	
\$24,500,000 (Maximum)	140%	150%
\$17,500,000 (Target)	100%	100%
\$10,500,000 (Threshold)	60%	50%
<\$10,500,000	<60%	0%

(1) In the event of actual performance between the threshold and target, and target and maximum, performance levels, the payout percentage was to be calculated between each designated segment on a linear basis.

Thus, the threshold performance level for each corporate performance measure was the minimum performance level that had to be achieved before our named executive officers could earn any annual bonus payment with respect to that measure. If the threshold performance level was not achieved, then no award payment would be made under the 2019 Bonus Program with respect to that measure.

2019 Annual Incentive Bonus Decisions

In March 2020, the compensation committee determined that, for 2019, our revenue was \$295.7 million, and our adjusted EBITDA was \$18.7 million. From there, the compensation committee determined that we had achieved 94.35% of the target performance level for revenue and 106.86% of the target performance level for adjusted EBITDA, resulting in an aggregate weighted payment percentage of 32.7%, as set forth in the following table:

Corporate Performance Measure	Percentage of Measure Achieved	Payment Percentage ⁽¹⁾		Weighted Payment Percentage
Revenue	94.35%	0%	70%	0%
Adjusted EBITDA	106.86%	109%	30%	32.7%
Total				32.7%

⁽¹⁾ All overachievement was to be allocated entirely to the cash portion of the 2019 Bonus Program.

Based on these determinations, the compensation committee approved the following total annual incentive bonus payments for our named executive officers for 2019:

Name	Target Annual Incentive Bonus (\$)	Annual Incentive Bonus Payment (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Total Annual Incentive Bonus Payment (# of shares) ⁽²⁾
Raymond A. August	\$525,000	\$93,015	1,682
Stephen M. Swad ⁽³⁾	\$318,750	\$46,929	_
Mason R. Holland, Jr	\$325,779	\$57,719	1,043
James P. Restivo	\$281,250	\$49,829	901
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽⁴⁾	_	_	_

- (1) Includes all overachievement attributable to the revenue metric, which pursuant to the 2019 Bonus Program was required to be paid entirely in cash.
- (2) Represents the number of PRSUs earned, which is capped at the target level (with any overachievement to be paid entirely in cash).
- (3) Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, Mr. Swad's annual incentive bonus payment for 2019 was to be made entirely in cash and was pro-rated for his partial year of employment.
- (4) Mr. Dussault served as our Chief Financial Officer until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019. Because he was not employed for the full year, he did not receive any cash payment under the 2019 Bonus Program and, as described above, forfeited his unvested PRSU award granted to him under the program.

Other than the amounts described above, we did not pay our executive officers, including our named executive officers, any other annual bonuses or incentive amounts in 2019 under the 2019 Bonus Program.

The annual incentive bonus payments made to our named executive officers for 2019 are set forth in the "2019 Summary Compensation Table" below.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation

We view long-term incentive compensation in the form of equity awards as a critical element of our executive compensation program. The realized value of these equity awards bears a direct relationship to our stock price, and, therefore, these awards are an incentive for our named executive officers to create value for our stockholders. Equity awards also help us retain qualified executive officers in a competitive market.

Long-term incentive compensation opportunities in the form of equity awards are granted to our CEO and our other named executive officers by the compensation committee. The amount and forms of such equity awards are determined by the compensation committee after considering the factors described in "Compensation-Setting Process – Setting Target Total Direct Compensation" above. The amounts and relative weighting of the equity awards are also intended to provide competitively-sized awards and resulting target total direct compensation opportunities that the compensation committee believes are reasonable and appropriate taking into consideration the factors described in the preceding sentence.

At the end of 2018, the compensation committee determined that the equity awards to be granted to our named executive officers should be in the form of PRSU awards that may be earned and settled for shares of our

common stock and time-based RSU awards that may vest and be settled for shares of our common stock. Further, the compensation committee determined that the PRSU awards should comprise 67% of each named executive officer's equity award, while the RSU awards should comprise 33% of the award. The aggregate value and number of shares of our common stock subject to the PRSU and RSU awards granted to our incumbent named executive officers were determined by the compensation committee after considering the factors described in "Compensation-Setting Process - Setting Target Total Direct Compensation" above.

Our CEO received the largest equity award based on his overall responsibility for our performance and success. In addition, the Compensation Committee sought to incent Mr. August to build on the financial results that we had achieved in 2018, as evidenced by our strong revenue growth, by providing him a significant performance-based equity opportunity that would only be earned if we were able to continue to capitalize through 2019 on the new strategy that he had implemented. With respect to the equity awards granted to our other named executive officers, further differentiation in the size of their awards was based on the compensation committee's review of the competitive market data for their respective positions and the size of the equity awards previously granted to them.

The equity awards granted to our incumbent named executive officers in April 2019, which, in the case of the PRSU awards, represented the maximum number of units eligible to be earned based on maximum performance, were as follows:

Name	Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award (maximum#)	Restricted Stock Unit Award (#)	Aggregate Grant Date Fair Value (\$)
Raymond A. August	74,733	24,911	\$4,711,168
Jonathan E. Dussault ⁽¹⁾	14,240	4,746	\$ 897,658
Mason R. Holland, Jr	6,956	2,318	\$ 438,475
James P. Restivo	16,014	5,338	\$1,009,523

⁽¹⁾ Mr. Dussault served as our CFO until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019. His unvested equity awards continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited, which included his long-term PRSU award and time-based RSU award granted in April 2019.

Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development. Ms. Gilmore did not receive a long-term PRSU award or a time-based RSU award for her service as interim CFO.

PRSU Awards

The PRSU awards were to be earned to the extent that we achieved pre-established target levels for net annual recurring revenue ("ARR") bookings growth for the performance period beginning on January 1, 2019 and ending on December 31, 2019. ARR is an indicator of long-term enterprise value creation from revenue that continues for multiple years. Each unit granted pursuant to the PRSU awards represented a contingent right to receive one share of our common stock for each unit earned for the performance period.

For purposes of the PRSU awards, ARR bookings growth means the percentage increase of net ARR bookings for 2019 over net ARR bookings for 2018. Net ARR bookings means the sum of (a) ARR bookings from the Employer Direct business, (b) ARR bookings from channel sales, (c) BenefitsPlace Transactions bookings including Benefitstore commissions, and (d) ARR bookings from the Carrier business, all in compliance with our booking policy; less ARR attrition, meaning the value (measured on an ARR basis) of ARR lost at the time at which a customer contractually terminates their relationship with us or terminates (including non-renewal) a product that generates ARR.

The number of units (and, correspondingly, the number of shares) that could be earned under the PRSU awards was to vary from 0% to 150% of the target number of units granted, with the earned shares (if any) to vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2020. The levels of performance required to earn the target number of units was approved by the compensation committee at the time of grant as follows:

Growth Percentage	Achievement Percentage ⁽¹⁾	
40% or more (Maximum)	200%	150%
20% (Target)	100%	100%
10% (Threshold)	50%	50%
<10%	0%	0%

⁽¹⁾ In the event of actual performance between the threshold and target, and target and maximum, performance levels, the payout percentage was to be calculated between each designated segment on a linear basis.

The compensation committee viewed these performance levels as challenging, but achievable with maximum effort. In addition, the ARR bookings growth performance levels required to earn any units under the terms of the PRSU awards were established at levels that represented strong growth and improvement relative to our actual 2019 results. The decision to link these awards to our ARR bookings growth performance was aligned with our long-term strategic plan and reflected our focus on stimulating growth as a key driver of stockholder value creation. The PRSU awards also included threshold levels of performance below which no units would be earned.

In March 2020, the compensation committee evaluated our ARR bookings growth performance for 2019 and determined that, with our ARR bookings growth of (9.68%), we had not achieved the threshold performance level for the performance period. Thus, no units were earned under the PRSU awards for 2019 and the PRSU awards were forfeited.

Time-Based RSU Awards

The time-based RSU awards vest in equal annual installments over a four-year period, with the first installment vesting on April 1, 2020, contingent upon each named executive officer remaining continuously employed by us through each applicable vesting date. Upon vesting, the RSU awards may be settled by issuing that number of shares of our common stock that equal the number of units that have vested.

Additional Equity Award Granted to Mr. August

In connection with the amendment of his employment agreement in April 2019, Mr. August was granted an RSU award valued at approximately \$2.4 million that may be settled for 50,000 shares of our common stock (the "Retention Award"). The Retention Award vests in full on April 1, 2023, subject to Mr. August's continuous service to us through that date (and subject to certain accelerated vesting provisions as set forth in the August Employment Agreement). The Retention Award was granted to Mr. August by the Compensation Committee in recognition of our strong performance in 2018 and to serve as a long-term retention device to ensure his continued employment with us. As provided by its terms, the Retention Award does not vest (if at all) until April 1, 2023, a full four years following the date of grant. The Compensation Committee determined that its objective of retaining Mr. August's services in a very competitive market for senior executives was best served

by structuring the award such that he would not earn any of the shares subject to the award unless he was still serving as our Chief Executive Officer on the April 2023 vesting date, which assumed his continued satisfactory performance through the award's vesting period.

Equity Awards Granted to Mr. Swad

In connection with his appointment as our Chief Financial Officer in July 2019, Mr. Swad was granted (i) an RSU award valued at approximately \$2 million that may be settled for 77,099 shares of our common stock, with 25% of the units subject to such award vesting on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining 75% of the units subject to the award vesting in equal amounts quarterly for the following three years and (ii) an RSU award valued at approximately \$1 million that may be settled for 38,549 shares of our common stock, vesting in four equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the terms of the related award grant notice. Given his employment start date, the Compensation Committee determined that it was not possible to grant a portion of his ongoing \$2 million RSU award as a performance-based PRSU award that would mirror the PRSU awards previously granted to our other Named Executive Officers in April 2019 given the minimum one year vesting period requirement for such award. Further, the Compensation Committee determined that it would be impractical to grant him a performance-based PRSU award that would satisfy this one-year vesting requirement because such award would necessarily encompass two different fiscal years. As for his other RSU award, the Compensation Committee considered this to be a "recruitment award" to secure his services that would be earned in full only if he continued to be employed with us over the four-year vesting period.

The equity awards granted to our named executive officers during 2019 are set forth in the "2019 Summary Compensation Table" and the "2019 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table" below.

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

Currently, we do not view perquisites and other personal benefits as a significant component of our executive compensation program. Accordingly, we do not provide significant perquisites or other personal benefits to our named executive officers, except as generally made available to our employees, or in situations where we believe it is appropriate to assist an individual in the performance of his or her duties, to make him or her more efficient and effective, and for recruitment and retention purposes. For a summary of perquisites received by our named executive officers that were, in the aggregate, \$10,000 or more for each individual, see the "2019 Summary Compensation Table" below.

In the future, we may provide perquisites or other personal benefits in limited circumstances, such as those described below. All future practices with respect to perquisites or other personal benefits will be approved and subject to periodic review by the compensation committee.

Health and Welfare Benefits

Our named executive officers are eligible to receive the following health and welfare benefits, including flexible spending accounts, medical, dental, and vision insurance, business travel insurance, an employee assistance program, accidental death and dismemberment insurance, health savings accounts, short-term and long-term disability insurance and basic life insurance. These benefits are provided to our named executive officers on the same basis as to all of our employees.

We have also established a tax-qualified Section 401(k) retirement savings plan for our named executive officers and other employees who satisfy certain eligibility requirements. Under this plan, participants may elect to make pre-tax contributions of their cash compensation not to exceed the statutory income tax limitation. Currently, we match contributions made by participants in the plan as follows: \$0.50 on the dollar for the first 6% of employee contributions to the plan. Employee matching contributions are subject to a five-year vesting schedule. We intend for the plan to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code so that contributions by participants to the plan, and income earned on plan contributions, are not taxable to participants until withdrawn from the plan.

We design our employee benefits programs to be affordable and competitive in relation to the market as well as compliant with applicable laws and practices. We adjust our employee benefits programs as needed based upon regular monitoring of applicable laws and practices and the competitive market.

Other Compensation Policies

Stock Ownership Policy

We maintain a stock ownership policy for our executive officers to further align their respective interests with the interests of our stockholders, and to further promote our commitment to sound corporate governance. This policy requires our CEO to own a minimum number of shares of our common stock equal to a value of five times his annualized base salary, our President to own a minimum number of shares of our common stock equal to a value of three times his annualized base salary, and our other executive officers who are subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act to own a minimum number of shares of our common stock equal to a value of one time their annualized base salary.

The number of shares of our common stock necessary to meet the minimum ownership level may be accumulated during the first five years following the adoption of the policy in March 2017. As of December 31, 2019, all of our executive officers subject to the policy had achieved his or her required ownership level.

Compensation Recovery Policy

Currently, we have not implemented a policy regarding retroactive adjustments to any cash or equity-based incentive compensation paid to our executive officers and other employees where the payments were predicated upon the achievement of financial results that were subsequently the subject of a financial restatement. We intend to adopt a general compensation recovery, or clawback, policy covering our annual and long-term incentive award plans and arrangements once the SEC adopts final rules implementing the requirement of Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

Hedging and Pledging Transactions

Under our Insider Trading Policy, we strongly discourage our employees (including our named executive officers) and the non-employee members of our board of directors from hedging our securities, holding shares of our common stock in a margin account, or pledging shares of our common stock as collateral for a loan.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

We take the applicable tax and accounting requirements into consideration in designing and operating our executive compensation program.

Deductibility of Executive Compensation

Generally, Section 162(m) of the Code disallows public companies a tax deduction for federal income tax purposes for remuneration in excess of \$1 million paid to "covered employees". Under Section 162(m), "covered employees" are any individuals who served as the principal executive officer or principal financial officer at any time during the taxable year, each of the three other most highly-compensated executive officers whose compensation may be required to be disclosed to our stockholders under the Exchange Act in the taxable year, and each person who was a covered employee for any taxable year beginning after December 31, 2016.

Prior to the effectiveness of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the limitation on deductibility pursuant to Section 162(m) did not apply to compensation that qualified under applicable regulations as "performance-based compensation". Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the performance-based compensation exception to Section 162(m) was repealed, effective for tax years beginning on or after December 31, 2017. Accordingly, commencing with our fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, compensation to our covered employees in excess

of \$1 million will generally not be deductible. Remuneration in excess of \$1 million will remain exempt from this deduction limit if it qualifies as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Section 162(m) as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and is payable pursuant to a binding written agreement in effect on November 2, 2017 that has not been modified in any material respect on or after that date. Also, all remuneration paid to our principal financial officer pursuant to a binding written agreement in effect on November 2, 2017 that has not been modified in any material respect on or after that date is exempt from the deduction limitation of Section 162(m). Because of the technical nature of the application and interpretation of Section 162(m) and the regulations and guidance issued thereunder, there is no assurance that any compensation granted in the past that was intended to satisfy the requirements for deductibility under Section 162(m) actually was or will ultimately be deductible.

While the treatment applicable to performance-based compensation arrangements made pursuant to written binding contracts in effect as of November 2, 2017 may help minimize the effect of the Section 162(m) deduction limit in the short-term, we expect that, going forward, some portion of our named executive officers' compensation might not be fully deductible by us for federal income tax purposes. As final guidance and regulations relating to Section 162(m), as amended, have not been issued, no assurance can be given that any existing compensation arrangements will qualify as "performance-based compensation". We will continue to closely monitor developments with respect to Section 162(m).

In approving the amount and form of compensation for our named executive officers, the compensation committee considers all elements of our cost of providing such compensation, including the potential impact of Section 162(m). The compensation committee may, in its judgment, approve compensation for our named executive officers that is not deductible for federal income tax purposes when it believes that such compensation is in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The compensation committee takes accounting considerations into account in designing compensation plans and arrangements for our executive officers and other employees. Chief among these is FASB ASC Topic 718, the standard which governs the accounting treatment of certain stock-based compensation. Among other things, FASB ASC Topic 718 requires us to record a compensation expense in our income statement for all equity awards granted to our executive officers and other employees. This compensation expense is based on the grant date "fair value" of the equity award and, in most cases, will be recognized ratably over the award's requisite service period (which, generally, will correspond to the award's vesting schedule). This compensation expense is also reported in the compensation tables below, even though recipients may never realize any value from their equity awards.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth summary compensation information for our named executive officers for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

Name and principal position	Year	Salary (\$) ⁽⁴⁾	Stock awards (\$)(5)	Non-equity incentive plan compensation (\$)	All other compensation (\$)(6)	Total (\$)
Raymond A. August	2019	\$518,269	\$6,162,380	\$ 93,015	\$10,063	\$6,783,727
President, CEO and Director	2018	\$499,346	\$3,372,807	\$279,376	\$21,468	\$4,172,997
	2017	\$499,905	\$2,086,871	\$ 72,450	\$17,318	\$2,676,544
Stephen M. Swad ⁽¹⁾	2019	\$171,635	\$2,891,200	\$ 46,929	\$ 159	\$3,109,923
Mason R. Holland, Jr	2019	\$321,602	\$ 493,272	\$ 57,719	\$ 2,294	\$ 874,887
Executive Chairman of the Board	2018	\$306,288	\$ 555,462	\$173,361	\$19,158	\$1,054,269
James P. Restivo	2019	\$371,602	\$ 899,076	\$ 49,829	\$10,063	\$1,330,570
CTO	2018	\$357,674	\$ 769,256	\$100,715	\$20,874	\$1,248,519
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽²⁾	2019	\$163,557	\$ 809,670	\$ 0	\$33,408	\$1,006,635
Former CFO	2018	\$350,000	\$ 946,884	\$146,672	\$19,155	\$1,462,711
	2017	\$134,615	\$1,871,972	\$ 24,991	\$ 6,786	\$2,038,364
Lou Anne Gilmore ⁽³⁾	2019	\$241,869	\$ 172,619	\$ 8,660	\$ 7,222	\$ 430,370

⁽¹⁾ Mr. Swad began serving as our Chief Financial Officer on July 22, 2019.

- (2) Mr. Dussault joined our Company on August 14, 2017 and his annual salary in 2017 was prorated from that date. Mr. Dussault served as our Chief Financial Officer until his resignation, effective May 31, 2019, and his annual salary in 2019 is prorated up to this date. He continued to serve our Company as a consultant from June 1, 2019 until August 31, 2019. His unvested equity continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited.
- (3) Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development.
- (4) Reflects base salary earned during the fiscal year covered.
- (5) The reported amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of awards of RSUs and PRSUs computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the estimate of forfeitures. The reported amounts for PRSUs also assume target performance goals will be achieved and are consistent with the estimate of aggregate compensation cost recognized over the service period determined as of the grant date under FASB ASC Topic 718. For 2019, the grant date fair value of all PRSUs at maximum payout potential are \$3,798,380, \$0, \$493,320, \$899,076 and \$172,667 for Messrs. August, Swad, Holland and Restivo and Ms. Gilmore, respectively.

(6) All other compensation consisted of the following in 2019:

Name	Year	Medical Insurance Premiums (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Life Insurance Premiums (\$)	Disability Insurance Premiums (\$)	Health Savings Account Contributions (\$)	401(k) Plan Matching Contributions (\$)	Other (\$)	Total (\$)
Raymond A. August	2019	_	\$ 249	\$164	\$1,250	\$8,400		\$10,063
	2018	\$9,803	\$1,032	\$749	\$1,250	\$8,634	_	\$21,468
	2017	\$7,416	\$ 261	\$341	\$1,200	\$8,100	_	\$17,318
Stephen M. Swad	2019	_	\$ 96	\$ 63	_	_	_	\$ 159
Mason R. Holland, Jr	2019	_	\$ 249	\$164	\$1,250	\$ 631	_	\$ 2,294
	2018	\$9,831	\$ 552	\$484	\$1,250	\$7,041	_	\$19,158
James P. Restivo	2019	_	\$ 249	\$164	\$1,250	\$8,400	_	\$10,063
	2018	\$9,803	\$1,032	\$555	\$1,250	\$8,234	_	\$20,874
Jonathon E. Dussault	2019	_	\$ 134	\$ 88	\$ 673	\$4,782	\$27,731(2)	\$33,408
	2018	\$9,803	\$ 360	\$540	\$1,250	\$7,202	_	\$19,155
	2017	\$2,822	\$ 100	\$130	\$ 369	\$3,365	_	\$ 6,786
Lou Anne Gilmore	2019	_	\$ 244	\$164	\$1,250	\$5,564	_	\$ 7,222

⁽¹⁾ Historically, we have provided our associates and their qualifying family members with medical insurance at no cost to those individuals. In 2019, the Company moved to a self-funded health plan, and, as a result, as of January 2019, the Company no longer provides this benefit.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with the named executive officers that were in their executive officer roles at December 31, 2019, namely, Messrs. August, Swad, Holland and Restivo. Each of these agreements was approved on our behalf by the compensation committee or our board of directors at the recommendation of the compensation committee. We believe that these arrangements were necessary to induce these individuals to forego other employment opportunities or leave their then-current employer for the uncertainty of a demanding position in a new and unfamiliar organization.

In filling each of our executive positions, our board of directors or the compensation committee, as applicable, recognized that it would need to develop competitive compensation packages to attract qualified candidates in a dynamic labor market. At the same time, our board and the compensation committee were sensitive to the need to integrate new executive officers into the executive compensation structure that we were seeking to develop, balancing both competitive and internal equity considerations.

The employment agreements of Messrs. August, Swad, Holland and Restivo contain certain protections in the event of their termination of employment under specified circumstances, including, in the case of Messrs. August, Swad and Holland, following a change in control of the Company. We believe that these protections were necessary to induce these individuals to leave their former employment for the uncertainty of a demanding position and help from a retention standpoint. These arrangements provide reasonable compensation to the executive officer if he leaves our employ under certain circumstances to facilitate his transition to new employment. Further, in some instances we seek to mitigate any potential employer liability and avoid future disputes or litigation by requiring a departing executive officer to sign a separation and release agreement acceptable to us as a condition to receiving post-employment compensation payments or benefits. We also believe that these arrangements help maintain their continued focus and dedication to their assigned duties to maximize stockholder value if there is a potential transaction that could involve a change in control of the Company.

⁽²⁾ We paid Mr. Dussault for post-employment consulting services.

Under the employment agreements, unless an acquirer has not assumed or substituted a comparable award for an outstanding equity award in connection with a change in control, all payments, benefits and acceleration of vesting of outstanding equity awards in the event of a change in control of the Company are payable only if there is a subsequent loss of employment by an executive officer (a so-called "double-trigger" arrangement). In the case of the acceleration of vesting of outstanding equity awards, we use this double-trigger arrangement to protect against the loss of retention value following a change in control of the Company and to avoid windfalls, both of which could occur if vesting of either equity or cash-based awards accelerated automatically as a result of the transaction. Additionally, we do not use excise tax payments (or "gross-ups") relating to a change in control of the Company and have no such obligations in place with respect to any executive officers.

We believe that having in place reasonable and competitive post-employment compensation arrangements in the event of a change in control of the Company are essential to attracting and retaining highly qualified executive officers. The compensation committee does not consider the specific amounts payable under the post-employment compensation arrangements when determining the annual compensation for our executive officers. We do believe, however, that these arrangements are necessary to offer compensation packages that are competitive.

For an estimate of the potential payments and benefits that they would have been eligible to receive if a hypothetical change in control or other trigger event had occurred on December 31, 2019, see "*Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control*" below.

Employment Agreement with Raymond A. August

In July 2014, we entered into an employment agreement with Raymond A. August (the "Original Agreement"). We amended the Original Agreement on November 20, 2017 in connection with Mr. August's appointment as President and Chief Executive Officer of our Company, effective as of January 1, 2018. In November 2017, we agreed to the following compensation arrangements with Mr. August:

- an annual base salary of \$500,000;
- participation in our Management Incentive Bonus Plan, with a target annual incentive bonus opportunity equal to 100% of his annual base salary, and with the targets for earning an annual incentive bonus to be reviewed and approved annually by the compensation committee;
- an RSU award valued at \$1.5 million that may be settled for shares of our common stock to be
 approved by our board of directors, which award will vest in five equal annual installments beginning
 on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to his continued employment on each vesting date;
- an annual equity award that was made as part of Mr. August's long-term incentive compensation for 2018 valued at \$2 million. Half of this award was made in the form of a time-based RSU award vesting in four equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to his continued employment on each vesting date, while the other half of the award was made in the form of a PRSU award, the maximum number of shares of our common stock which will be earned upon the achievement of annual Company performance objectives to be determined by the compensation committee, with such earned shares to vest in four equal annual installments beginning on first anniversary of the date of grant if the performance objectives are met and subject to his continued employment on each vesting date. Subsequent annual equity awards will be reviewed and approved annually by the compensation committee and designed to incentivize high levels of performance.

Effective April 1, 2019, Mr. August's employment agreement was further amended (the "Amended Employment Agreement") to provide for Mr. August's Retention Award. The Retention Award vests 100% on April 1, 2023, subject to Mr. August's continuous service to the Company through such date and accelerated vesting as described below. The compensation committee also reconsidered Mr. August's annual equity award in

2019 when it established the compensation framework for all our named executive officers for the year as described above. For a description of the equity awards granted to Mr. August and our other named executive officers in 2019 as part of their long-term incentive compensation, see "Executive Summary-Long-Term Incentive Compensation" above.

Under the Amended Employment Agreement, in the event we terminate Mr. August's employment without cause not in connection with a change in control and Mr. August signs a release of claims against the Company, we will provide him with his then current base salary for 18 months, one year's bonus payment at target, 12 months of accelerated vesting on the time-based portion of all outstanding equity awards (except the Retention Award), and COBRA coverage for 18 months, provided Mr. August elects and remains eligible for such coverage.

Under the Amended Employment Agreement, in the event we or our acquirer terminates Mr. August's employment without cause at or within 12 months of a change in control, we will also provide Mr. August with one and a half times his targeted annual bonus and full acceleration of the time-based portion of all outstanding equity awards, in addition to his then current base salary for 18 months and COBRA coverage for 18 months, subject to his signing a release.

In addition, whether before or after a change in control, if Mr. August resigns due to a decrease in his base salary or targeted annual bonus, a change in his position with our Company or a diminution of his duties and responsibilities, or a change in the location of his primary workplace of more than 60 miles from our Company's headquarters as of January 1, 2018, and provided he resigns within three months of the occurrence of, and without having consented to, such event, the Amended Employment Agreement provides that Mr. August will be entitled to receive the same severance benefits he would have been eligible to receive were his employment terminated by us without cause.

If we terminate Mr. August's employment with or without cause, after completion of any period during which his eligibility for a bonus is to be determined, but prior to the date when such bonus is to be paid, the Amended Employment Agreement provides Mr. August will be entitled to receive such bonus at the time it would have been paid but for the termination of his employment.

"Cause" is defined as any determination by the board of directors of any of the following:
(i) Mr. August's violation of any applicable material law or regulation with respect to the business of our Company, (ii) Mr. August's commission of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, (iii) any act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation in relation to his duties to our Company, (iv) Mr. August's uncured failure to perform in any material respect his duties under the agreement, (v) Mr. August's failure to attempt in good faith to implement a clear and reasonable directive from the board or to comply with any of our policies and procedures which failure is material and occurs after written notice from the board, (vi) any act of gross misconduct that is materially and demonstrably injurious to our Company, or (vii) Mr. August's breach of his fiduciary responsibility.

During and after his employment, Mr. August is subject to a covenant related to the non-disclosure of trade secrets and confidential information. For one year following the date of termination, for any reason, Mr. August is subject to covenants related to the non-solicitation of customers, employees or consultants and a covenant not to compete with the Company within the United States.

Employment Agreement with Stephen M. Swad

In July 2019, we entered into an employment agreement with Stephen M. Swad. Under the agreement, we agreed to pay Mr. Swad a base salary of \$425,000 per year. Mr. Swad is also eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 75% of his then-current base pay, subject to adjustment, upon achievement of our Company's annual performance targets. Mr. Swad received a one-time signing bonus consisting of (i) a cash bonus of \$325,000, subject to repayment if he terminates his employment for other than "good reason" or the Company terminates his employment for "cause" within 12 months of his employment commencement, and (ii) a grant of RSUs

valued at \$2,000,000, with 25% vesting on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and the remaining 75% of the RSUs vesting in equal amounts quarterly for the following three years. Additionally, Mr. Swad received a one-time grant of RSUs valued at \$1,000,000 on August 1, 2019, vesting in four equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the terms of the related award grant notice. See "Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2019" below for a description of, among other things, equity awards granted to Mr. Swad in 2019, all of which remained outstanding as of that year end.

In the event we terminate Mr. Swad's employment without cause or Mr. Swad resigns for "good reason" at any time prior to a change in control, we will provide Mr. Swad: (i) salary continuation at a rate equal to his base salary then in effect for a period of 12 months following his termination date, (ii) a portion of his targeted annual bonus paid in a lump sum, and (iii) an insurance premium in an amount equal to that which was paid on his behalf prior to the termination of his employment paid during the same period in which he is receiving salary continuation payments. Any outstanding RSUs, PRSUs and stock rights will continue to vest for a period of 12 months.

In the event we or our acquirer terminates Mr. Swad's employment without cause or Mr. Swad resigns for "good reason" at the time of, or within 12 months following, a change in control of our Company, we or our acquirer will provide Mr. Swad: (i) salary continuation at a rate equal to his base salary then in effect for a period of (A) 24 months if such termination occurs within the first 18 months of employment, (B) 15 months if such termination occurs within the nineteenth 19th through the 30th month of employment, and (C) 12 months of if such termination occurs after the 30th month of employment, (ii) his targeted annual bonus paid in a lump sum, (iii) an insurance premium in an amount equal to that which was paid on his behalf prior to the termination of his employment paid during the same period in which he is receiving salary continuation, and (iv) accelerated vesting of all unvested and outstanding RSU awards, PRSU awards and any other stock rights.

"Good Reason" is defined as any of the following without Mr. Swad's express written consent: (i) a material decrease in his base salary, (ii) a material diminution in his authority, duties and responsibilities to our Company, (iii) a change in his position such that he no longer reports to our CEO, (iv) a material diminution in the budget over which he has authority, (v) a material change in the geographic location of his position, or (vi) an uncured material breach of the agreement by our Company.

"Cause" is defined as reasonable determination by the board of directors of any of the following: (i) any act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation in relation to his duties to our Company, (ii) Mr. Swad's conviction of, or plead of nolo contendere to, a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, (iii) Mr. Swad's proven gross misconduct that results in a reasonable probability of material injury (whether tangible or reputational) to our Company, (iv) Mr. Swad's proven unauthorized use or disclosure of any proprietary information or trade secrets of our Company or any other third party to whom he owes an obligation of nondisclosure as a result of his relationship with us, or (v) Mr. Swad's uncured failure to perform in any material respect his duties under the agreement.

During and after his employment, Mr. Swad is subject to a covenant related to the non-disclosure of trade secrets and confidential information. For one year following the date of termination, for any reason, Mr. Swad is subject to covenants related to the non-solicitation of customers, employees or consultants and a covenant not to compete with the Company within the United States.

Employment Agreement with Mason R. Holland, Jr.

In January 2007, we entered into an employment agreement with Mason Holland, our Executive Chairman, which sets forth the terms and conditions of his employment in that position. The agreement continues for terms of three years, which will be extended automatically each day, for an additional day, so that the remaining term continues to be three years in length. Either we or Mr. Holland may at any time fix the term to a finite term of three years. Under the terms of the agreement, we must pay Mr. Holland salary at a rate of not less than \$200,000 per year. The board of directors will review Mr. Holland's salary at least annually and must

increase his salary by at least 5% per year. Mr. Holland waived his base salary increase in 2018. We may not decrease Mr. Holland's base salary under these agreements.

Mr. Holland is eligible to participate in any management incentive programs we establish, and he may receive incentive compensation based upon achievement of targeted levels of performance and other criteria established by the board of directors or compensation committee. In the event we achieve the annual financial targets approved by the board of directors, Mr. Holland will be entitled to an annual bonus in an amount at least equal to his then-current base salary.

If we terminate Mr. Holland's employment due to his death or disability, we must pay to him, or his estate, his accrued compensation, pro-rated for the number of days he was employed in the fiscal year in which his employment was terminated, which amount we refer to as the Prorated Bonus Amount. If we terminate Mr. Holland's employment for cause (as defined below) or he resigns for any reason other than adequate justification (as defined below), we must pay Mr. Holland all accrued compensation.

If Mr. Holland resigns for adequate justification, or if we terminate his employment without cause, including in connection with a change in control of our Company, we must pay him his accrued compensation and a pro rata share of his annual bonus, if such bonus is awarded. Additionally, we must pay Mr. Holland each month, for a period of 36 months, 1/12 of the sum of, (i) his then-current base salary, and (ii) a pro rata share of his annual bonus, if such bonus is awarded. Furthermore, we must continue providing life insurance, disability, medical, dental, and hospitalization benefits to Mr. Holland (which amount will be reduced to the extent he receives these benefits from a subsequent employer). Finally, the restrictions on any outstanding incentive awards held by Mr. Holland, including stock options, will lapse and such awards will become fully vested and immediately exercisable.

Under the agreement, adequate justification is defined as: (A) an uncured material failure of the Company to comply with the agreement; (B) any non-voluntary, Company-imposed relocation of Mr. Holland outside Charleston, South Carolina; (C) a change in control of our Company that results in a material diminution in the Mr. Holland's responsibilities; or (D) the removal of Mr. Holland from the position of Chairman of the board of directors, except as otherwise provided in the agreement. Under the agreement, termination for cause is defined as: (i) a conviction of Mr. Holland of, or entering a plea of no contest by him with respect to, having committed a felony; (ii) abuse of controlled substances or alcohol, or acts of dishonesty or moral turpitude by Mr. Holland that are detrimental to our Company; (iii) acts or omissions by Mr. Holland that he knew, or should reasonably have known, would substantially damage the business of our Company; (iv) negligence by Mr. Holland in the performance of, or disregard by him of, his obligations under the agreement or otherwise relating to his employment, or a breach by Mr. Holland of the agreement, which negligence, disregard or breach continues uncured after receiving notice from our Company; or (v) failure by Mr. Holland to obey the reasonable and lawful orders and policies of the board that are consistent with the provisions of the agreement.

During and after his employment, Mr. Holland is subject to a covenant related to the non-disclosure of trade secrets and confidential information. For 24 months following the date of termination, for any reason, except with adequate justification, Mr. Holland is subject to covenants related to the non-solicitation of customers, employees or consultants and a covenant not to compete with the Company. In the event Mr. Holland, during the 24 months following the termination of his employment, becomes employed by a company that engages, in whole or part, in the same or substantially the same business as ours, he will forfeit any remaining severance payments.

Employment Agreement with James P. Restivo

In December 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with James P. Restivo. Under the agreement, we agreed to pay Mr. Restivo a base salary of \$300,000 per year. Mr. Restivo is also eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 50% of his then-current base pay, subject to adjustment, upon achievement of our Company's annual performance targets. Mr. Restivo is also eligible to receive an annual RSU award of up to 100% of his base salary. These RSU awards have a four-year vesting period, and will be subject to the terms of

an RSU award agreement. See "Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2019" below for a description of, among other things, equity awards granted to Mr. Restivo in 2019, all of which remained outstanding as of that year end.

In the event we terminate Mr. Restivo's employment without cause, provided Mr. Restivo executes a general release of claims, we will provide Mr. Restivo salary continuation at a rate equal to his base salary then in effect for a period of six months following his termination date. Any outstanding RSUs, PRSUs and stock rights will not be subject to accelerated vesting.

In addition, if Mr. Restivo resigns due to a material decrease in his base salary or annual bonus or due to a diminution in his authority, duties and responsibilities to our Company, and provided he resigns within three months of such event, and has not consented to such event, Mr. Restivo will be entitled to receive the same severance benefits he would have been eligible to receive were his employment terminated by us without cause.

"Cause" is defined as reasonable determination by the board of directors of any of the following:
(i) Mr. Restivo's violation of any applicable material law or regulation with respect to the business of our Company, (ii) Mr. Restivo's commission of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude, (iii) any act of dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation in relation to Mr. Restivo's duties to our Company, (iv) Mr. Restivo's failure to perform in any material respect his duties under the agreement, (v) Mr. Restivo's failure to attempt in good faith to implement a directive from our board of directors or to comply with the Company's policies and procedures, (vi) Mr. Restivo's gross misconduct which is materially and demonstrably injurious to our Company, and (vii) Mr. Restivo's breach of fiduciary responsibility.

During and after his employment, Mr. Restivo is subject to a covenant related to the non-disclosure of trade secrets and confidential information. For one year following the date of termination, for any reason, Mr. Restivo is subject to covenants related to the non-solicitation of customers, employees or consultants and a covenant not to compete with the Company within the United States.

Employment Agreement with Jonathon E. Dussault

In June 2017, we entered into an employment agreement with Jonathon E. Dussault. Under the agreement, we agreed to pay Mr. Dussault a base salary of \$350,000 per year. Mr. Dussault was also eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 75% of his then-current base pay, subject to adjustment, upon achievement of our Company's annual performance targets. Mr. Dussault resigned from the Company as our Chief Financial Officer effective May 31, 2019 and continued as a consultant to the Company until August 31, 2019 (the "Consulting Period"). During his Consulting Period he continued to receive his base salary and payment of the employer-portion of the COBRA premiums. Additionally, his unvested equity continued to vest during the Consulting Period, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited. See "Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2019" below for a description of, among other things, equity awards granted to Mr. Dussault in 2019, none of which remained outstanding as of that year end.

During and after his employment, Mr. Dussault is subject to a covenant related to the non-disclosure of trade secrets and confidential information. For one year following the date of termination, for any reason, Mr. Dussault is subject to covenants related to the non-solicitation of customers, employees or consultants and a covenant not to compete with the Company within the United States. The Company and Mr. Dussault also agreed to abide by a non-disparagement covenant.

Employment Agreement with Lou Anne Gilmore

Lou Ann Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019 (the "Interim CFO Period"), when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development. We did not enter into a separate employment agreement with Ms. Gilmore in connection with her service as interim Chief Financial Officer. Accordingly, during the Interim CFO Period,

Ms. Gilmore continued to receive her then base salary of \$244,400 and continued to be eligible for a target short-term incentive bonus of up to 20% of her base pay and a target long-term incentive bonus of up to 40% of her base pay.

Potential Payments on Change of Control

If the severance payments called for in our employment agreements with our named executive officers serving as of December 31, 2019, as described above under "*Employment Agreements*", had been triggered on December 31, 2019, we would have been obligated to make the following payments:

	Upon Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason – No Change of Control			Upon Termination without Cause or Resignation for Good Reason – Change of Control				
Name	Cash Severance (\$)	Value of Accelerated Vesting ⁽¹⁾ (\$)	Value of Benefits (\$)	Total (\$)	Cash Severance (\$)	Value of Accelerated Vesting ⁽¹⁾ (\$)	Value of Benefits (\$)	Total (\$)
Raymond A. August President, CEO and Director	\$1,312,500	\$1,268,505	\$ 0	\$2,581,005	\$1,575,000	\$4,604,153	\$ 0	\$6,179,153
Stephen M. Swad	\$ 743,750	\$ 740,036	\$ 0	\$1,483,786	\$1,168,750	\$2,537,317	\$ 0	\$3,706,067
Mason R. Holland, Jr	\$1,357,072	\$ 416,070	\$6,882	\$1,780,024	\$1,357,072	\$ 416,070	\$6,882	\$1,780,024
James P. Restivo	\$ 187,500	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 187,500	\$ 187,500	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 187,500
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽²⁾	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Lou Anne Gilmore ⁽³⁾ Former Interim CFO	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_

⁽¹⁾ The value of accelerated vesting equals \$21.94, the closing sale price per share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on December 31, 2019, multiplied by the number of shares subject to accelerated vesting.

⁽²⁾ Mr. Dussault resigned from the Company effective May 31, 2019.

⁽³⁾ Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table summarizes equity awards and non-equity incentive plan awards granted to our named executive officers in 2019, as of the date of grant.

		Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards ⁽¹⁾		Under Eq	d Future Payou uity Incentive P Awards ⁽²⁾		Grant Date Fair Value of Stock	
Name	Grant date	Threshold (\$)	Target (\$)	Maximum (\$)	Threshold (#)	Target Maxim	um RSUs ⁽²⁾ (#)	Awards (\$) ⁽³⁾
Raymond A. August President, CEO and Director	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019		\$262,500	\$525,000	0	5,605 ⁽⁴⁾ 5,60 49,822 ⁽⁵⁾ 74,73		\$ 265,005 \$2,355,584 \$1,177,792 \$2,364,000
Stephen M. Swad ⁽⁸⁾	August 1, 2019 August 1, 2019	\$0	\$141,525	\$212,288			38,549 ⁽⁹⁾ 77,099 ⁽¹⁰⁾	\$ 963,725 \$1,927,475
Mason R. Holland, Jr Executive Chairman of the Board	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019		\$162,890	\$325,779	0	3,478 ⁽⁴⁾ 3,47 4,637 ⁽⁵⁾ 6,95		\$ 164,440 \$ 219,237 \$ 109,595
James P. Restivo	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019		\$140,625	\$281,250	0	3,002 ⁽⁴⁾ 3,00 10,676 ⁽⁵⁾ 16,01		\$ \$141,934 \$ 504,761 \$ 252,381
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽¹¹⁾ Former CFO	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019	\$0	\$135,188	\$270,375	0	2,886 ⁽⁴⁾ 2,88 9,493 ⁽⁵⁾ 14,24		\$ 136,450 \$ 448,829 \$ 224,391
Lou Anne Gilmore ⁽¹²⁾ Former Interim CFO	April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019 April 1, 2019					521 ⁽⁴⁾ 52 2,087 ⁽⁵⁾ 3,13		\$ 24,633 \$ 98,673 \$ 49,313

⁽¹⁾ Represents the aggregate cash incentive components of the 2019 annual incentives payable to the named executive officer, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation Elements" above.

- (3) The reported amounts represent the aggregate grant date fair value of awards of PRSUs and RSUs computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, excluding the estimate of forfeitures. The reported amounts for PRSUs also assume target performance goals will be achieved and are consistent with the estimate of aggregate compensation cost recognized over the service period determined as of the grant date under FASB ASC Topic 718.
- (4) A percentage of the PRSUs were to vest upon the achievement of an annual revenue goal and an adjusted EBITDA goal, during the period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation Elements" above. The compensation committee of our board of directors determined that, on April 1, 2020, a total of 1,682, 1,043, 901, 0 and 156 PRSUs vested for Messrs. August, Holland, Restivo and Dussault and Ms. Gilmore, respectively.

⁽²⁾ Represents the aggregate equity incentive components of the 2019 annual incentives granted in the form of PRSUs and RSUs to the named executive officer, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation Elements" above.

- (5) The PRSUs were to vest upon the achievement of net annual recurring revenue bookings growth goals during the period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019, such vesting to occur in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2020, if the performance metrics are met, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation Elements" above. The compensation committee of our board of directors determined that, on April 1, 2020, no PRSUs were earned by Messrs. August, Holland, Restivo and Dussault and Ms. Gilmore, respectively.
- (6) Represents time-based RSUs, which vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2020, subject to continued employment.
- (7) Represents time-based RSUs, which vest in in full on April 1, 2023, subject to continued employment.
- (8) Mr. Swad resigned as a Company director on July 22, 2019, when he assumed the role of our Chief Financial Officer.
- (9) Represents time-based RSUs, which vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 1, 2020, subject to continued employment.
- (10) Represents time-based RSUs, which vest 25% on August 1, 2020, and 6.25% of the remaining RSUs vest on each three-month anniversary thereafter, subject to continued employment.
- (11) Mr. Dussault resigned from the Company as our Chief Financial Officer effective May 31, 2019 and continued as a consultant to the Company until August 31, 2019. His unvested equity continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited.
- (12) Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development.

Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2019

The following table lists the outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2019:

	Stock awards				
Name	Number of shares or units of stock that have not vested (#)	Market value of shares or units of stock that have not vested (\$)(1)	Equity incentive plan awards: number of unearned units (#)	Equity incentive plan awards: market value of unearned units (\$)(1)	
Raymond A. August	7,640(2)	\$ 167,622			
President, CEO and Director	9,090(3)	\$ 199,435			
	33,702(4)	\$ 739,422			
	24,802(5)	\$ 544,156			
	59,708(6)	\$1,309,994			
	24,911 ⁽⁷⁾	\$ 546,547			
	,,,	+	5,605(8)	\$ 122,974	
			49,822(9)	\$1,093,095	
	50,000(10)	\$1,097,000	.,,,,,,	Ψ1,0>0,0>0	
Stephen M. Swad ⁽¹¹⁾	77,099 ⁽¹²⁾ 38,549 ⁽¹³⁾	\$1,691,552 \$ 845,765			
Mason R. Holland, Jr	2,337 ⁽²⁾ 2,780 ⁽³⁾ 3,078 ⁽⁵⁾ 7,409 ⁽⁶⁾ 2,318 ⁽⁷⁾	\$ 51,274 \$ 60,993 \$ 67,531 \$ 162,553 \$ 50,857	- 1 - 0(2)		
			3,478 ⁽⁸⁾ 4,637 ⁽⁹⁾	\$ 76,307 \$ 101,736	
James P. Restivo	2,372 ⁽²⁾ 3,750 ⁽²⁾ 10,633 ⁽³⁾ 2,822 ⁽³⁾ 5,364 ⁽⁵⁾ 12,914 ⁽⁶⁾ 5,338 ⁽⁷⁾	\$ 52,042 \$ 82,275 \$ 233,288 \$ 61,914 \$ 117,686 \$ 283,333 \$ 117,116	3,002(8)	\$ 65,864	
			10,676(9)	\$ 234,231	
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽¹⁴⁾	_	_	_	. , _	
Lou Anne Gilmore ⁽¹⁵⁾	1,832 ⁽⁶⁾ 1,043 ⁽⁷⁾	\$ 40,194 \$ 22,883			
			$521^{(8)} 2,087^{(9)}$	\$ 11,431 \$ 45,789	
	44 ⁽¹⁶⁾ 772 ⁽¹⁷⁾ 11,250 ⁽¹⁷⁾ 11,250 ⁽¹⁸⁾				

⁽¹⁾ Based on \$21.94 per share which was the closing price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market on December 31, 2019, the last trading day of that fiscal year.

- (2) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2017, subject to continued employment.
- (3) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2018, subject to continued employment.
- (4) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in five equal annual installments beginning on December 31, 2018, subject to continued employment.
- (5) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2019, subject to continued employment.
- (6) The shares subject to this grant of PRSUs, which performance criteria has been satisfied, vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2019.
- (7) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2020, subject to continued employment.
- (8) The amount reported represents the number of PRSUs granted to the named executive officer on April 1, 2019, as previously described, and assumes target performance goals will be achieved. The PRSUs were to vest upon the achievement of an annual revenue goal and an adjusted EBITDA goal, during the period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Compensation Elements" above. The compensation committee of our board of directors determined that, on April 1, 2020, a total of 1,682, 1,043, 901, 0 and 156 PRSUs vested for Messrs. August, Holland, Restivo and Dussault and Ms. Gilmore, respectively.
- (9) The amount reported represents the number of PRSUs granted to the named executive officer on April 1, 2019 and assumes target performance will be achieved. The PRSUs were to vest upon the achievement of net annual recurring revenue bookings growth goals during the period of January 1, 2019 through December 31, 2019, such vesting to occur in four equal annual installments beginning on April 1, 2020, if the performance metrics are met, as summarized in "Compensation Discussion and Analysis—
 Compensation Elements" above. The compensation committee of our board of directors determined that, on April 1, 2020, no PRSUs vested for Messrs. August, Holland, Restivo and Dussault and Ms. Gilmore, respectively.
- (10) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in full on April 1, 2023, subject to continued employment.
- (11) Mr. Swad resigned as a Company director on July 22, 2019, when he assumed the role of our Chief Financial Officer.
- (12) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest 25% on August 1, 2020 and then 6.25% of the remaining RSUs vest on each three-month anniversary thereafter, subject to continued employment.
- (13) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 1, 2020, subject to continued employment.
- (14) Mr. Dussault resigned from the Company effective May 31, 2019 and pursuant to his Separation, Release and Consulting Agreement, dated May 6, 2019, his unvested equity continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited.
- (15) Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development.
- (16) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in three equal annual installments beginning on May 15, 2019, subject to continued employment.
- (17) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on July 1, 2019, subject to continued employment.
- (18) The shares subject to this grant of RSUs vest in four equal annual installments beginning on November 1, 2019, subject to continued employment.

Stock Vested

The following table sets forth information on the aggregate number and value of all RSUs and PRSUs vested for each named executive officer in the year ended December 31, 2019.

Stock Vested during the year ended December 31, 2019

	Stock awards		
Name	Number of shares acquired on vesting (#)	Value realized on vesting ⁽¹⁾ (\$)	
Raymond A. August	107,712	\$4,391,359	
Stephen M. Swad ⁽²⁾	_	_	
Mason R. Holland, Jr	18,320	\$ 907,206	
James P. Restivo	24,255	\$1,201,108	
Jonathon E. Dussault ⁽³⁾	27,999	\$1,104,706	
Lou Anne Gilmore ⁽⁴⁾	9,354	\$ 272,700	

⁽¹⁾ The aggregate value realized equals the fair market value of the shares acquired, based on the closing sale price of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Market immediately preceding vesting.

⁽²⁾ Mr. Swad resigned as a Company director on July 22, 2019, when he assumed the role of our Chief Financial Officer.

⁽³⁾ Mr. Dussault resigned from the Company effective May 31, 2019 and pursuant to his Separation, Release and Consulting Agreement, dated May 6, 2019, his unvested equity continued to vest during his consultation period from June 1, 2019 through August 31, 2019, and subsequently any unvested equity awards were forfeited.

⁽⁴⁾ Ms. Gilmore assumed the role of interim Chief Financial Officer effective June 1, 2019 and resigned from that role effective July 22, 2019, when she resumed her role as Vice President of Corporate Development.

CEO PAY RATIO

As required by Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and Item 402(u) of the SEC's Regulation S-K, we are providing the following information about the relationship of the annual total compensation of our employees and the annual total compensation of Mr. August, our Chief Executive Officer. The pay ratio included below is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K. However, due to the flexibility afforded by Item 402(u) in calculating the CEO Pay Ratio, our CEO Pay Ratio may not be comparable to the CEO pay ratios presented by other companies.

For 2019:

- the median of the annual total compensation of all employees of our Company (other than Mr. August) was \$79,410; and
- the annual total compensation of Mr. August, as reported in the 2019 Summary Compensation Table beginning on page 49 of this Proxy Statement was \$6,783,727.

Based on this information, for 2019 the ratio of the annual total compensation of Mr. August to the median of the annual total compensation of all employees was estimated to be 85 to 1.

To identify the median employee, compensation data was gathered for our entire employee population as of December 1, 2019, including part-time employees and excluding our CEO and employees from companies acquired during 2019. We have no non-U.S. employees. We used total 2019 regular wages for the first payroll in December 2019 as the compensation measure that best reflects the compensation of all our employees. This compensation measure was consistently applied to all of our employees included in the calculation. In accordance with SEC rules, after identifying our median employee, the 2019 annual total compensation of the median employee and our CEO were determined using the same methodology that we use to determine our NEOs' annual total compensation for the Summary Compensation Table.

CEO Pay Ratio without Retention Award

Because Mr. August's Retention Award (which is discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis on page 28) was a one-time award intended to recognize our strong performance in 2018 and to serve as a long-term retention device to ensure Mr. August's continued employment with us through the award vesting period, we are presenting an alternative calculation of the pay ratio. The alternative calculation excludes the Retention Award's grant date fair value of \$2,364,000, but includes all other annual compensation of Mr. August, as reported in the 2019 Summary Compensation Table. In that case, Mr. August's compensation would have been \$4,419,728.

Based on this information, for 2019 the ratio of the annual total compensation of Mr. August to the median of the annual total compensation of all employees would have been estimated to be 56 to 1.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Each of our non-employee directors receives an annual retainer of \$180,000, payable at the director's election either 50% in cash and 50% in RSUs, or 100% in RSUs. We also pay such directors the following cash fees for each quarter they chair one of the board committees: audit, \$6,250; compensation, \$2,500; and nominating and governance committee, \$1,875. Other members of the committees receive the following annual cash fees: audit, \$9,000; compensation, \$5,000; and nominating and governance, \$3,750.

Our Company maintains stock ownership guidelines for directors. The guidelines require our directors to own stock in our Company with a cash value of \$225,000 or 3,750 shares, whichever is less. Directors need not own the requisite number of shares until he or she has completed three years of service as a director of our Company. If the ownership requirement is not met after the director has completed three years of service as a director of our Company, then all payments made to him or her by our Company will be entirely in the form of RSUs until the required ownership level is reached. For purposes of calculating the number of shares held by a director, shares that are owned directly are counted along with (a) shares over which the director has investment or voting power, and (b) shares that may be acquired pursuant to vested, in-the-money options to acquire Company stock. Shares used to achieve the minimum director ownership requirement may not be pledged, used as security, or otherwise encumbered by a director.

The following table sets forth the total compensation paid to each of our non-employee directors serving in 2019.

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stock Awards (\$)	Total (\$)
Douglas A. Dennerline	\$14,228	\$173,925(1)	\$188,153
Joseph P. DiSabato ⁽²⁾	-	-	-
A. Lanham Napier	\$15,500	\$173,925(1)	\$189,425
Francis J. Pelzer V	\$30,000	\$173,925(1)(3)	\$203,925
Stephen M. Swad ⁽⁴⁾	\$13,122	\$173,925(1)	\$187,047
Ana M. White ⁽⁵⁾	\$10,543	\$490,084(1)(6)	\$500,627

- (1) On July 1, 2019, the board of directors approved grants of RSUs to each of Messrs. Dennerline, Napier, Pelzer, and Swad for 6,692 shares of our common stock with an aggregate grant date fair value for each director of \$173,925, computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. These grants of RSUs vest on the earlier of July 1, 2020 or the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of our Company, subject to the director's continued service on the board.
- (2) Mr. DiSabato resigned as a director on April 1, 2019.
- (3) Mr. Pelzer also holds an option to purchase 50,000 shares of our common stock, granted to him in 2013 for service on the board of directors. On December 31, 2019, all shares subject to this option were vested.
- (4) Mr. Swad served as a director until July 22, 2019 when he assumed the position of our Chief Financial Officer. He forfeited his RSUs granted to him in connection with his service as a non-employee director in 2019 and has received no further compensation related to being a director since July 22, 2019.
- (5) Ms. White began serving as a director of our Company on January 15, 2019.
- (6) Ms. White received an initial grant of 9,531 restricted stock units when she joined our Company as a director on January 15, 2019 and therefore was not eligible for the annual grant made to directors on July 1, 2019.

Messrs. Holland and August are both named executive officers, and both also serve as directors, and neither received additional compensation for service provided as a director in 2019. Mr. Swad resigned as our director when he assumed the position of our Chief Financial Officer on July 22, 2019 and did not receive any further compensation related to being a director after that time.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following is a summary of each transaction or series of similar transactions since January 1, 2019 to which we were or are a party in which:

- the amount involved exceeded or exceeds \$120,000; and
- any of our directors or executive officers, any holder of 5% of our capital stock or any member of their immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Landlord—Daniel Island Executive Center, LLC and DIEC II, LLC

We lease real property from Daniel Island Executive Center, LLC, or DIEC, LLC, for use as our corporate headquarters in Charleston, South Carolina under two lease agreements. Pursuant to an amendment to each lease executed on December 12, 2016, both lease agreements expire on December 31, 2031. The initial term of the leases will reset to be co-terminus with certain new leases our Company may enter into with Daniel Island Executive Center II, LLC, or DIEC II, LLC. Under the two leases, an aggregate of \$55.5 million of lease payments are due over the remainder of the terms as of December 31, 2019. We made payments related to these agreements in the amount of \$5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Pursuant to a lease agreement with DIEC II, LLC and subsequent amendment executed on December 12, 2016, we have extended our campus in Charleston, South Carolina with a Customer Success Center and, at our option and under a new lease, can have a two-story welcome center built. The lease agreement for the Customer Success Center expires December 31, 2031. The initial term of the lease will reset to be co-terminus with certain new leases our Company may enter into with DIEC II, LLC. Under the lease, an aggregate of \$72.1 million of lease payments are due over the remainder of the term as of December 31, 2019. We made payments related to this agreement in the amount of \$5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

On December 12, 2016, our Company also executed a lease agreement with DIEC II, LLC, which requires DIEC, LLC to construct a building of approximately 145,800 square feet on Daniel Island Executive Center II for our Company to expand its campus to accommodate anticipated future growth. The target commencement date of the Lease is July 1, 2019 and the lease would run for 15 years. Once the lease has commenced, an aggregate of \$75.8 million of lease payments will be due over the course of the 15-year initial term. This lease was terminated on March 31, 2019.

On March 13, 2020, our Company executed an amendment to leases amending: (i) the Lease Agreement dated January 1, 2009, as amended, between the Company and DIEC, LLC; (ii) the Lease Agreement dated May 31, 2005, as amended, between the Company and DIEC, LLC; and (iii) the Commercial Lease Agreement dated December 13, 2013, as amended, between the Company and DIEC II, LLC. Pursuant to the amendment to leases, the Company paid DIEC, LLC and DIEC II, LLC \$3,993,352 for rent due to DIEC, LLC and DIEC II, LLC from January 1, 2021 to June 1, 2021, representing an approximately 17% discount on rent due for those periods.

DIEC, LLC and DIEC II, LLC are South Carolina limited liability companies. The Holland Family Trust, with which Mason Holland (our Executive Chairman of the board and a significant stockholder) is affiliated, is part owner of DIEC, LLC and DIEC II, LLC.

Indemnification Agreements

Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws provide that we shall indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by law. In addition, as permitted by the laws of the State of Delaware, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors. Under the terms of our indemnification agreements, we are required to indemnify each of our directors, to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the State of Delaware, if the indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner the indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of our Company, and with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no

reasonable cause to believe the indemnitee's conduct was unlawful. We must indemnify our officers and directors against any and all (A) costs and expenses (including attorneys' and experts' fees, expenses and charges) actually and reasonably paid or incurred in connection with investigating, defending, being a witness in or participating in, or preparing to investigate, defend, be a witness in or participate in, and (B) judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement in connection with, in the case of either (A) or (b), any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, arbitration, alternate dispute resolution mechanism, investigation, inquiry, administrative hearing or any other actual, threatened or completed proceeding, by reason of the fact that (x) such person is or was a director or officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of our Company or (y) such person is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee or agent or fiduciary of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefits plan or other enterprise. The indemnification agreements will also require us, if so requested, to advance within 30 days of such request any and all costs and expenses that such director or officer incurred, provided that such person will return any such advance if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified for such costs and expenses. Our bylaws also require that such person return any such advance if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification by us as authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware.

We are not required to provide indemnification under our indemnification agreements for certain matters, including: (1) indemnification in connection with certain proceedings or claims initiated or brought voluntarily by the indemnitee; (2) indemnification related to disgorgement of profits made from the purchase or sale of securities of our Company under Section 16(B) of the Exchange Act, or similar provisions of state statutory or common law; (3) indemnification that is finally determined, under the procedures and subject to the presumptions set forth in the indemnification agreements, to be unlawful; or (4) indemnification for liabilities for which the director has received payment under any insurance policy for such person's benefit, our certificate of incorporation or bylaws or any other contract or otherwise, except with respect to any excess amount beyond the amount so received by such director or officer. The indemnification agreements will require us, to the extent that we maintain an insurance policy or policies providing liability insurance for directors, officers, employees, agents or fiduciaries of our Company or of any other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefits plan or other enterprise that such person serves at the request of our Company, to cover such person by such policy or policies to the maximum extent available.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with certain of our executive officers that provide for salary, bonus and severance compensation. For more information regarding these employment agreements, see "Executive Compensation—Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Employment Agreements".

Equity Issued to Executive Officers and Directors

We have granted RSUs and PRSUs to our executive officers and directors in 2019, as more fully described in "Executive Compensation—Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2019" and "Director Compensation".

Subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group

Until April 4, 2019, due to the size of its voting and economic interest in our Company, we were deemed to be controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group and were therefore considered to be a non-bank "subsidiary" of The Goldman Sachs Group under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (the "BHC Act"). The BHC Act imposes regulations and requirements on The Goldman Sachs Group and on any company that is deemed to be controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group under the BHC Act and the regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, or the Federal Reserve. As of April 4, 2019, we were no longer subject to this regulatory regime because The Goldman Sachs Group was no longer deemed to control us for purposes of the BHC Act.

As a controlled non-bank subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, we were previously restricted from engaging in activities that are not permissible under the BHC Act, or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Additionally, we were subject to examination by the Federal Reserve and required to provide information and reports for use by the Federal Reserve under the BHC Act. Until April 4, 2019, we were subject to certain covenants primarily for the benefit of The Goldman Sachs Group that were intended to facilitate its compliance with the BHC Act, but that could have imposed certain obligations on our Company, as further described below.

Corporate Governance

In connection with our IPO, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement, or the "Investor Rights Agreement", with the Holders (as defined therein), which we subsequently amended in February 2015.

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, as amended, certain Holders have the right, subject to various conditions and limitations, to include their shares in registration statements relating to our securities. The holders of at least 66 2/3% of the then outstanding shares subject to these registration rights have the right to demand that we register such shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the "Securities Act", with respect to shares having an aggregate offering price of at least \$5,000,000, and subject to other limitations. In addition, these holders are entitled to piggyback registration rights with respect to the registration under the Securities Act of shares of common stock. In the event that we propose to register any shares of common stock under the Securities Act either for our account or for the account of other security holders, the holders of shares having piggyback registration rights are entitled to receive notice of such registration and to include shares in any such registration, subject to limitations. Further, at any time after we become eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3, the holders of at least 5% of the shares subject to these registration rights may require us to file registration statements under the Securities Act on Form S-3 with respect to shares of common stock having an aggregate offering price, net of selling expenses, of at least \$5,000,000. To the extent that we qualify as a wellknown seasoned issuer at the time a requisite number of holders demand the registration of shares subject to these registration rights, we will file an automatic shelf registration statement covering the shares for which registration is demanded if so requested by the holders of such shares. These registration rights are subject to conditions and limitations, among them the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares of common stock held by such security holders to be included in such registration. We are generally required to bear all of the expenses of such registrations, including reasonable fees of a single counsel acting on behalf of all selling Holders, except underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes applicable to the sale.

Additionally, until April 4, 2019, because of The Goldman Sachs Group's status as a bank holding company under the BHC Act, we were subject to certain covenants in the Investor Rights Agreement, as amended, for the benefit of The Goldman Sachs Group (and in certain instances Mercer) that were intended to facilitate compliance with the BHC Act. These covenants addressed the right to conduct audits on, and access certain information of our Company; the right to review the policies and procedures that we implemented to comply with the laws and regulations that related to our activities; notice rights of certain events and business activities and the obligation to cooperate to mitigate potential adverse consequences resulting therefrom. These covenants remained in effect until April 4, 2019, the date that the Federal Reserve deemed us to no longer be a "subsidiary" of The Goldman Sachs Group under the BHC Act.

Mercer LLC Investment

On February 24, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Mercer, a wholly owned subsidiary of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Investor"). Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, we sold and issued to the Investor 2,817,526 shares of our common stock for \$26.50 per share or an aggregate of \$74,664,439. At the same time, we also issued Mercer a warrant (the "Warrant") to purchase an additional 580,813 shares of our common stock for \$26.50 per share at any time

during the 30-month term of the Warrant, which has since expired. The Securities Purchase Agreement terminated on April 19, 2019, and until its termination, provided as follows:

Board Observer Right. Until the earlier of (i) the expiration or termination of the Alliance Agreement (as defined below) and (ii) the first date on which the Investor and its affiliates own less than (A) 75% of the shares of our common stock acquired on February 24, 2015 or (B) 5% of our common stock outstanding, in each case in this clause (ii), for a period of at least 45 consecutive days (the "Termination Date"), the Investor was entitled to designate an observer as outlined in the Securities Purchase Agreement, to attend all meetings of the board of directors and its committees, subject to certain exceptions. The Termination Date occurred on April 19, 2019, when Investor and its affiliates owned both (A) less than 75% of the shares of our common stock acquired on February 24, 2015 and (B) less than 5% of our common stock outstanding, for a period of 45 consecutive days.

Standstill. Until the Termination Date, and subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Securities Purchase Agreement, the Investor and its affiliates were restricted from, among other things, acquiring additional shares of our common stock such that they beneficially owned more than 17.5% of our common stock outstanding without consent of the board of directors, proposing to enter into, directly or indirectly, any merger or business combination involving our Company, taking certain actions to seek control of our management, board of directors or policies, soliciting proxies with respect to our common stock, or joining a group for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of our common stock. These standstill restrictions would have immediately terminated in circumstances including, but not limited to, any public third-party proposal or announcement relating to a merger or business combination with our Company or certain third parties acquiring shares representing 15% or more of our common stock outstanding.

<u>Right of Notice</u>. Until the Termination Date, in the event that the board of directors initiated or participated in a process with respect to a transaction that would have resulted in a sale of substantially all the assets of our Company or would have resulted in a change of control of our Company, the Investor was entitled to notice of such process and to participate in such process on terms at least as favorable as the most favorable terms offered to any third party participating therein.

In addition, for the same period, we agreed not to enter into any agreement providing for a change of control, unless we notified the Investor in writing at least five business days before taking such action, and considered in good faith any offer or proposal made by the Investor within such period.

Right of First Offer. Until the Termination Date, we granted the Investor a right of first offer with respect to certain new issuances of our equity securities, as had our majority stockholder and other large stockholders with respect to sales of their shares of our common stock pursuant to a Right of First Offer Agreement. In general, we and the applicable stockholders were required to offer the Investor the right to purchase any shares of our common stock or other equity securities of our Company that we or such stockholders proposed to issue or sell, at a price we or the stockholders, as applicable, specified, and if the Investor declined to purchase such shares or other securities at such price, we or the stockholders could have issued or sold such securities to one or more third parties at a price no less than the price offered to the Investor. These rights of first offer were subject to the limitation on acquisitions of additional shares of common stock by the Investor under the standstill restrictions described above, and were also subject to certain other exceptions, including only applying to 50% of shares or other securities proposed to be sold by any stockholder in a registered offering or certain other similar forms of sales.

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, we entered into an amendment of the Mercer Exchange Software as a Service Agreement, as amended to date, (the "Alliance Agreement"), with Mercer Health & Benefits LLC, an affiliate of the Investor ("Mercer Health"). The amendment to the Alliance Agreement, among other things, expanded certain terms and conditions of the existing relationship between our Company and Mercer Health. Revenue from Mercer was approximately \$26.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Alliance Agreement was further amended on January 15, 2019, which, we believe will lead to a reduction in our revenue from the relationship, but will ultimately provide long-term opportunities for us to sell more broadly across the broker channel.

Procedures for Approval of Related Party Transactions

Our audit committee, pursuant to its written charter, is responsible for reviewing and approving or ratifying any related party transaction reaching a certain threshold of significance. In the course of its review and approval or ratification of a related party transaction, the committee, among other things, considers, consistent with Item 404 of Regulation S-K, the following:

- the nature and amount of the related person's interest in the transaction;
- the material terms of the transaction, including, without limitation, the amount and type of transaction; and
- any other matters our audit committee deems appropriate.

Any member of our audit committee who is a related person with respect to a transaction under review will not be permitted to participate in the deliberations or vote regarding approval or ratification of the transaction. However, such director may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the committee that considers the transaction.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

Our compensation committee consists of Ms. White (Chair) and Messrs. Dennerline and Pelzer. A. Lanham Napier served on our compensation committee until he stepped down from the committee on January 15, 2019 when Ms. White joined. Mr. Swad served on our compensation committee until he resigned from being our director when he assumed the role of our Chief Financial Officer in July 2019. None of our executive officers serves as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee (or other committee performing equivalent functions) of another entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our board of directors or compensation committee. No interlocking relationship exists between any member of our board of directors or any member of the compensation committee (or other committee performing equivalent functions) of any other company.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Stockholders may present proposals for action at meetings of stockholders only if they comply with the proxy rules established by the SEC, applicable Delaware law and our bylaws. We have not received any stockholder proposals for consideration at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held June 11, 2020.

Under SEC Rule 14a-8, in order for a stockholder proposal to be included in our proxy solicitation materials for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, it must be delivered to our principal executive offices located at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492 by December 30, 2020; provided, however, that if the date of the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is more than 30 days before or 60 days after June 11, 2021, notice by the stockholder must be delivered not later than the close of business no earlier than the 120th day prior to the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or the later of (1) the 90th day prior to the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or (2) the 10th day following the first public announcement of the date of the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Our bylaws permit any stockholder of record to nominate directors. Stockholders wishing to nominate a director must deliver written notice of the nomination either by personal delivery or by U.S. certified mail, postage prepaid, to the Corporate Secretary (i) with respect to an election to be held at an annual meeting of stockholders, not more than 90 and not less than 60 days before the meeting at which directors are to be elected, and (ii) with respect to an election to be held at a special meeting of stockholders called for the purpose of the election of directors, not later than the close of business on the 10th business day following the date on which notice of such meeting is first given to stockholders. Stockholder notices must set forth the specific information as more fully described in our bylaws and in "Corporate Governance—Selection of Nominees for the board of directors".

Management's proxy holders for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will have discretion to vote proxies given to them on any stockholder proposal of which our Company does not have notice prior to March 15, 2021.

HOUSEHOLDING MATTERS

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies to deliver a single Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or a single copy of proxy materials to multiple stockholders sharing an address unless a company has received contrary instructions from one or more of the stockholders at that address. This means that only one copy of the Notice of Internet Availability may have been sent to multiple stockholders in your household. If you would prefer to receive separate copies of the Notice of Internet Availability and/or the proxy materials either now or in the future, please contact our Corporate Secretary either by calling 1-843-849-7476 or by mailing a request to Attn: Corporate Secretary, 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492. Upon written or oral request to the Corporate Secretary, our Company will provide a separate copy of the Annual Report and this Proxy Statement and Notice. In addition, stockholders at a shared address who receive multiple Notices of Internet Availability or multiple copies of proxy statements may request to receive a single Notice of Internet Availability or a single copy of proxy statements in the future in the same manner as described above.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 as filed with the SEC is accessible free of charge on our website at www.benefitfocus.com under Company—Investors—Finances—Annual Meeting Materials. The Annual Report on Form 10-K contains audited consolidated balance sheets of our Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' deficit and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019. You can request a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K free of charge by calling 1-843-849-7476 or sending an e-mail to ir@benefitfocus.com. Please include your contact information with the request.

OTHER MATTERS

Other than those matters set forth in this Proxy Statement, we do not know of any additional matters to be submitted at the meeting. If any other matters properly come before the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, it is the intention of the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy to vote the shares they represent as the board of directors recommends.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dated: April 29, 2020

DIRECTIONS TO THE ANNUAL MEETING

Benefitfocus, Inc. 100 Benefitfocus Way Charleston, South Carolina 29492

From the Airport

Follow the signs out of the airport to I-526 East. Follow I-526 East to Exit 24 (Daniel Island). Take your first right onto Fairchild Street. Take your first left onto Benefitfocus Way. Once you turn left onto Benefitfocus Way, you will pass the Benefitfocus Design & Engineering Building on your right and continue straight to reach our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way.

From Downtown Charleston

Go north on Meeting Street toward I-26. Follow the road under the overpass and bear left onto I-26 West. Take I-26 West to I-526 East. Continue on I-526 East and take Exit 24 (Daniel Island). Take your first right onto Fairchild Street. Take your first left onto Benefitfocus Way. Once you turn left onto Benefitfocus Way, you will pass the Benefitfocus Design & Engineering Building on your right and continue straight to reach our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way.

From South of Charleston

Take Highway 17 North to Charleston. When entering Charleston city limits, watch for sign: North Charleston 526E Right Lane. Stay in the right lane and continue on I-526 East. Follow I-526 East and take Exit 24 (Daniel Island). Take your first right onto Fairchild Street. Take your first left onto Benefitfocus Way. Once you turn left onto Benefitfocus Way, you will pass the Benefitfocus Design & Engineering Building on your right and continue straight to reach our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way.

From North of Charleston

Take Highway 17 South to Charleston. Turn right onto I-526 West. Take Exit 24 (Daniel Island). Turn right onto Island Park Drive. Turn Right onto River Landing Drive. Take your first left onto Fairchild Street. Take your first left onto Benefitfocus Way. Once you turn left onto Benefitfocus Way, you will pass the Benefitfocus Design & Engineering Building on your right and continue straight to reach our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way.

From West of Charleston

Take I-26 East to Charleston. Exit onto I-526 East. Continue on I-526 East to Exit 24 (Daniel Island). Take your first right onto Fairchild Street. Take your first left onto Benefitfocus Way. Once you turn left onto Benefitfocus Way, you will pass the Benefitfocus Design & Engineering Building on your right and continue straight to reach our principal executive offices at 100 Benefitfocus Way.

BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED 2012 STOCK PLAN, AS AMENDED

Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan Approved by the Board and Stockholders on April 15, 2019 and May 31, 2019, respectively

Amendment to Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan Approved by the Board and Stockholders on April 13, 2020 and ●, 2020, respectively

- 1. <u>Purpose</u>. This Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended (the "*Plan*") is intended to provide incentives:
- (a) to employees of Benefitfocus, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "*Company*"), or its parent (if any) or any of its present or future subsidiaries (collectively, "Related Corporations"), by providing them with opportunities to purchase Common Stock (as defined below) of the Company pursuant to options granted hereunder that qualify as "incentive stock options" ("*ISOs*") under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor statute (the "*Code*");
- (b) to directors, employees and consultants of the Company and Related Corporations by providing them with opportunities to purchase Common Stock of the Company pursuant to options granted hereunder that do not qualify as ISOs (Nonstatutory Stock Options, or "NSOs");
- (c) to employees and consultants of the Company and Related Corporations by providing them with bonus awards of Common Stock of the Company ("Stock Bonuses");
- (d) to employees and consultants of the Company and Related Corporations by providing them with opportunities to make direct purchases of Common Stock of the Company ("*Purchase Rights*"); and
- (e) to employees and consultants of the Company and Related Corporations by providing them with the right to receive, without payment to the Company, a number of shares of Common Stock, cash, or any combination thereof determined pursuant to a formula specified herein ("SARs").

Both ISOs and NSOs are referred to hereafter individually as "*Options*," and Options, Stock Bonuses, Purchase Rights and SARs are referred to hereafter collectively as "*Stock Rights*." As used herein, the terms "parent" and "subsidiary" mean "parent corporation" and "subsidiary corporation," respectively, as those terms are defined in Section 424 of the Code.

2. Administration of the Plan.

(a) The Plan shall be administered by (i) the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") or (ii) a committee consisting of directors or other persons appointed by the Board (the "Committee"). The appointment of the members of, and the delegation of powers to, the Committee by the Board shall be consistent with applicable laws and regulations (including, without limitation, the Code, Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or any successor rule thereto ("Rule 16b-3"), and any applicable state law (collectively, the "Applicable Laws"). Once appointed, such Committee shall continue to serve in its designated capacity until otherwise directed by the Board. From time to time, the Board may increase the size of the Committee and appoint additional members thereof, remove members (with or without cause) and appoint new members in substitution therefor, fill vacancies, however caused, and remove all members of the Committee and thereafter directly administer the Plan, all to the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws.

- (b) Subject to ratification of the grant or authorization of each Stock Right by the Board (if so required by an Applicable Law), and subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee, if so appointed, shall have the authority, in its discretion, to:
- (i) determine the employees of the Company and Related Corporations (from among the class of employees eligible under Section 3 to receive ISOs) to whom ISOs may be granted, and to determine (from among the classes of individuals and entities eligible under Section 3 to receive NSOs, Stock Bonuses, Purchase Rights and SARs) to whom NSOs, Stock Bonuses, Purchase Rights and SARs may be granted;
- (ii) determine the time or times at which Options, Stock Bonuses, Purchase Rights or SARs may be granted (which may be based on performance criteria);
- (iii) determine the number of shares of Common Stock subject to any Stock Right granted by the Committee;
- (iv) determine the option price of shares subject to each Option, which price shall not be less than the minimum price specified in Section 6 hereof, as appropriate, the purchase price of shares subject to each Purchase Right and the exercise price of each SAR, and to determine the form of consideration to be paid to the Company for exercise of such Option or purchase of shares with respect to a Purchase Right;
 - (v) determine whether each Option granted shall be an ISO or NSO;
- (vi) determine (subject to Sections 7 and 8 below) the time or times when each Option shall become exercisable, the duration of the Option exercise period, and the vesting schedule of Stock Rights other than Options, provided, however, that in any event the minimum vesting period for all Stock Rights granted under the Plan after the Effective Date will be at least twelve (12) months from the applicable date of grant such that no portion of any such Stock Right will vest or become exercisable prior to the first anniversary of the date of grant of such Stock Right;
- (vii) determine whether restrictions such as repurchase options are to be imposed on shares subject to Options, Stock Bonuses and Purchase Rights and the nature of such restrictions, if any;
 - (viii) approve forms of agreement for use under the Plan;
- $\mbox{(ix) determine the Fair Market Value (as defined in Section 6(d) below) of a Stock Right} \mbox{ or the Common Stock underlying a Stock Right;} \label{eq:common Stock}$
- (x) accelerate vesting on any Stock Right or to waive any forfeiture restrictions applicable thereto (notwithstanding the minimum vesting requirement set forth in Section 2(b)(vi) above), or to waive any other limitation or restriction with respect to a Stock Right;
- (xi) modify or amend each Stock Right (subject to Section 8(d) of the Plan) including the discretionary authority to extend the post-termination exercisability period of Stock Rights longer than is otherwise provided for by terms of the Plan or the Stock Right;
- (xii) construe and interpret the Plan and Stock Rights granted hereunder and prescribe and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan; and
- (xiii) make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan.

If the Committee determines to issue a NSO, it shall take whatever actions it deems necessary, under Section 422 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, to ensure that such Option is not treated as an ISO. The interpretation and construction by the Committee of any provisions of the Plan or of any Stock Right granted under it shall be final unless otherwise determined by the Board. The Committee may from

time to time adopt such rules and regulations for carrying out the Plan as it may deem best. No member of the Board or the Committee shall be liable for any action or determination made in good faith with respect to the Plan or any Stock Right granted under it.

- (c) The Committee may select one of its members as its chairman, and shall hold meetings at such times and places as it may determine. The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings and shall make such rules and regulations for the conduct of its business as it may deem necessary. The Committee shall have the power to act by written consent in lieu of a meeting and to meet telephonically. Acts by a majority of the Committee, approved in person at a meeting or in writing, shall be the valid acts of the Committee. All references in this Plan to the Committee shall mean the Board if no Committee has been appointed.
- (d) Those provisions of the Plan that make express reference to Rule 16b-3 shall apply to the Company only at such time as the Company's Common Stock is registered under the Exchange Act, and then only to such persons as are required to file reports under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (a "*Reporting Person*").
- (e) With respect to Stock Rights granted pursuant to written binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017 and intended to qualify as "performance-based" compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act), the Plan shall be administered by a committee consisting of two or more "outside directors" as determined under Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act).

3. Eligible Employees and Others.

- (a) <u>Eligibility</u>. ISOs may be granted to any employee of the Company or any Related Corporation. Those officers of the Company who are not employees may not be granted ISOs under the Plan. NSOs, Stock Bonuses, Purchase Rights and SARs may be granted to any director, employee or consultant of the Company or any Related Corporation. Granting of any Stock Right to any individual or entity shall neither entitle that individual or entity to, nor disqualify him or her from, participation in any other grant of Stock Rights.
- (b) Special Rule for Grant of Stock Rights to Reporting Persons. The selection of a director or an officer who is a Reporting Person (as the terms "director" and "officer" are defined for purposes of Rule 16b-3) as a recipient of a Stock Right, the timing of the Stock Right grant, the exercise price, if any, of the Stock Right and the number of shares subject to the Stock Right shall be determined either (i) by the Board or (ii) by a committee of the Board that is composed solely of two or more Non-Employee Directors having full authority to act in the matter. For the purposes of the Plan, a director shall be deemed to be a "Non-Employee Director" only if such person is defined as such under Rule 16b-3(b)(3), as interpreted from time to time.
- (c) Annual Limitation for Employees. To the extent the Company is subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, no employee shall be eligible to be granted Stock Rights covering more than 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock during any calendar year. The foregoing limitation shall be adjusted proportionately in connection with any change in the Company's capitalization pursuant to Section 13 below.
- 4. Stock. The stock subject to Stock Rights shall be authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock of the Company, no par value per share, or such shares of the Company's capital stock into which such class of shares may be converted pursuant to any reorganization, recapitalization, merger, consolidation or the like (the "Common Stock"), or shares of Common Stock reacquired by the Company in any manner. The aggregate number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the Plan is 12,729,525 shares of Common Stock, less any shares issued or subject to outstanding Options under the Company's Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plan"), subject to adjustment as provided herein. Any such shares may be issued as ISOs, NSOs or Stock Bonuses, or to persons or entities making purchases pursuant to Purchase Rights or exercises pursuant to SARs, so long as the number of shares so issued does not exceed such aggregate number, as adjusted. For avoidance of doubt, the maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issued pursuant to ISOs under the Plan is 12,729,525 shares of Common Stock, less any shares issued or subject to outstanding Options under the

2000 Plan, subject to adjustment as provided herein. To the extent that cash in lieu of shares of Common Stock is delivered upon the exercise of an SAR pursuant to Section 15, the Company shall be deemed, for purposes of applying the limitation on the number of shares, to have issued the greater of the number of shares of Common Stock which it was entitled to issue upon such exercise or on the exercise of any related Option. If any Option or SAR granted under the Plan or under the 2000 Plan shall expire or terminate for any reason without having been exercised in full or shall cease for any reason to be exercisable in whole or in part, or if the Company shall reacquire any shares issued pursuant to Stock Rights, the unpurchased shares subject to such Options and SARs and any shares so reacquired by the Company shall again be available for grants of Stock Rights under the Plan. Shares of Common Stock which are withheld to pay the exercise price of an Option and/or any related withholding obligations shall not be available for issuance under the Plan.

5. Granting of Stock Rights. Stock Rights may be granted under the Plan at any time after the Effective Date, as set forth in Section 16, and prior to 10 years thereafter. The date of grant of a Stock Right under the Plan will be the date specified by the Board or Committee at the time it grants the Stock Right; provided, however, that such date shall not be prior to the date on which the Board or Committee acts. The Board or Committee shall have the right, with the consent of the optionee, to convert an ISO granted under the Plan to an NSO pursuant to Section 17.

6. Minimum Price; ISO Limitations.

- (a) The price per share specified in the agreement relating to each NSO, Stock Bonus, Purchase Right or SAR granted under the Plan shall be established by the Board or Committee, taking into account any noncash consideration to be received by the Company from the recipient of Stock Rights, provided, however, that with respect to NSOs and SARs, the exercise price per share specified in the agreement relating to each NSO and SAR granted under the Plan shall not be less than the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of such grant.
- (b) The price per share specified in the agreement relating to each ISO granted under the Plan shall not be less than the Fair Market Value per share of the Common Stock on the date of such grant. In the case of an ISO to be granted to an employee owning stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Related Corporation, the price per share specified in the agreement relating to such ISO shall not be less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per share of such Common Stock on the date of the grant.
- (c) To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined at the time an ISO is granted) of Common Stock for which ISOs granted to any employee are exercisable for the first time by such employee during any calendar year (under all stock option plans of the Company and any Related Corporation) exceeds \$100,000; or such higher value as permitted under Code Section 422 at the time of determination, such Options will be treated as NSOs, provided that this Section shall have no force or effect to the extent that its inclusion in the Plan is not necessary for Options issued as ISOs to qualify as ISOs pursuant to Section 422 of the Code. The rule of this Section 6(c) shall be applied by taking Options in the order in which they were granted.
- (d) "Fair Market Value" on any date means (i) if the Common Stock is readily tradable on an established securities market (as defined in Section 1.897-1(m) of the final regulations issued by the United States Department of the Treasury pursuant to the Code (the "Treasury Regulations"), the closing sales price of the Common Stock on the trading day immediately preceding such date on the securities exchange having the greatest volume of trading in the Common Stock during the thirty-day period preceding the day the value is to be determined or, if such exchange was not open for trading on such date, the next preceding date on which it was open; (ii) if the Common Stock is not traded on an established securities market (as defined in Section 1.897-1(m) of the Treasury Regulations), the fair market value as determined in good faith by the Board of the Committee by application of a reasonable valuation method consistently applied and taking into consideration all available information material to the value of the Company; factors to be considered may include, as applicable, the value of tangible and intangible assets of the Company, the present value of future

cash-flows of the Company, the market value of stock or equity interests in similar corporations which can be readily determined through objective means (such as through trading prices on an established securities market or an amount paid in an arm's length private transaction), and other relevant factors such as control premiums or discounts for lack of marketability. This paragraph is intended to comply with the definition of "fair market value" contained in Section 1.409A-1(b)(5)(iv) of the Treasury Regulations, and will be interpreted consistently therewith.

- 7. Option Duration. Subject to earlier termination as provided in Sections 9 and 10, each Option shall expire on the date specified by the Board or Committee, but not more than:
 - (a) 10 years from the date of grant in the case of NSOs;
 - (b) 10 years from the date of grant in the case of ISOs generally; and
- (c) five years from the date of grant in the case of ISOs granted to an employee owning stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Related Corporation.

Subject to earlier termination as provided in Sections 9 and 10, the term of each ISO shall be the term set forth in the original instrument granting such ISO, except with respect to any part of such ISO that is converted into an NSO pursuant to Section 17.

- 8. Exercise of Options. Subject to the provisions of Section 9 through Section 12 of the Plan, each Option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable as follows:
- (a) Options shall become exercisable in such installments as the Board or Committee may specify, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 2(b)(vi) above;
- (b) once an installment becomes exercisable it shall remain exercisable until expiration or termination of the Option, unless otherwise specified by the Board or Committee;
- (c) each Option or installment may be exercised at any time or from time to time, in whole or in part, for up to the total number of shares with respect to which it is then exercisable; and
- (d) the Board or Committee shall have the right to accelerate the date of exercise of any installment of any Option, provided that the Board or Committee shall not accelerate the exercise date of any installment of any ISO granted to any employee (and not previously converted into an NSO pursuant to Section 17) without the prior consent of such employee if such acceleration would violate the annual vesting limitation contained in Section 422 of the Code, as described in Section 6(c).
- 9. Effect of Termination of Continuous Service. If a grantee's Continuous Service (as defined below) to the Company and all Related Corporations ends for any reason other than by reason of death or disability as defined in Section 10, then unless otherwise specified in the instrument granting such Stock Right, the grantee shall have the continued right to exercise any Stock Right held by him or her, to the extent of the number of shares with respect to which he or she could have exercised it on the date of termination until the Stock Right's specified expiration date; provided, however, in the event the grantee exercises any ISO after the date that is three months following the date of termination of such grantee's employment, such ISO will automatically be converted into an NSO subject to the terms of the Plan. The Committee may provide in an award agreement that a grantee's right to exercise a Stock Right will end immediately upon the date of termination of Continuous Service if such termination is For Cause (as defined below).
- (a) As used herein, the term "Continuous Service" means the provision of services to the Company or a Related Corporation in any capacity of employee, director or consultant that is not interrupted or terminated. A grantee's Continuous Service will be deemed to have terminated either upon an actual termination

of Continuous Service or upon the entity for which the grantee provides services ceasing to be a Related Corporation. Continuous Service shall not be considered interrupted in the case of (i) any approved leave of absence (as described below), (ii) transfers among the Company, any Related Corporation, or any successor in any capacity of employee, director or consultant, or (iii) any change in status as long as the individual remains in the service of the Company or a Related Corporation in any capacity of employee, director or consultant (provided, however that a change in status from an employee to consultant may cause an ISO to become an NSO under the Code). ISOs granted under the Plan shall not be affected by any change of employment within or among the Company and Related Corporations, so long as the optionee continues to be an employee of the Company or any Related Corporation.

(b) Continuous Service shall be considered as continuing uninterrupted during any bona fide leave of absence (such as those attributable to illness, military obligations or other authorized personal leave) where there is a reasonable expectation that the grantee will return to provide services for the Company or a Related Corporation, and provided that the period of such leave does not exceed 90 days or, if longer, any period during which such grantee's right to reemployment with the Company is guaranteed by statute or by contract.

NOTHING IN THE PLAN SHALL BE DEEMED TO GIVE ANY GRANTEE OF ANY STOCK RIGHT THE RIGHT TO BE RETAINED IN EMPLOYMENT OR OTHER SERVICE BY THE COMPANY OR ANY RELATED CORPORATION FOR ANY PERIOD OF TIME OR TO AFFECT THE AT-WILL NATURE OF ANY EMPLOYEE'S EMPLOYMENT.

10. Death; Disability.

- (a) If a grantee's Continuous Service ends by reason of death, or if a grantee dies within three months of the date his or her Continuous Service ends, any Stock Right held by him or her may be exercised to the extent of the number of shares with respect to which he or she could have exercised said Stock Right on the date of death, by his or her estate, personal representative or beneficiary who has acquired the Stock Right by will or by the laws of descent and distribution (the "Successor Grantee"), unless otherwise specified in the instrument granting such Stock Right, prior to the earlier of (i) one year after the date of termination or (ii) the Stock Right's specified expiration date; provided, however, that a Successor Grantee shall be entitled to ISO treatment under Section 421 of the Code only if the deceased optionee would have been entitled to like treatment had he or she exercised such Option on the date of his or her death; and provided further in the event the Successor Grantee exercises an ISO after the date that is one year following the date of termination by reason of death, such ISO will automatically be converted into a NSO subject to the terms of the Plan.
- (b) If a grantee ceases to be employed by the Company and all Related Corporations by reason of disability, he or she shall continue to have the right to exercise any Stock Right held by him or her on the date of termination until, unless otherwise specified in the instrument granting such Stock Right, the earlier of (i) one year after the date of termination or (ii) the Stock Right's specified expiration date; provided, however, in the event the grantee exercises an ISO after the date that is one year following the date of termination by reason of disability, such ISO will automatically be converted into a NSO subject to the terms of the Plan. For the purposes of the Plan, the term "disability" shall mean "permanent and total disability" as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.
- (c) The provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this Section 10 regarding the exercise period of a Stock Right may be waived, extended or further limited, in the discretion of the Board or Committee, in an instrument granting a Stock Right that is not an ISO.

11. Transferability and Assignability of Stock Rights.

(a) Unless approved by the Committee, no ISO granted under this Plan shall be assignable or otherwise transferable by the optionee except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. An ISO may be exercised during the lifetime of the optionee only by the optionee.

- (b) Unless approved by the Committee, no NSO, Purchase Right or SAR may be transferable by the grantee except (i) to the grantee's family members or (ii) by will or by the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as defined in the Code or Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, or the rules thereunder. For purposes of the Plan, a grantee's "family members" shall be deemed to consist of his or her spouse, parents, children, grandparents, grandchildren and any trusts created for the benefit of such individuals. A family member to whom any such Stock Right has been transferred pursuant to this Section 11(b) shall be hereinafter referred to as a "*Permitted Transferee*". A Stock Right shall be transferred to a Permitted Transferee in accordance with the foregoing provisions, and subject to all the provisions of the Stock Right Agreement and this Plan, by the execution by the grantee and the transferee of an assignment in writing in such form approved by the Board or the Committee. The Company shall not be required to recognize the rights of a Permitted Transferee until such time as it receives a copy of the assignment from the grantee.
- 12. Terms and Conditions of Stock Rights. Stock Rights shall be evidenced by instruments (which need not be identical) in such forms as the Board or Committee may from time to time approve. Such instruments shall conform to the terms and conditions set forth in Sections 6 through 11 and Section 15 hereof and may contain such other provisions as the Board or Committee deems advisable that are not inconsistent with the Plan, including restrictions (or other conditions deemed by the Board or Committee to be in the best interests of the Company) applicable to the exercise of Options or to shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of Options. In granting any NSO, the Board or Committee may specify that such NSO shall be subject to the restrictions set forth herein with respect to ISOs, or to such other termination and cancellation provisions as the Board or Committee may determine. The Board or Committee may from time to time confer authority and responsibility on one or more of its own members and/or one or more officers of the Company to execute and deliver such instruments. The proper officers of the Company are authorized and directed to take any and all action necessary or advisable from time to time to carry out the terms of such instruments.
- 13. <u>Adjustments</u>. Upon the occurrence of any of the following events, the rights of a recipient of a Stock Right granted hereunder shall be adjusted as hereinafter provided, unless otherwise provided in the written agreement between the recipient and the Company relating to such Stock Right.
- (a) If the shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided or combined into a greater or smaller number of shares or if the Company shall issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend on its outstanding Common Stock, then: (i) the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under Section 4 of this Plan will be appropriately adjusted, (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon the exercise of outstanding Stock Rights shall be appropriately increased or decreased proportionately, and (iii) appropriate adjustments shall be made in the purchase price (if any) per share to reflect such subdivision, combination or stock dividend.
- (b) If the Company is to be consolidated with or acquired by another entity in a merger, sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets or otherwise (an "Acquisition"), unless otherwise provided by the Board or Committee, in its sole discretion, the Board or Committee or the board of directors of any entity assuming the obligations of the Company hereunder (the "Successor Board") shall, as to outstanding Stock Rights, make appropriate provision for the continuation of such Stock Rights by either assumption of such Stock Rights or by substitution of such Stock Rights with an equivalent award. For Stock Rights that are so assumed or substituted, in the event of a termination of grantee's Continuous Service by the Company or its successor other than For Cause (as defined below) or by grantee for Good Reason (as defined below) within 60 days prior to and 180 days after an Acquisition, all Stock Rights held by such grantee shall become vested and immediately and fully exercisable and all forfeiture restrictions shall be waived. If the Board, the Committee, or the Successor Board does not make appropriate provisions for the continuation of such Stock Rights by either assumption or substitution, unless otherwise provided by the Board or Committee in its sole discretion, Stock Rights shall become vested and fully and immediately exercisable and all forfeiture restrictions shall be waived and all Stock Rights not exercised at the time of the closing of such Acquisition shall terminate notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 9 hereof.

For purposes of this Plan, "For Cause" shall mean the termination of a grantee's status as an employee, a director or consultant (as applicable) for any of the following reasons, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; provided, that, with respect to an employee that is party to an agreement with the Company where a termination for cause is defined in such agreement, the definition in such agreement shall govern the determination under this Section 13: (i) a grantee who is a consultant and who commits a material breach of any consulting, noncompetition, confidentiality or similar agreement with the Company or a subsidiary, as determined under such agreement; (ii) a grantee who is an employee or a consultant and who is convicted (including a trial, plea of guilty or plea of nolo contendere) for committing an act of fraud, embezzlement, theft, or other act constituting a felony; (iii) a grantee who is an employee or a consultant and who willfully engages in gross misconduct or willfully violates a Company or a subsidiary policy in any material respect; (iv) a grantee who is an employee and who fails to follow the reasonable instructions of the Board or such grantee's direct supervisor, which failure, if curable, is not cured within ten (10) days after notice to such grantee or, if cured, recurs within one hundred eighty (180) days; or (v) a grantee who is an employee and who commits a material breach of any noncompetition, confidentiality or similar agreement with the Company or a subsidiary, as determined under such agreement.

For purposes of this Plan, a termination for "Good Reason" shall mean the resignation of an employee within 30 days after the following actions: (i) without the express written consent of employee, the Company assigns duties which are materially inconsistent with employee's position, duties and status; (ii) any action by the Company which results in a material diminution in the position, duties or status of employee or any transfer or proposed transfer of employee for any extended period to a location more than 35 miles away from such employees' principal place of employment, except for a transfer or proposed transfer for strategic reallocations of the personnel reporting to employee; or (iii) the Company reduces the base annual salary of employee, as the same may hereafter be increased from time to time.

- (c) In the event of a transaction, including without limitation, a recapitalization or reorganization of the Company (other than a transaction described in subsection (b) above) pursuant to which securities of the Company or of another corporation are issued with respect to the outstanding shares of Common Stock, an optionee or grantee upon exercising an a Stock Right shall be entitled to receive for the purchase price paid upon such exercise the securities he or she would have received if he or she had exercised the Stock Right immediately prior to such recapitalization or reorganization.
- (d) In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, each Stock Right will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action or at such other time and subject to such other conditions as shall be determined by the Board or Committee.
- (e) Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares subject to Stock Right. No adjustments shall be made for dividends paid in cash or in property other than Common Stock of the Company.
- (f) No fractional shares shall be issued under the Plan and any optionee who would otherwise be entitled to receive a fraction of a share upon exercise of a Stock Right shall receive from the Company cash in lieu of such fractional shares in an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of such fractional shares, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board or Committee.
- (g) Upon the happening of any of the foregoing events described in subsections (a), (b) or (c) above, the class and aggregate number of shares set forth in Section 4 hereof that are subject to Stock Rights that previously have been or subsequently may be granted under the Plan shall also be appropriately adjusted to reflect the events described. The Board or Committee or the Successor Board shall determine the specific adjustments to be made under this Section 13 and, subject to Section 2, its determination shall be conclusive.

14. Means of Exercising Stock Rights; Settlement of Stock Rights in Shares of Company Stock.

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or the instrument evidencing the Stock Right, a Stock Right (or any part or installment thereof) shall be exercised by giving written notice to the Company at its principal office address to the attention of its President. Such notice shall identify the Stock Right being exercised and specify the number of shares as to which such Stock Right is being exercised, accompanied by full payment of the exercise price therefor, if any, payable as follows (a) in United States dollars in cash or by check, (b) at the discretion of the Board or Committee, by delivery of the grantee's personal recourse note bearing interest payable not less than annually at a market rate that is no less than 100% of the lowest applicable Federal rate, as defined in Section 1274(d) of the Code, (c) at the discretion of the Board or Committee, through the surrender of shares of Common Stock then issuable upon exercise of the Stock Right having a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Stock Right and/or any related withholding tax obligations, (d) at the discretion of the Board or the Committee, through the delivery of already-owned shares of Common Stock having a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise equal to the aggregate exercise price of the Stock Right and/or any related withholding tax obligations, (e) at the discretion of the Board or Committee, delivery of a notice that the grantee has placed a market sell order with a broker with respect to shares of Common Stock then issuable upon exercise of the Stock Right and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of the net proceeds of the sale to the Company in satisfaction of the Stock Right exercise price, provided that payment of such proceeds is then made to the Company upon settlement of the sale, or (f) at the discretion of the Board or Committee, by any combination of (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e), or such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of shares to the extent permitted by applicable law or the Plan. If the Board or Committee exercises its discretion to permit payment of the exercise price of an ISO by means of the methods set forth in clauses (b), (c), (d), (e) or (f) of the preceding sentence, the term of exercise shall be evidenced by the terms set forth in the written agreement evidencing the grant of the Stock Right. The shares of Common Stock delivered by a grantee pursuant to clause (d) above must have been held by grantee for a period of not less than one year prior to the exercise of the Stock Right, unless otherwise determined by the Board or the Committee.
- (b) The holder of a Stock Right shall not have the rights of a stockholder with respect to the shares covered by the Stock Right until the Stock Right is exercised or settled (as applicable) and the shares with respect to such Stock Right are delivered (as evidenced by the issuance of a stock certificate for such shares, or in the Company's sole discretion, in lieu of the issuance of a certificate, the making of appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). No dividend or dividend equivalent will be paid on any unvested Stock Right, but the Board or Committee may provide in the instrument granting a Stock Right that dividends with respect to unvested portions of Stock Rights may be accrued and paid to the grantee if and when the shares with respect to such Stock Right are delivered. Except as permitted in the preceding sentence and as expressly provided above in Section 13 with respect to changes in capitalization and stock dividends, no adjustment shall be made for dividends or similar rights for which the record date is before the date the shares with respect to such Stock Right are delivered.
- (c) The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificate for shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of any Stock Right granted hereunder or any portion thereof, prior to fulfillment of all of the following conditions:
- (i) the admission of such shares to listing on all stock exchanges on which the Common Stock is listed, if any;
- (ii) the completion of any registration or other qualification of such shares which the Board or Committee shall deem necessary or advisable under any federal or state law or under the rulings or regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") or any other governmental regulatory body, or the determination by the Company, with the advice of legal counsel, that exemptions are available from such registration and qualification;

(iii) the obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any federal or state governmental agency or body which the Board or Committee shall determine to be necessary or advisable; and

(iv) the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the exercise of the Option as the Board or Committee from time to time may establish for reasons of administrative convenience.

- (d) Stock certificates issued and delivered to grantees shall bear such restrictive legends as the Company shall deem necessary or advisable pursuant to applicable federal and state securities laws. The inability of the Company to obtain approval from any regulatory body having authority deemed by the Company to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Common Stock pursuant to Stock Rights shall relieve the Company of any liability with respect to the non-issuance or sale of the Common Stock as to which such approval shall not have been obtained. The Company shall, however, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all such approvals.
- 15. Stock Appreciation Rights. An SAR may be granted (a) with respect to any Option granted under this Plan, either concurrently with the grant of such Option or at such later time as determined by the Committee (as to all or any portion of the shares of Common Stock subject to the Option), or (b) alone, without reference to any related Option. Each SAR granted by the Committee under this Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions. Each SAR granted to any participant shall relate to such number of shares of Common Stock as shall be determined by the Committee, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 13. In the case of an SAR granted with respect to an Option, the number of shares of Common Stock to which the SAR pertains shall be reduced in the same proportion that the holder of the Option exercises the related Option. The exercise price of an SAR will be determined by the Committee, in its discretion, at the date of grant but may not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock subject thereto on the date of grant. Subject to the right of the Committee to deliver cash in lieu of shares of Common Stock (which, as it pertains to officers and directors of the Company, shall comply with all requirements of the Exchange Act), the number of shares of Common Stock which shall be issuable upon the exercise of an SAR shall be determined by dividing:
- (a) the number of shares of Common Stock as to which the SAR is exercised multiplied by the amount of the appreciation in such shares (for this purpose, the "appreciation" shall be the amount by which the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock subject to the SAR on the exercise date exceeds (1) in the case of an SAR related to an Option, the exercise price of the shares of Common Stock under the Option or (2) in the case of an SAR granted alone, without reference to a related Option, an amount which shall be determined by the Committee at the time of grant, subject to adjustment under Section 13); by
 - (b) the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the exercise date.

In lieu of issuing shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of a SAR, the Committee may elect to pay the holder of the SAR cash equal to the Fair Market Value on the exercise date of any or all of the shares which would otherwise be issuable. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon the exercise of an SAR; instead, the holder of the SAR shall be entitled to receive a cash adjustment equal to the same fraction of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the exercise date or to purchase the portion necessary to make a whole share at its Fair Market Value on the date of exercise. The exercise of an SAR related to an Option shall be permitted only to the extent that the Option is exercisable under Section 8 on the date of surrender. Any ISO surrendered pursuant to the provisions of this Section 15 shall be deemed to have been converted into a NSO immediately prior to such surrender.

16. Term and Amendment of Plan. This Plan was initially adopted by the Board on January 31, 2012 and was approved by the stockholders of the Company on November 8, 2012. The Board adopted an amendment to the Plan on August 26, 2013, which amendment was approved by the stockholders of the Company on September 13, 2013. The Board adopted an amendment and restatement of the Plan on March 23, 2017, which amendment and restatement was approved by the stockholders of the Company on June 2, 2017. The Board approved the Second Amended and Restated Plan on April 15, 2019 (the "Effective Date"), which amendment and restatement was subsequently approved by the stockholders of the Company on May 31, 2019. The Plan

shall continue in effect for a term of ten (10) years from the Effective Date unless sooner terminated as provided herein. The expiration of the Plan will not have the effect of terminating any Stock Rights outstanding on such date, except as otherwise provided in the instrument granting such Stock Right. The Board may at any time amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in any respect at any time, subject to any approvals required under the Applicable Laws or any applicable securities exchange listing requirements, except that it may not, without the approval of the stockholders obtained within twelve (12) months before or after the Board adopts a resolution authorizing any of the following actions, do any of the following:

- (a) increase the total number of shares that may be issued under the Plan (except by adjustment pursuant to Section 13);
 - (b) modify the provisions of Section 3 regarding eligibility for grants of ISOs;
- (c) modify the provisions of Section 6(b) regarding the exercise price at which shares may be offered pursuant to ISOs (except by adjustment pursuant to Section 13);
 - (d) extend the expiration date of the Plan; or
- (e) except as provided in Section 13 (including, without limitation, by reason of any stock dividend, stock split, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, or exchange of shares), amend a Stock Right granted under the Plan to reduce its exercise price per share, cancel and regrant a Stock Right with a lower exercise price per share than the original price per share of the cancelled Stock Right, or cancel any Stock Right in exchange for cash or the grant of replacement Stock Right with an exercise price that is less than the exercise price of the original Stock Right, essentially having the effect of a repricing.

Except as provided in Section 13(b) and this Section 16, in no event may action of the Board or stockholders adversely alter or impair the rights of a grantee, without his or her consent, under any Stock Right previously granted.

- 17. Conversion of ISOs into NSOs; Termination of ISOs. The Board or Committee, with the consent of any optionee, may in its discretion take such actions as may be necessary to convert an optionee's ISOs (or any installments or portions of installments thereof) that have not been exercised on the date of conversion into NSOs at any time prior to the expiration of such ISOs. These actions may include, but not be limited to, accelerating the exercisability, extending the exercise period or reducing the exercise price of the appropriate installments of optionee's Options. At the time of such conversion, the Board or Committee (with the consent of the optionee) may impose these conditions on the exercise of the resulting NSOs as the Board or Committee in its discretion may determine, provided that the conditions shall not be inconsistent with the Plan. Nothing in the Plan shall be deemed to give any optionee the right to have such optionee's ISOs converted into NSOs, and no conversion shall occur until and unless the Board or Committee takes appropriate action. The Board or Committee, with the consent of the optionee, may also terminate any portion of any ISO that has not been exercised at the time of termination.
- 18. <u>Governmental Regulation</u>. The Company's obligation to sell and deliver shares of the Common Stock under the Plan is subject to the approval of any governmental authority required in connection with the authorization, issuance or sale of such shares.

19. Withholding of Income Taxes.

(a) Upon the exercise of an NSO or SAR, the grant of a Stock Bonus or Purchase Right for less than the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock, the making of a Disqualifying Disposition (as defined in Section 20), or the vesting of restricted Common Stock acquired on the exercise of a Stock Right hereunder, the Company, in accordance with Section 3402(a) of the Code and any applicable state statute or regulation, may require the optionee, Stock Bonus or SAR recipient or purchaser to pay to the Company additional withholding taxes in respect of the amount that is considered compensation includable in such person's gross income. With

respect to (a) the exercise of an Option, (b) the grant of a Stock Bonus, (c) the grant of a Purchase Right of Common Stock for less than its Fair Market Value, (d) the vesting of restricted Common Stock acquired by exercising a Stock Right, or (e) the exercise of an SAR, the Committee in its discretion may condition such event on the payment by the optionee, Stock Bonus recipient or purchaser of any such additional withholding taxes.

- (b) At the sole and absolute discretion of the Committee, the holder of Stock Rights may pay all or any part of the total estimated federal and state income tax liability arising out of the exercise or receipt of such Stock Rights, the making of a Disqualifying Disposition, or the vesting of restricted Common Stock acquired on the exercise of a Stock Right hereunder (each of the foregoing, a "Tax Event") by tendering already-owned shares of Common Stock or (except in the case of a Disqualifying Disposition) by directing the Company to withhold shares of Common Stock otherwise to be transferred to the holder of such Stock Rights as a result of the exercise or receipt thereof in an amount equal to the estimated federal, state, and local income and payroll tax liability arising out of such event, provided that no more shares may be withheld than are necessary to satisfy the maximum federal, state, and local income and payroll tax withholding obligation with respect to the exercise of Stock Rights (or such lesser amount as may be necessary to avoid classification of the Stock Right as a liability for financial accounting purposes). In such event, the holder of Stock Rights must, however, notify the Committee of his or her desire to pay all or any part of the total estimated federal, state, and local income and payroll tax liability arising out of a Tax Event by tendering already-owned shares of Common Stock or having shares of Common Stock withheld prior to the date that the amount of federal, state, and local income and payroll tax to be withheld is to be determined. For purposes of this Section 19(b), shares of Common Stock shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date that the amount of the tax withholdings is to be determined.
- 20. Notice to Company of Disqualifying Disposition. Each employee who receives an ISO must agree to notify the Company in writing immediately after the employee makes a Disqualifying Disposition (as defined below) of any Common Stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of an ISO. A "*Disqualifying Disposition*" is any disposition (including any sale) of such Common Stock before either (a) two years after the date the employee was granted the ISO, or (b) one year after the date the employee acquired Common Stock by exercising the ISO. If the employee has died before such stock is sold, these holding period requirements do not apply and no Disqualifying Disposition can occur thereafter.
- 21. Electronic Delivery. The Board may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to any Stock Rights granted under the Plan through an online or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company or to request a recipient's consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. Each recipient of securities hereunder consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company, and such consent shall remain in effect throughout such recipient's Continuous Service with the Company and thereafter until withdrawn in writing by the recipient.
- 22. <u>Data Privacy</u>. The Board may, in its sole discretion, decide to collect, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, personal data as described in this Plan or any Stock Right for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing participation in the Plan. Each recipient of securities hereunder acknowledges that the Company holds certain personal information about the recipient, including, but not limited to, name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social security number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, details of all Stock Rights awarded, cancelled, exercised, vested or unvested, for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan (the "*Data*"). Each recipient of securities hereunder further acknowledges that Data may be transferred to any third parties assisting in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan and that these third parties may be located in jurisdictions that may have different data privacy laws and protections, and recipient authorizes such third parties to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required to a broker or other third party with whom the recipient or the Company may elect to deposit any shares of Common Stock acquired upon any Stock Right.

- 23. Governing Law; Construction. The validity and construction of the Plan and the instruments evidencing Stock Rights shall be governed by the laws of the State of South Carolina. In construing this Plan, the singular shall include the plural and the masculine gender shall include the feminine and neuter, unless the context otherwise requires.
- 24. <u>Lock-up Agreement</u>. Each recipient of securities hereunder agrees, in connection with the first registration with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, of the public sale of the Company's Common Stock, not to sell, make any short sale of, loan, grant any option for the purchase of or otherwise dispose of any securities of the Company (other than those included in the registration) without the prior written consent of the Company or such underwriters, as the case may be, for such period of time (not to exceed 180 days) from the effective date of such registration as the Company or the underwriters, as the case may be, shall specify. Each such recipient agrees that the Company may instruct its transfer agent to place stop-transfer notations in its records to enforce this Section 22. Each such recipient agrees to execute a form of agreement reflecting the foregoing restrictions as requested by the underwriters managing such offering.
- 25. Application of Code Section 409A. To the maximum extent possible, it is intended that the Plan and all awards made hereunder are, and shall be, exempt from or comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, the Treasury Regulations and other guidance issued thereunder by the United States Department of the Treasury (whether issued before or after the Effective Date), and all state laws of similar effect (collectively, "Section 409A"), and that the Plan and all award agreements made hereunder shall be interpreted and applied by the Committee in a manner consistent with this intent in order to avoid the consequences described in Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code. In the event that any (i) provision of the Plan or an award agreement hereunder, (ii) award, payment, or transaction hereunder, or (iii) other action or arrangement contemplated by the provisions of the Plan is determined by the Committee to not be exempt from or comply with the applicable requirements of Section 409A, the Committee shall have the authority to take such actions and to make such changes to the Plan or an award agreement as the Committee deems necessary to comply with such requirements and/or preserve the intended tax treatment of the benefits provided with respect to any affected award, without the consent of any grantee. No payment that constitutes deferred compensation under Section 409A that would otherwise be made under the Plan or an award agreement upon a termination of Continuous Service will be made or provided unless and until such termination is also a "separation from service," as determined in accordance with Section 409A. In no event whatsoever shall the Company be liable for any additional tax, interest or penalties that may be imposed on a grantee by Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Section 409A.

Appendix A

Additional Provisions Applicable to Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Awards

This Appendix A to the BENEFITFOCUS, INC. SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED 2012 STOCK PLAN, AS AMENDED (the "*Plan*") establishes authority and procedures for granting and administering Stock Rights as defined in the Plan that are Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units, as defined below.

- 1. <u>Coordination with Stock Plan</u>. Provisions of the Plan and terms defined in the Plan (without regard to this Appendix) shall be applicable in this Appendix, except to the extent that this Appendix specifically provides otherwise.
- 2. Effective Date. This Appendix A was initially adopted by the Board on April 7, 2014 and by the stockholders of the Company on June 7, 2014. The Board approved the Second Amended and Restated Stock Plan, including Appendix A, on April 15, 2019 (the "Effective Date"), and the stockholders of the Company subsequently approved the same on May 31, 2019. This Appendix A shall continue in effect for a term of ten (10) years from the Effective Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with Section 16 of the Plan.
- 3. <u>Definitions</u>. "Restricted Stock" is a type of Stock Bonus consisting of Common Stock that may be subject to vesting based on Continuous Service or the achievement of performance goals. A "Restricted Stock Unit" or "RSU" is a type of Stock Bonus that is a unit that is converted into one share of Common Stock of the Company at the time of payment and may be subject to vesting based on Continuous Service or the achievement of performance goals. Restricted Stock and RSUs are referred to collectively herein as "Restricted Stock Interests". "Restricted Stock Interest Target" means the maximum number of Restricted Stock Interests that may be earned by an individual under an award. "Restricted Stock Interests Committee" shall initially be the Compensation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors, which Compensation Committee currently consists entirely of outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act). In any event, the Restricted Stock Interests Committee shall consist of at least two outside directors of the Company who are also members of the Compensation Committee.
- 4. Administration of the Restricted Stock Interests. Awards of Restricted Stock Interests for individuals shall be granted and administered by the Committee; except that awards granted pursuant to written binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017 and intended to qualify as "performance-based" compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act) shall be granted and administered by the Restricted Stock Interests Committee. The Restricted Stock Interests Committee shall adopt such rules as it may deem appropriate in order to carry out the purpose of the Plan and shall have authority and discretion to determine the terms and conditions of the awards granted to eligible employees (each a "Participant").
- 5. <u>Terms of Awards</u>. No later than 90 days after the commencement of the applicable Performance Period, the Restricted Stock Interests Committee shall establish for each Participant to whom an award of Restricted Stock Interests is granted (i) Performance Goals ("*Performance Goals*") for such fiscal year or such fiscal year and subsequent years (each, as set by the Restricted Stock Interests Committee, a "*Performance Period*") and (ii) the Restricted Stock Interest Target that corresponds to the Performance Goals.

The Performance Goals upon which the payment or vesting of an award for a Participant may be based shall be limited to the following business measures, which may be applied with respect to the Company, any business unit, or, if applicable, any Participant, and which may be measured on an absolute or relative to a peergroup or other market measure basis:

- corporate operating profit;
- business unit operating profit;

- revenue;
- net revenue;
- new business authorizations;
- · backlog;
- customer cancellation rate;
- total shareholder return;
- stock price increase;
- return on equity;
- · return on capital;
- earnings per share;
- · gross profit;
- adjusted gross profit (profit before depreciation and amortization expense, as well as stock-based compensation expense);
- EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes);
- EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization);
- adjusted EBITDA (earnings before net interest and other expense, taxes, and depreciation and amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation expense and expense related to the impairment of goodwill);
- ongoing earnings;
- cash flow (including operating cash flow, free cash flow, discounted cash flow return on investment, and cash flow in excess of costs of capital);
- EVA (economic value added);
- economic profit (net operating profit after tax, less a cost of capital charge);
- SVA (shareholder value added);
- net income (minimum);
- net loss (maximum);
- operating income;
- pre-tax profit margin;
- · performance against business plan;
- · customer service;
- corporate governance quotient or rating;
- market share;
- employee satisfaction;
- safety;
- · employee engagement;
- supplier diversity;
- workforce diversity;
- · operating margins;
- credit rating;

- · dividend payments;
- expenses;
- retained earnings;
- completion of acquisitions, divestitures and corporate restructurings;
- · construction projects;
- new technology, service or product development;
- · environmental efforts; and
- individual goals based on objective business criteria underlying the goals listed above and which
 pertain to individual effort as to achievement of those goals or to one or more business criteria in the
 areas of litigation, human resources, information services, production, support services, facility
 development, government relations, market share or management.

Alternatively, the Restricted Stock Interests Committee may grant Restricted Stock Interests that are not conditioned upon the performance of a Performance Goal to Participants.

- 6. <u>Limitation on Awards</u>. The aggregate number of Restricted Stock Interests granted in awards to any Participant for any Performance Period shall not exceed 1,000,000. The foregoing limitation shall be adjusted proportionately in connection with any change in the Company's capitalization pursuant to Section 13 of the Plan.
- 7. Determination of Award. The Restricted Stock Interests Committee shall, promptly after the date on which the necessary financial or other information for a particular Performance Period becomes available, certify in writing whether any Performance Goal for a Participant has been achieved, and, if so, the highest Performance Goal that has been achieved, all in the manner required by Section 162(m) of the Code (to the extent applicable). If any Performance Goal has been achieved, the awards, determined for each Participant with reference to the Restricted Stock Interest Target that corresponds to the highest Performance Goal achieved, for such Performance Period shall have been earned except that the Restricted Stock Interests Committee may, in its sole discretion, reduce the amount of any award to reflect the Restricted Stock Interests Committee's assessment of the Participant's individual performance, or for any other reason. Such awards of RSUs shall be payable with shares of Common Stock of the Company by March 15 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Performance Period ends. Such awards of Restricted Stock shall become vested as of the end of the Performance Period. In the event a Participant terminates Continuous Service with the Company for any reason, including without limitation death or disability, prior to the payment of an RSU award or the vesting of Restricted Stock, the Participant shall not be entitled to payment or vesting of the award, unless otherwise determined by the Restricted Stock Interests Committee in its sole discretion.
- 8. Additional Terms with Respect to Restricted Stock Interests. For the avoidance of doubt, the minimum vesting period for any award of Restricted Stock Interests granted under the Plan after the Effective Date will be at least twelve (12) months from the applicable date of grant such that no portion of any such award of Restricted Stock Interests will vest prior to the first anniversary of the date of grant of such award. In addition, the recipient of an award of Restricted Stock Interests under this Appendix shall not have the rights of a stockholder with respect to the shares covered by such award until the award vests and is settled and the shares with respect to such award are delivered (as evidenced by the issuance of a stock certificate for such shares, or in the Company's sole discretion, in lieu of the issuance of a certificate, the making of appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company). No dividend or dividend equivalent will be paid on any unvested award of Restricted Stock Interests, but the Board or Committee may provide in the instrument granting an award of Restricted Stock Interests that dividends with respect to unvested portions of the award may be accrued and paid to the grantee if and when the shares with respect to such award are delivered. Except as permitted in the preceding sentence and as expressly provided in Section 13 of the Plan with respect to changes in capitalization and stock dividends, no adjustment shall be made for dividends or similar rights for which the record date is before the date the shares with respect to such award are delivered.

9. Termination and Amendment. This Appendix shall continue in effect until terminated by the Board or the Restricted Stock Interests Committee. The Restricted Stock Interests Committee may at any time amend or otherwise modify the Appendix in such respects as it deems advisable; provided, however, that as to awards granted pursuant to written binding contracts in effect on November 2, 2017 and intended to qualify as "performance-based" compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act) no such amendment or modification may be effective without Board approval or Company stockholder approval if such approval is necessary to comply with the requirements for qualified performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code (as in effect prior to the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act).



Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Measures

The Company uses certain non-GAAP financial measures in this Proxy Statement, including non-GAAP gross profit, operating loss, net loss/income, net loss/income per common share, and adjusted EBITDA. Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company's performance or financial position that either excludes or includes amounts that are not normally excluded or included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Non-GAAP gross profit, operating loss/income, net loss/income and net loss/income per common share exclude stock-based compensation expenses, amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed, if any, and costs not core to our business, if any. We define adjusted EBITDA as net loss before net interest, taxes, and depreciation and amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation expense, expense related to the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed, and costs not core to our business. Please note that other companies might define their non-GAAP financial measures differently than we do.

The Company presents these non-GAAP financial measures in this Proxy Statement because it considers them to be important supplemental measures of performance. Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures for planning purposes, including analysis of the Company's performance against prior periods, the preparation of operating budgets and to determine appropriate levels of operating and capital investments. Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures provide additional insight for analysts and investors in evaluating the Company's financial and operational performance.

Non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as an analytical tool. Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliation of the non-GAAP measures to their most directly comparable GAAP measures provided in this Proxy Statement, including in the accompanying tables.

Benefitfocus, Inc. Reconciliation of GAAP to Non-GAAP Measures

(unaudited, dollars in thousands except share and per share data)

	Year Ended December 31,			
		2019		2018
Reconciliation from Gross Profit to Non-GAAP Gross Profit: Gross profit Amortization of acquired intangible assets Stock-based compensation expense	\$	151,596 1,029 3,569	\$	129,444 81 5,164
Total net adjustments		4,598		5,245
Non-GAAP gross profit	\$	156,194	\$	134,689
Reconciliation from Operating Loss to Non-GAAP Operating Income (Loss): Operating loss Amortization of acquired intangible assets Stock-based compensation expense Transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed Costs not core to our business	\$	(24,506) 1,933 19,572 1,035 649	\$	(39,699) 150 28,868 507 4,843
Total net adjustments		23,189		34,368
Non-GAAP operating income (loss)	\$	(1,317)	\$	(5,331)
Reconciliation from Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA: Net loss Depreciation Amortization of software development costs Amortization of acquired intangible assets Interest income Interest expense Interest expense on building lease financing obligations (prior to adoption of	\$	(45,515) 15,288 5,130 1,933 (2,613) 23,524	\$	(52,627) 11,721 3,944 150 (250) 5,685
ASC 842) Income tax expense Stock-based compensation expense Transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed Costs not core to our business		27 19,572 1,035 649		7,471 28 28,868 507 4,843
Total net adjustments		64,545		62,967
Adjusted EBITDA	\$	19,030	\$	10,340
Reconciliation from Net Loss to Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss): Net loss Amortization of acquired intangible assets Stock-based compensation expense Transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed Costs not core to our business	\$	(45,515) 1,933 19,572 1,035 649	\$	(52,627) 150 28,868 507 4,843
Total net adjustments		23,189		34,368
Non-GAAP net income (loss)	\$	(22,326)	\$	(18,259)
Calculation of Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share: Non-GAAP net income (loss)	\$ 32	(22,326) 2,539,748 2,539,748	\$ 3	(18,259) 1,756,415 1,756,415
Shares used in computing non-GAAP net income (loss) per share—diluted		2,539,748		1,756,415
Non-GAAP net income (loss) per common share—basic	\$	(0.69)	\$	(0.57)
Non-GAAP net income (loss) per common share—diluted	\$	(0.69)	\$	(0.57)